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OUR EIVIPLOYEES

Walter R Bailey « William E Bailey « Richard H Bails « Jakob H Baird « Kathryn D Baird « Kevin L Baird « Shana H Baird * Ashley K Baker + Dale Baker « David B Baker « Heather R Baker * Joel D Baker * Joseph A Baker * Kara S
Baker « Martin L Baker « Michelle L Baker *Milton Baker « Mitch M Baker * Randal L Baker « Robert W Baker * Roy L Baker « Steven R Baker « Deyanira Balboa « John C Baldwin + Michael R Baldwin * Tony H Bale + Jeff B Balfour
« Bryan L Ball - Ralph S Ballard * Glen W Ballinger » James Banana * Dayrl J Bancroft « Kenneth S Bandilla » J Scott Banister *Michael K Banister « Darryl L Banks * Eric S Banks « David T Banky « Kelly R Bannister « Hafiz A Baqi
« Shrikanth Baratan « Jason E Barbee * Bradley E Barber « Chris D Barber « David R Barber « Mazie Barber * Michael J Barber « Mitchell Barber « Wesley K Barber + Juan F Barcenas * Juan Barcenas * Nailya Barenbaum  Todd
A Barfuss « Cary L Barger « Mike J Barker « Bradley S Barnes « Brian D Barnes « Charles N Barnes « Jennifer A Barnes « Kevin L Barnes * Rodney P Barnes * Jennifer R Barnett « Leslie W Barnett + Mark W Barnhart « Harold L Barnhill
« Matthew C Baroni « Charles J Barouski « Alberto M Barragan « Michelle J Barreda « Christopher Barrentine « Wayne R Barrentine « Marcos Barrera « Mariel Barrera » Miguel A Barrera * Rosario Barrera * Jose Jesus Barrera
Rangel « Brent E Barrett « David L Barrett « Gilbert Barrientos « Nancy A Barrionuevo « Jairon D Barrios * Natividad Barron « Rondrick K Barry « Holly L Barth « Jody A Bartkus « Bryan A Barton « Charles R Barton *« Eugene Barton
« Jarod M Barton + R E Barton « Roger B Barton « Thomas W Barton « Bryan M Basart « Jabbar P Bass « Ruben V Batangan « Aaron K Batchellor « Lee O Batchelor « Kevin L Bate « Charles R Bates * Ronald S Bates *+ Wade G Bates
« Charlie H Battle « Craig A Battle « Lonnie L Battle « Albert R Batts « Michelle L Baxley * Joseph Bay * Anthony H Bazan « Thomas W Beaird * Jearl D Beal « Nancy Beal * Alan S Beall « Daniel G Beard * Deena C Beard « Melissa
K Beasley « Brian M Beatty « Robert D Beatty + Mary A Beauchamp + Melvin C Beck * Bobby J Bedair * Amarjit Bedi « Kelly G Bednar * Ronnie Beeler « Rene C Behan * Steven R Behrends * Steven C Beik « Roy E Belanger « Cindy
J Belcher « Clinton W Bell « Clyde R Bell = DaV|d L Bell « Dustin L Bell » Eugene L Bell « Jeannie C Bell - Matthew Bell » Carol P Bellinger « Melissa M Beltrami « Ignacio R Benavides ¢ Ignacio R Benavides - Lillian C Bender « Roger
E Benedict « Ted Benic « Edilberto Benitez « Juan Benitez « Santana Benitez « Santiago Benitez « Donald A Benkert + Amanda R Bennett « Anthony L Bennett « Brandy N Bennett « Lanny S Bennett « Leha Dea A Bennett « Michael
K Bennett « Blake D Benson * John P Benton « Lora M Benz « Dave R Beoman « Edward L Beranek « Phillip A Berdion « Arturo C Bergantinos « Maria Rosa S Bergantinos « Mylene R Bergantinos * Roberto C Bergantinos « John R
Bergeron « David P Berkner » Gustavo Bernal « Odis J Berrios « Brandy J Berrow « Gary P Berry « Michael R Berry « Steven A Berry « Wesley H Berry « Leroy Berry Jr « Kelly R Berryhill « Jeffrey P Berryman « Kenneth P Besson «
Richard M Betz » Michael J Bevacqua « Saleem Bhujwala « Frank E Bickford « Joey D Bickford « Phillip J Bickford « Daniel G Bidwell « Ted C Biggart « David D Biggs « Dennis E Biggs Jr « Ronnie B Bigham « Cassius C Bilbro « Kelli
L Bilderback « Cynthia L Billberg « Michael Billingsley Jr « Tommy B Billups « Anthony G Bilow * Christopher B Bingham « Danny Bingham * Kyle D Birchfield + Edward A Bird « William D Birdsell « Philip A Birkes « Charles R Bise *
Joe M Bishop * Tom L Bishop « Aaron R Bixler « Allan E Black * Lonzell Black + Romell Black « Timmy L Black « Donald A Blackston « Roben L Blackston »« Tammy L Bladen « Bryan A Blagg « David W Blair * Thomas M Blair « Charles
E Blakely * Kelvin B Blanchard « Francisco Blanco « Charlie Bland « Traves J Blankenship « Donald W Blanks + Debbie L Bledsoe « Brandon S Blevins + Calvin J Bloebaum « Jimmy M Blouin « Lisa A Blue * Kevin_Blume « Kwabena
A Boadu * Thomas A Boal + Richard D Bobbitt *+ Tony R Bobbitt + David A Bocook * Thomas D Bocook * David A Bocook Il « Harry L Bodle « Bryan L Bogan * Paul J Bogensberger « Bradley J Bohlken « Rocky D Bolden « Howard
Boldt Jr « Doreen Bolinger + Charles F Bolton « Frankie E Bolton * Jacqueline Bolton « Kenneth W Bolton « Curtis J Bonanno « Jose A Bonilla « Jose S Bonilla « Paz E Bonilla » David M Bonner « Jimmy Bonner « David Boone *
Haywood Boone « William K Boone * David M Borghard « Ralph G Borunda « Timothy R Bosak « Arthur Boshears « Joshua B Boshears « Sammy Boshears « Gerald Bosler « Larry R Bostic * Kevin E Bottoms « Joseph A Bouchard
= John R Bouldin * Murphy J Bouquet Jr « Billy R Bowen « Jerry W Bowen « Donahue L Bowens Jr « Dana C Bowers * Dustin L Bowers « Patrick L Bowers * Randy E Bowers « Jason C Bowling « Ronald O Bowling * Sammy P Bowling
« Deward E Bowman « Jeffery R Bowman « Terrelle Bowman « Randy Bownds * Royce T Bownds Jr + Mindy D Box « Samuel A Boyce Morales « Ada J Boyd James O Boyd « Steven V Boyd « Steward R Boyd * Vick L Boyd « Michael
T Boykin » Michael J Boyles * Gary L Boysen * Thomas M Bozelle » David J Brabec « Brian C Bradford « James M Bradley « Jeffrey Bradley * Michael S Bradley * Claire F Brady  Kevin E Bramer + Vincent D Branch « Lons L Brandon
« Dena G Brantley « Sherry W Brantley « Linnie E Brasfield « Sandra M Bray * A Chris Brehm + Mart D Breland « Richard D Brendmoen « Timothy L Breuer « Kenneth C Brewer * L R Brewer « Robert D Brewer « Sam Brewer « Jamie
L Brewster « David C Brickey « Sharon L Brickey « Timothy C Bridgeforth « Randal R Bridges « William Briedel « Donald R Bright « Billy Brimer « Joann Brimer « Danny E Brinson « Karen A Brisco * Douglas D Briscoe * Anthony P
Britt « Gregory J Britt « Paula M Britt » Rickey Brittain « Robert L Brittenum Jr « Dale L Britton « Edward G Britton « Anne R Broaddus « Kenneth M Broadway « Johnny C Brock * Keith Brock « Sandra R Brockway « Lorenz Brodersen
« Donald D Brokaw * Guillermo Brol « Hugo Broll + Ryan N Bronemann « Damon K Brooks * Fred A Brooks * Jess R Brooks * John A Brooks * Johnny C Brooks « Larita B Brooks * Michael H Brooks * Lewis C Browder « Andra L
Brown « Bernard L Brown * Bobby G Brown + Carrie J Brown « Charles E Brown + Claude L Brown * Curtis Brown * Damien T Brown * Derek E Brown « D’Vonyotto T Brown « Earl A Brown « Earnest Brown « Eric J Brown « Gail E
Brown « Gregory J Brown * Gregory L Brown « Jermaine R Brown « Jerry D Brown « Joe L Brown « Karen L Brown + Kelli M Brown * Kevin A Brown * Marcus J Brown « Mark Brown « Matthew R Brown * Michael R Brown « Michael T
Brown « Michelle Brown « Richard D Brown « Rickey D Brown * Rod A Brown « Roy E Brown « Susan E Brown * Tedi Michele Brown * Thomas B Brown « Timothy L Brown « William J Brown * Johnny M Brown Jr « Larry C Brown Jr
« Clem Browning * Bradley J Brownlee * Gregory C Broyles * Matthew G Brueshaber « William T Bruggemeyer « Larry N Bryan « Richard C Bryan Jr « Dorothy A Bryant « Mark B Brynell « Euty F Bubrowski *+ Gary R Buchanan « Keith
E Buchanan « Patton Buchanan « Ken W Buchinger * Pedro Bucio * Johnathan H Buck « Ronnie J Buck « Dennis D Buckhalter « Randy G Buckmaster « Arthur L Budd * Douglas Budnek « April L Buentello « Marvin W Buesing * Tim
K Bugg * Charles E Bullock « James C Bullock * Patrick A Bumsted « David L Bunch « Bradford C Bunten * Brian D Burden « Michael L Burgess * Steven D Burgess * Martin H Burgos « Stephen W Burke « Jeffrey L Burkett « Laurence
E Burkhalter Jr » Todd D Burleson « Roger A Burlingame « T D Burnett + Edward J Burnette « Ronnie P Burnette « Spencer S Burnette « Bryan Burningham « Glenda A Burns « Jacqueline M Burns « Kenneth L Burns * Paul E Burns «
Chad E Burris « Scott Burrous * Jason M Burt « Rodney D Burt « Scott M Burthold « Patrick E Burton « Tyrie W Burton Il « Victor Burunov « Christopher S Bustamantes « Roland M Bustos * Kimberly L Bute « Annette Butler « Philip
W Butler « Terry L Butler « Timothy C Butler « Willie F Butler « Rex B Buttrey * Arthur D Byrd « Dustin L Byrd « Finley Byrd + Kenneth D Byrd * Ronald J Byrd « Enoch Byrge « Freeman E Byrge » Samuel E Byrge « Arthur L Cabrera »
Erick D Cabrera « Jeffrey A Caddel « William F Caddell Jr » Ted D Caesar * Solange D Cailet » Catherine A Cain « Eric L Cain * Kevin L Cain » Mary E Cain « Martha Cajica « Jean H Calcote * Gabriel Calderon « Chadwick R Caldwell
« Aroldo A Calito « Connie J Calkin « Mike Calvin » Augustin Camacho * Martin Camacho « Ricardo Camacho « Alfonso M Camarena * Patricia Cameron « Amy T Campbell « Anthony H Campbell « Earnest F Campbell « Jerry B
Campbell < John Campbell « Kevin E Campbell + Mark A Campbell «+ Marshall D Campbell « Micheal R Campbell « Robert F Campbell » Tracy D Campbell + Waylon C Campbell « Arlene D Campos * Artemio Campos * Ezequiel R
Campos * Ivan Campos * Lorraine T Campos « Luis E Campos * Santos E Campos * Senovio F Campos * Sarah A Cangelosi * Jose Cano * Neil D Cantor « Byron L Cantu * Francisco J Cantu « Henry Cantu Jr » Huong T Cao * Ji
Cao * Christopher S Capley * Stephen T Capps * Pedro S Carbajal + Victor E Carbajal « Myriam S Carcamo * Howard A Carden * Hector Cardenas + Jaime Cardenas * Pedro Cardenas * Thomas A Cardenas * Deborah L Carder «
Oluwaseyi O Cardoso * Jose Cardoza « Debora A Cardwell « Carl M Carey « Shelby M Carey * Sergio A Carhuaz « Cody H Carlson * David L Carlson ¢ Brian A Carmichael » William R Carnahan « Gustavo H Carnaval * William F
Carneal Il « Victor W Carnes « Howard W Carnicle Il « Marc A Carolan « Matthew S Carpenter « Shye R Carpenter « Teresa L Carpenter » Samuel S Carpitcher « Robert D Carr « James T Carr Jr « Joel Carranza * Agustin Carreto
« Ernest Carrier « Holegario Carrillo « Fidel Carrillo Jr « Antonio E Carrion * Gene E Carroll » Mickey P Carroll « Darcy R Carter * David D Carter « Douglas J Carter » Harold Carter « Larry D Carter « Randy D Carter « Joshua H
Cartwright « Byron C Caruthers Jr » Gregorio Casanova Ocasio * Robert N Casebeer « George M Casey + Julia F Casey * Jennifer B Cash + Antonio Casimiro « Oscar Casimiro « John D Castano « Miguel Castelano + Sandra
Castellano « Fernando Y Castellanos « Manuel D Castellanos « Olvin L Castellanos * Reynaldo Castellanos « Antonio A Castillo » Esteban R Castillo « Francisco Castillo « Fidencio E Castillo-Duran « Larry W Castleberry « Maria J
Castro « Antonio Castro Jr « James S Cathey * Johnny L Cattenhead Jr « Bryan Caudle « Julius Caudle * John M Causley * Ryan J Causley * Nicky Cavazos * Patricia L Cavin « Jack W Cawood Il « Adrian Cazares * David Z
Cearfoss « Dustin D Ceder « Gary M Celis Umul « Justin Centeio * Carlos M Centeno * Adam R Cepeda « Jeff J Cerar * Jesus S Cervantes « Oscar A Chacon * Sirene M Chacon « Albert B Chadwell « Chris H Chadwell « Perfecto
Chagua « Betty A Chambers « Damion R Chambers « Norman C Chambers « Christopher J Chambliss « Nathan B Chancellor » David W Chandler « Joe B Chandler « Robert D Chandler « Paul J Chandrapal « Cynthia M Chaney «
Robert T Chaney * Kee Y Chang * Sheng-Fang Chang * Suan Chanhkhiao * Eric Chapa ¢ Victor Chapa * Kenneth D Chapman « Michael C Chapman * Pamela L Chapman * Robert W Chapman * Thales O Charchalac « John M
Charles « Jerry A Chastain « Patsy Chastain « Michael L Chasteen « William K Chatterton « Ernesto A Chavez * Mark Chavez « Nelson J Chavez * Isaac M Chavez Jr » Dane C Cherry « Jeremy T Cherry * William E Cherry « Lynn C
Chesnut « Jerry K Childers « Edward L Childress « Terry L Childress « Tim Childress « Akhila Chintakuntla + Rodney B Choate « Mustapha | Chreeide + Jeremy O Chrislip « Jamie G Christensen « Shelley R Christensen « Todd J
Christensen « Gerald E Chumley « Janet L Chumley « Si Chung « Francisco J Cifuentes « Juan Ciriaco * Elvis A Cisneros * Gilbert Cisneros « Johnathon F Cisneros « Lezine C Citizen |ll - Angela M Clark * Bruce M Clark » Chad E
Clark « Cortney C Clark » Darren M Clark « Donald L Clark « Douglas W Clark « Gregory Clark * Jennifer R Clark « Jerry W Clark « Marlin B Clark « Michael J Clark « Michael J Clark « Michael R Clark « Ryan A Clark « Stanley W Clark
« Thomas L Clark * Timothy M Clark * Martin B Clarke « Adolfo Claudio * Bertha M Clay * Garry D Clayton « Lister Clayton « Monte S Clayton » James T Cleer « Robert C Clement * Michael D Clements « Marvin D Cleveland + Michael
B Clifton « Edwin A Clignett « John D Cline « Michelle R Clowers « Gary M Clubb + Deborah M Clymer « Desera D Coate * Johnny R Coats * Jody R Coberley « Garry D Coble * Luis E Cobos « Robert C Coburn * Russell B Cochran «
Johnny F Cockrell « James F Codd « Terry L Coder « Marie S Coggins * Barney T Cogswell * Russia L Coin « David W Coker « Joshua Coker * Adrienne A Cole « Cecil F Cole * Dustin L Cole * Judy C Cole « Kathleen M Cole * Randy
L Cole « Shawn L Cole + William L Cole « Benny J Coleman + Jeffrey W Coleman * Mikell Coleman « William N Coleman « Jennifer Coley « Geronimo J Collazo « George R Collester * Jonathan R Collett « Jeffrey P Collier « Larry K
Collier » Bennie M Collins « Craig R Collins * Cristen L Collins « Curtis F Collins * Daniel W Collins * James R Collins « Merlin H Collins « Dennis W Collum * Regina A Colon * Jon E Colston « Kevin W Combs « Verna P Combs ¢ Joan
E Comer « Timothy D Compson « Derek D Conard « Ramon D Concepcion « Mark W Condren « Paul W Cone « William C Cone « Gabriela Conley « Kevin F Conlin « Christopher Conn « Gerald G Conn * Ronald Conner * Stephen E
Conner « Jeffrey M Conrad * Richard C Constable + Sebastian Conti Ill <« Anthony B Contreras « Basilio Contreras « Eduardo Contreras « Evaristo Contreras « Frank Contreras « Isabel Contreras * Jesse Contreras ¢« Jesus
Contreras * Jose F Contreras * Silvino R Contreras « Virgilio Contreras « Stephen S Conway + Ashley F Cook « Brandon L Cook * David C Cook « David W Cook « James T Cook * Lynn W Cook * Victor E Cook « James S Coone *
Calvin Cooper * Kenith R Cooper * Kenneth C Cooper * Kevin Cooper * Michael D Cooper « Thomas P Cooper * Timothy L Cope « Robert J Copenhaver « Julie A Coppage * Lottie H Coppage « Michelle Coppola-Kelly « Rene M
Corado * Jerry R Corbell « James M Corbett « Richard J Corbitt « Jack Cordes * Juan A Cordova * Juan C Cordova « Reyna B Cordova « Christopher L Corley « Emilio Cornejo * Jorge | Cornejo * Jose Cornejo * Marcos | Cornejo *
William G Cornejo * Richard L Cornell « Enrique Coronado * Melanie L Corral « Francisco Cortez « Jesus Cortez * Jose C Cortinas * John P Cosper « Steven J Cost « Andrew E Costa « Jeremiah M Costanza * Joshua M Costanza
« Joe E Costilla « Betty M Couch « Christy M Couch « Odilon Covarrubias * Louis Covington * Leland D Cox * Lori J Cox « Marilyn K Cox « Lance D Crabtree « William T Craft « Larry D Craig « Michael J Crandall + Anthony W Cravalho
« Brian D Crawford + James M Crawford * Terrace A Crawford « Randall W Crawley « Alan T Creekmore * Jeramie D Creekmore * William L Crenshaw ¢« Johnathan D Crews « Christopher T Criss * Jacob N Crosby « Jason T Cross *
Ricky W Cross « Phillip M Cross Jr « Jeffrey A Crossett « Thomas J Crossett « Gary M Crotwell - Chad Crowe « Curtis R Crowe + Patricia W Crowson * Michael J Crumpler « Ismael Cruz « Jerry M Cruz « Jose R Cruz « Jose Cruz «
Juan C Cruz « Javier Cuello « Victor Cuevas * Lewis M Culpepper * Diane Cumberland « Russell D Cunningham * Tim L Cunningham « Ronnie E Cupp * Timothy S Cupples * Scott D Curry * John E Curtin « Tina M Curtis « Tony
Curtis » Michael W Custer » Darren T Czeszynski « Jim D Dahlen « Richard Dahlgren « Robbie B Dail « Esteban G Dait « Jeffery M Dale « Sylvester Daley * Robert L Dalton * Kenneth H Daly « Arman C Danao * William L Dancy *
Samuel M Dandy « Dao T Dang * Kieu Song Dang + Calvin E Daniel « David B Danielson * Kelly J Danker * Thomas E Danley * Barimah A Danquah * Steven D Darrow * Steven L Dascher * Harold R Daugherty » William A Daughtridge
« Renee Daughtry « Tammy R David « Jim E Davidson * Ray F Davidson * Samuel H Davidson « Aubrey P Davis « Brian C Davis * Brian P Davis « Charlie Davis « Christopher C Davis « Cindy B Davis « Dajuana D Davis * Deborah
L Davis « Dennis F Davis » Donald R Davis « Dwayne L Davis » Edward L Davis * Eric S Davis « Erica M Davis « Frank T Davis * Larry G Davis * Loywanna E Davis *« Margaret A Davis « Martin B Davis * Michelle A Davis * Quinton L
Davis « Richard B Davis * Robert E Davis *« Ronald D Davis « Undara D Davis » Wilbert Davis * Willie R Davis « Wilma Davis « Zachary A Davis * James W Davis Jr. * Michael D Davison * Virginia M Davison * Robert L Dawkins «
Bradley W Dawson « Kenry J Day « Calvin N Days * Jean M De Armon ¢ Juan De Dios * Isabel Aispuro De Hernandez * Cesar De La Cruz * Ines De La Cruz « Jeanette A De La Cruz « Daniel De Leon  Roberto Sanchez De Leon
« Emilio F De Paz + Larry C Dean * Mac R Dean * Steven C Dean « Drew Dearman * Clinton R Deason * Roy T Deberry ¢ Leslie | Decker « R W Decker « Wilton C Decuir « Barry J Deese * Tomas Degante * Kenneth R Degenstein
« Trinidad Degollado * Scott B Dehaan « Alan R Deherder « Danny L Dekalb « Felix Del Angel « Jose G Del Cid » Katheryn L Delaney « Jaime Delao Bautista * Ronnie Delapaz « Carlos M Deleon * Abel N Delgado « Gerardo Delgado
« Isidoro Delgado « Juan M Delgado « Dane M Della Penta « Jose M Deluna Jr « Carita D Demery * Steven F Demuth « John T Dengler « Jeffrey M Dennen * Frank A Dennis « Isaac G Dennis * Terance A Dennis * Amy M Denniston
« Kelly J Denniston « Shanna L Denton » Dewey D Denver « Rickey L Derr « Timothy P Deshaw * Gregory G Desmond * Mark E Detwiler « Carol A Devine * Robert W Devore « William E Devore « James D Dew * David E Diaz « Dora
S Diaz « Jose A Diaz « Jose R Diaz « Juvenal Diaz « Luis R Diaz » Miguel Diaz * Jennifer L Dibiasi « Elbert Dickens « Eric Dickerson * Janet R Dickerson « Charles W Dickinson * Edward Dickinson « Wesley L Dickinson » Michael
E Dickson « Caren E Didericksen « Steven F Diederich « Minh Diep * Douglas J Dietz « Deserree A Digby * Kriss E Dill + Charles D Dillon « Scott D Dillon « Mario Dimas * Hung P Dinh « Eric D Dirks * Melvin R Dirks « Scott D Dirks
= Shane B Dirks * Vincent T Dismuke * Robert B Disney « Kyle D Dittl « Lisa M Dixon « Philip W Dixon * James Dixon Jr « Rolando Z Dizon « Hieu Ba Do « Steve P Do * Thanh V Do - Billy J Dobbins « Mark W Dobbins « Nicholas E
Dockery « Kenneth P Dodd « Tommy L Doddridge *Richard H Dodso « Daniel P Doherty « Charles Domebo Jr « Manuel Domingues * Alfonso Dominguez * Jose J Dominguez * Terrance J Donahue * Teddy W Donald « Michelle L
Donath « EImer D Donley « James M Donovan « Wendell P Dorothy *Greg T Dorrity * Bryan R Dorsey * Robert J Dorsey * Gary D Dortch « Wallace D Doss * Ramona Dosser * Rebecca S Dotson « Stephen C Dotson « Matthew J
Dotta « Anna Douangmala « Rick Doucet « Deek Doughty « Gibralter Douglas * Michael K Douglas « Terry D Douglas « Perry A Douglass * Gerald P Dowd « Bobby W Downey * Kyle M Downing Jr « Martin Doyle « Susan L Doyle «
Michael P Drager « John C Draine Jr « Derrick J Drake « Kimberly A Draper * Paul E Drexler « Darrell K Driver « Don Driver « Harold L Driver « Kurt M Drobisch « Sheila G Drown * Harold W Drum « Ray C Drummond « Gene D Dryden
« Sergio Duarte « Jerry E Dubose * Fred R Duck * Shawanda L Dudley * Michael Duffy « William H Dugger * Garry R Duke * Gerardo S Dulay » Henry Adam Dumesnil « Jackie D Duncan * Joe C Duncan * Shawn L Duncan  Jeffrey
A Dunlap * Christopher R Dunn » Gregg Dunn « Michael J Dunn + Clay Dunsworth « David R Duperior * Amparo Dur « David J Durns « Moiz Durrani « Elaine B Dusenberry « Albert J Duval « Michael J Dwenger « David L Dye « Larry
W Dye « Lorraine B Dye « Jakob L Dyer « Michael L Dyer » Marvin L Dyk « Philip E Dykes * Wade A Eanes * Thomas H Easley Ill « Lashandra D Eason * Jonathon W Eastup + David N Eaton « Roberto Echeverria * Jerry L Echols «
Chadrick W Eddleman « George Eddy « Boyd M Eder « Diana E Eder « Joel | Edge * Julia M Edmondson « Carl H Edney « Kay M Edson * Brian C Edwards » Dawn E Edwards « Dennis L Edwards * Derrick Edwards « Donna M
Edwards « Owen E Edwards * Rickey A Edwards * Ronnie F Edwards + William D Edwards « Scott A Egley « James A Ehlers « Heather L Ehrhardt « Dean R Ehrisman « Terry L Elam « David J Elias * Jo A Elijah * Jesus M Elizalde «
Steven A Elkins « Heath D Elliott »+ Tamera L Elliott « Wayne F Elliott « Brent M Ellis « David L Ellis « Gary E Ellis » Hugh A Ellis « Jeanette Y Ellis « Ronald D Ellis » Ronald E Ellis « William A Ellis Jr » Timothy Ellis Sr « Walter L Ellison
« Amber M Ellstrom « Scotty D Elmore * Michael P EImquist + Roberto Elorza « James E Elswick * Jamie A Emery * Alesha C Emge * Nicole H Emrich « Frank P_Engblom « Richard J Engeldinger « Lonnie M England * Ronnie C
England « Steve England « Robert C Engler « Christopher J Englett « Salvador G Enriquez « Charles K Ensor « Gerald L Entrekin « William B Eoff « Steven L Epp « Tamara K Epperson « Daniel Epps * David D Erickson « Kenneth E
Ernest « Richard Ervin « Pedro Escalante * Ernesto Escalona * Jack L Eskew « Esteban C Esquivel *« Joe A Esquivel « Landon E Estes « Robert L Estis « Rodolfo Estrada * Rogelio Estrada « Rickey A Estvanko « Vickie D Etheridge
« Marlene A Evanciew « Anthony J Evans « Beverly G Evans ¢« Carl E Evans * Dennis G Evans * Dwight F Evans « James H Evans + James J Evans * Jeffrey M Evans « Marianne Evans * Ollie T Evans « Gresham J Everett « Ernest
Everette * Joseph A Everette « Lisa R Everroad + Robert E Ewald « Jason L Ewart « Henry M Ewing + Cresenciano Facundo « Darrell L Fagan * Alex J Fago « James J Fahrer  Billy J Fairchild « Josh W Fairchild « Karon F Fairchild
« Donald L Faircloth « Mozell Fairley » Andre F Falls » Catherine S Famularo » Thomas Famularo * Joseph S Fannin « George O Farley « Eric M Farmer * Ervin M Farmer « Kristina D Farmer « Ryan W Farmer « Thomas E Farmer «
James A Farrar « Kathryn E Farrar « Christopher S Farrell « Johanan A Farrington * Harvey D Farris « Debbie Farrister « Gerald M Farrister « Ronnell Faulkner « Jeffrey L Feaster « Elijah B Featherston « Alfredo H Fedelin « Helen M
Feeney « Jose Feliciano « Jeffery E Fell « John E Felts * Randall E Ferguson « Hewitt B Ferguson Il « John P Fernandez « Jeffrey R Fero * Cody L Ferrell « Patrick W Ferrell » Patrick_Ferrell « Lisa-Marie E Feyerabend « Nicholas S
Ficca « Michael A Ficker « Richard L Fideldy « David J Fielding « Danny L Fields » Thomas Fields « Vernon A Fields « Gildardo Figueroa * Nicky H Figueroa « Zamor Fils « James E Finch * Kevin R Fink * Brian L Finley « Randal C
Firmin « Thomas H First Raised * Thomas H Firstraised « Teodoro Fiscal « Christopher M Fischer * Joseph W Fischer « Keith E Fischer « Chad B Fishbeck « Alan Fisher « Nancy A Fitch « Charles E Fitgerald Jr « Anthony Fitzgerald
« Bobby Flagg * Scot B Flam » Moises D Flamenco * Michael A Flannagan « Shawn M Fleener « David L Fletcher « Adan Flores « Angel J Flores « Annette A Flores « Bertin S Flores « Elias M Flores « Jorge J Flores « Jose F Flores
« Jose T Flores * Juan C Flores « Marco A Flores * Ricardo A Flores « Robert G Flores « Rolando D Flores « Sigfredo Flores « Raul Flores Jr » Jesse R Flowers « Sharon K Flowers « Gary C Floyd * Kenneth Floyd « Troy C Floyd «
Bob Flugrad « Colt G Foley » Andrew L Follett « Thomas H Fondren « Norman Fontenot « Kimberly L Forbes « George G Ford « Thomas G Ford * Robert G Fordham « Stephen T Foreman « William R Forest « Joseph M Fornes «
Dwayne E Forrest « Nancy Forrest « Tracy J Forrest « Robert L Forshee Jr « Randall J Forstall Ill « Jennifer M Fort « Richard W Fortenberry « Tammie S Fortney « Gary B Foster « Herman L Foster « Howard G Foster « Michael Foster
« Ryan D Foster « Sharon E Foster « Tiffany D Foster « Kenneth A Foust « Kevin W Fowler « Paul W Fowler « Phillip D Fowler » Dean F Fox « Grady M Fox » Mark S Fox * Russell D Fox « Charles L Foxx * Marie C Fraga * Douglas J
Fraise « Sheryl M Fraise « Jeffrey A Frame * David T Francis Jr » Daniel Francisco « John R Frank « Lee E Frankenberger « Paul B Franklin « Ted G Franklin « Arthur Fransaw « James D Franz « Peggy A Franzen « Charles M Frazier
« Myron A Frear « Glenn A Freeman + Richelle D Freeman * Rogers Freeman « Sampson Freeman ¢ Randall E Freitas « Eric L French * John R French « Marco A Frias » Mark A Fritz « Mary A Fritz «+ Reed L Froebel « Juan Fu «
Richard M Fucik « Douglas A Fuentes « Henry A Fuentes * Jose Fuentes * Jose Fuentes « S M Fulgham « Tracey D Fulgham * Johnny A Fulks « Dennis A Fuller « Sherrie D Fuller « Ann L Fults « Nicholas P Fults  Drayton M Fults Jr
« David B Fuqua * Patrick G Furlong *« Michael J Fuselier « Scott P Fuselier « Jimmy Gabriel * Luis A Gaeta * Kain M Gaffney « Scott M Gaffney ¢« Cristobal Galeana Padilla + Edwin G Galeas « Freddy Galindo « Manuel Galindo
Campos + Jorge A Gallardo « Marcial Gallardo « Robert W Gallaway « Margarito H Gallegos * Charles D Galloway * Laurence B Galvan « Lucia F Galvan « Richard Gamble « Larry A Gamel * Ezequiel Gamez Palomo « April E Ganado
« Steven T Ganoza « Arturo Gaona + Vicente Garay * Abraham Garcia * Adam S Garcia * Albertino G Garcia « Albino Garcia « David Garcia « Edward W Garcia ¢ Filiberto G Garcia * Francisco Garcia * Hilda G Garcia * James A
Garcia * Jesus Garcia * Joe M Garcia « Jorge M Garcia * Jorge Garcia * Jose A Garcia * Jose V Garcia * Jose Garcia * Julio C Garcia * Kevin Garcia * Manuel Garcia * Mariano Garcia « Mario A Garcia * Melesio G Garcia * Miguel
A Garcia * Miguel A Garcia « Paul Garcia « Ricardo Garcia * Robert Garcia * Robin L Garcia * Rolando P Garcia * Eric J Gardia * Ashley E Gardner * Gary L Gardner « W R Gardner * Lori S Garlitch « Cynthia N Garmon « Christopher
Garner « Michael D Garner « James A Garnsey « Jeffery M Garrett « Karen S Garrett « Katrina A Garrett » Shirley C Garrett « William L Garris « John T Garrison « Brian D Garry « Michael W Gartman « Joanie M Garvin * Alejandro G
Garza * Betty A Garza « David Garza * Guillermo Garza « Gustavo Garza « Hector R Garza * Heraldo Garza * Ramiro Garza * Victor Garza * Martin Garza Jr » Robert J Gaska « Ismael Gaspar » Sebastian F Gaspar * David
Gast » Laura L Gates * Kevin G Gatewood * Bruce A Gatlin * Thomas B Gaughan « Kenneth Gaul * Floyd A Gauntt + Martha M Gavin + Jack M Gay « Joann G Gay * Ronnie B Gaylor « Manuel Gaytan * Janina Gebel * Dennis J
Geisler « John D Gentry « Robert W Gese + Steven R Gholson * Christa L Gibbs « Clint Gibson « Jason B Gibson « Michael L Gibson + Randall L Gibson * Randy L Gibson « Ronald D Gibson * Susan L Gibson « Carmon | Gienapp *
Ricardo Gil « Bruce E Gilbreath + Stephon Gillerson « Jay L Gillett « Ava L Gilliam « Benjamin C Gilliam * Colby J Gilliam « Kim T Gilliam « Martha L Gilliam « Amanda M Gillilan « Anthony S Gillis « Albert R Ginn « Kelly R Ginn * Scot
E Ginther « Herman K Gipe + Jeffery R Girdler « James E Gladden * Charles Glady * Anthony A Glass « Darryl J Glenn « Richard A Glenn « Norman Globe « Jeffrey Glosser » Grayling Glover « Paul Goad « Phillip A Goad « Randal
R Gober « Gregory G Godfrey * Robert E Godwin » Gregory S Goebel * Sonny L Goehring * Gary D Goelzer « Deanna L Goepel « Teresa S Gohn « Darryl W Goins * Mark L Goins * George E Goins Il « Daniel C Gold « Mark T Golladay
« Alfonso M Gomez + Baltazar Gomez * Daniel Gomez + David D Gomez * Eduardo S Gomez « Gregoria Gomez « Lilian Gomez * Miguel R Gomez * Javier C Gomez-Grimaldi + Gerber W Gongora « Martin L Gonterman « Diane L
Gonzales * Natalio E Gonzales * Vanessa A Gonzales * Arnold Gonzalez » Danubio Gonzalez * Francisco Gonzalez * Guillermo A Gonzalez - Hector A Gonzalez - Humberto R Gonzalez * Jose C Gonzalez * Jose L Gonzalez » Juan
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

In thousands, except per share data

Year 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Sales  $1,624,273 $1,570,482  $1,130,066  $ 1,084,863 $ 898,150
Net income 63,729 73,796 55,951 44,890" 22,800
Earnings per share:
Basic 3.25 3.70 2.73 2.28 1.21
Diluted 3.06 3.45 2.68 2.24M 1.20
Cash flow from operating activities 137,625 121,514 118,267 23,730 69,268
Total assets 1,343,058 1,299,701 990,219 786,426 713,160
Total debt 497,037 497,984 373,000 216,700 248,750
Stockholders’ equity $ 539,696 $ 498,409 $ 444,144 $ 401,177 $ 331,751
Average common shares 20,793 21,395 20,857 19,996 18,969

(assuming dilution)

m Includes loss on debt refinancing of $9.9 million ($5.8 million after tax) in fiscal 2004.



TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS:

In 15 years as a public company, NCI has created a strong, long-term record of profitable growth
and increased shareholder value. We have achieved this success in a cyclical industry by
maintaining a fundamental commitment to a growth strategy, a strategy based on continuous
and disciplined investment that leverages the economic cycle to enhance our market leadership.
Today, NCI is the strongest manufacturer and marketer of metal construction products and
services in North America. We operate under three business segments: metal coil coating; metal
components; and engineered building systems, which is comprised of our NCI Buildings and
Robertson-Ceco Corporation (RCC) divisions. As a result, we are well positioned to withstand
the pressures of the weaker stages of the business cycle, while also producing superior results
in an expanding market environment.

Our commitment to this strategy was tested during fiscal 2007 as the low-rise nonresidential
construction industry experienced its first decline in square-footage starts since 2003, the last
year of the previous down cycle. Despite this decline, our Engineered Buildings segment produced
strong results with growth driven by our 2006 acquisition of RCC, which also supported a solid
performance by our Coatings segment. These results were more than offset, however, by results
from our Components segment, which faced difficult market conditions during the first half of the
year due to a severe industry inventory oversupply and softness in the small building market. While
not discounting our overall financial performance or its impact on our stock price, we are absolutely
confident that the operational progress we made during a tough year substantially strengthened
our market position and our prospects for long-term profitable growth.

We also expect NCI to produce profitable growth for fiscal 2008 in spite of McGraw-Hill's estimate
that square footage for total nonresidential construction starts will decline 6% for calendar 2008.
We recognize that continuing turmoil in the credit markets could have a more pronounced impact
on our markets than it has to date, but a number of factors support our expectations for growth.

First, with steel service center inventories currently at 10-year lows, we do not expect a repeat
of the severe industry inventory oversupply from domestic and foreign steel mills that affected
our results for the first half of fiscal 2007. This culminated in exceptional pricing pressure, which
accounted for a significant reduction in third-party Component sales for the first half of fiscal
2007, and, due to the deleveraging effect of lower sales, resulted in a decline in our operating
margin on those sales. During the second half of our fiscal year, our Components segment
produced improved results. We returned our Components margin to 13% for the fourth quarter,
within its historic operating range, and expect it to continue to improve in fiscal 2008.

In addition, we completed fiscal 2007 with a backlog for our Engineered Buildings segment of
$447 million, which was 20% higher than our backlog at the end of fiscal 2006. Our backlog gives
us substantial visibility into the first half of fiscal 2008, during which most of the backlog should
be shipped. Furthermare, both the American Institute of Architects’ Billing and Inquiry Survey
and our ongoing quoting activity remained robust throughout fiscal 2007, which is typically an
indicator of sales activity 12 to 15 months into the future.

Beginning in 2008, we expect an increasingly positive impact from a variety of operational initiatives
that leverage technology to enhance operating productivity and efficiency. We achieved outstanding
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progress during fiscal 2007 as we continued the integration of RCC's engineering systems to the NCI
Buildings division. We expect thisimplementation to produce a marked reduction in our engineering and
drafting cycle times. We will be able to implement NCI's hub and spoke delivery approach throughout
RCC’s manufacturing operations beginning in fiscal 2008, with completion expected in fiscal 2009.
Through these key initiatives, as well as our continuing investment to raise the automation of the NCI
Buildings division’s manufacturing operations to a level equivalent to RCC's, we expect an increase in
our Engineered Buildings segment operating margin, with the goal of 15% for fiscal 2010 compared
with 11% for fiscal 2007 and 9% for fiscal 2006.

Furthermore, we are rolling out a web-based order-entry system for our Components companies
in fiscal 2008. It is designed to engage our existing component customers and our builders, as
well as to recruit new customers, enabling them to place, purchase and track orders easily online
any time. During fiscal 2007, we expanded our online small metal buildings pricing software
into new marketing channels. We deployed it at one of the nation’s largest retail chains and
customized the tool for several of our building companies, allowing our builders to quote the
smaller, less complex buildings quickly and easily.

Additionally, we are continuing our strategic initiative to implement Oracle 11i, an enterprise
resource planning (ERP) software, throughout the NCI organization. It has been successfully
deployed to the Coatings segment, it was adopted by RCC’s operations prior to the acquisition
and we are targeting implementation for the Components segment in fiscal 2008 and 2009 and
the NCI Buildings division in fiscal 2009 and 2010. The common ERP system will provide greater
business intelligence as well as total supply chain integration and visibility.

Complementing these operational initiatives, we are also supporting sales growth through an
array of marketing and sales programs that we expect will have a tangible impact in fiscal
2008. Among these, we see a compelling market opportunity for our solutions that addresses
environmental issues such as our insulated panels, which improve efficiency by reducing energy
use; our cool metal roofing colors, which meet established values for reflectivity and emissivity
product specifications promoted by ENERGY STAR, the U.S. Green Building Council and other
leading environmental groups; and our Soundwall™ system, which, to date, has been approved
in more than 15 states to reduce noise pollution along interstate and other highway systems.
All of our products use recycled steel and are, themselves, 100% recyclable. By utilizing NCI's
nationwide hub and spoke delivery program, we are able to determine the closest plant that
meets the needs of the customer, reducing the costs and environmental impact of transporting
products long distances.

We also see a substantial opportunity to support our builder network by using our marketing
resources to drive end user demand in targeted end markets. Because of our comprehensive
product line, we have developed extensive expertise in a range of specialized market segments
which has equipped us to implement this initiative.

In addition to our organic growth strategies, we will continue to identify and assess acquisition
opportunities that complement our existing business model. Consistent with our historical
performance, we will continue to use our strong financial position to achieve our objectives
within the context of the economic cycle. As demonstrated by the increase in our cash and cash
equivalents to $75 million at the end of fiscal 2007 from $25 million at the end of the prior fiscal
year, we are prudently positioning NCI to respond to the risks and opportunities inherent in the
uncertain environment we face in fiscal 2008.

The strength of our balance sheet provides us flexibility that enables us to support shareholder
value through additional debt reduction and stock repurchases, which could add to the 1.5 million



shares repurchased in the last two fiscal years; through additional accretive acquisitions, such as
the Garco Building Systems transaction in fiscal 2007; and through further rationalization of our
operations. With continued strong cash flow from operations, which for fiscal 2007 was more than
twice net income, we expect a strong financial position to remain a defining characteristic of NCI.

Because of this financial strength and the many growth initiatives described above, along
with our strong commitment to commercial discipline, we remain confident that NCI has the
ability to both weather the industry downturn that began in 2007 and to achieve our long-term
growth objectives. While the timing of improved market conditions is inherently uncertain, the
substantial expansion of our Engineered Building segment’s backlog during fiscal 2007 positions
us to achieve modest improvements for the current fiscal year financial results. In addition,
during 2008 and beyond, we will continue our technology initiatives designed to drive long-term
margin expansion while significantly strengthening our position of market leadership.

Our confidence in our prospects for sustained long-term growth reflects the strength of our
commitment to a growth strategy that has enabled NCI to prosper through many economic cycles.
At a more fundamental level, however, this confidence is based on the more than 5,700 employees
of NCI who create value for our customers every day through their expertise, their innovation and
their superior execution. These people are at the heart of our market leadership and the competitive
strengths that sustain this leadership. We thank them for their skill and dedication in the year past
and the year to come. We also thank you, our fellow shareholders, for your investment in NCI and
for sharing our confidence in the potential that investment represents.

Sincerely,

Norman C. Chambers
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report includes statements concerning our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, strategies,
future events or performance and underlying assumptions and other statements that are not historical facts. These
statements are “‘forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by these statements. In some cases, our

forward-looking statements can be identified by the words “anticipate,” “believe,
“expect,” “forecast,

99 ¢ 99 ¢

continue,” “could,” “estimate,”
potential,” “predict,” “projection,” “should,” “will”

99 < 99 ¢ 99 G 99 ¢

goal,” “intend,” “may,” “objective,” “plan,

or other similar words. We have based our forward-looking statements on our management’s beliefs and assumptions
based on information available to our management at the time the statements are made. We caution you that
assumptions, beliefs, expectations, intentions and projections about future events may and often do vary materially
from actual results. Therefore, we cannot assure you that actual results will not differ materially from those expressed
or implied by our forward-looking statements. Accordingly, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any
forward-looking information, including any earnings guidance. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in
the forward-looking statements are reasonable, these expectations and the related statements are subject to risks,
uncertainties, and other factors that could cause the actual results to differ materially from those projected. These risks,
uncertainties, and other factors include, but are not limited to:

e industry cyclicality and seasonality and adverse weather conditions;

. fluctuations in customer demand and other patterns;

e raw material pricing and supply;



e competitive activity and pricing pressure;

e the ability to make strategic acquisitions accretive to earnings;

e general economic conditions affecting the construction industry;
. ability to service or refinance our debt; and

e other risks detailed under the caption “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report.

We expressly disclaim any obligations to release publicly any updates or revisions to these forward-looking
statements to reflect any changes in our expectations.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.
General

NCI Building Systems, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries and predecessors, unless the context requires
otherwise, the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our,”) is one of North America’s largest integrated manufacturers and
marketers of metal products for the nonresidential construction industry. We operate 44 manufacturing facilities
located in 18 states and Mexico. We sell metal coil coating services, metal components and engineered building
systems, offering one of the most extensive metal product lines in the building industry with well-recognized
brand names. We believe that our leading market positions and strong track record of growth and profitability

have resulted from our focus on:
e developing new markets and products;
e successfully identifying strategic growth opportunities;
e controlling operating and administrative costs; and

*  managing working capital and fixed assets.

We believe that metal products have gained and continue to gain a greater share of the new nonresidential
construction, repair and retrofit markets. This is due to increasing acceptance and recognition of the benefits of
metal products in building applications. Metal products and components offer builders, designers, architects and
end users several advantages, including lower long-term costs, longer life, attractive aesthetics and design
flexibility. Similarly, engineered building systems offer a number of advantages over traditional construction
alternatives, including shorter construction time, more efficient use of materials, lower construction costs, greater
ease of expansion and lower maintenance costs.

The Company was founded in 1984 and we reincorporated in Delaware in 1991. In 1998, we acquired Metal
Building Components, Inc. (“MBCI”) and doubled our revenue base. With the merger, we became the largest
domestic manufacturer of nonresidential metal components. In 2006, we acquired Robertson-Ceco II Corporation
(“RCC”) which operates the Ceco Building Systems, Star Building Systems and Robertson Building Systems
divisions and is a leader in the metal buildings industry. This transaction has created an organization with greater
product and geographic diversification, a stronger customer base and a more extensive distribution network than
either company had separately. Our principal offices are located at 10943 North Sam Houston Parkway West,
Houston, Texas 77064, and our telephone number is (281) 897-7788.

We file annual, quarterly and current reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports
on Form 8-K, along with any amendments to those reports, are available free of charge at our corporate website
at http://www.ncilp.com as soon as practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the
SEC. In addition, our website includes other items related to corporate governance matters, including our
corporate governance guidelines, charters of various committees of our board of directors and the code of
business conduct and ethics applicable to our employees, officers and directors. You may obtain copies of these
documents, free of charge, from our corporate website. However, the information on our website is not
incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K.

Business Segments

We have aggregated our operations into three reportable segments based upon similarities in product lines,
manufacturing process, marketing and management of our business: metal coil coating, metal components and
engineered building systems. Products of all three segments use the same basic raw materials. The metal coil
coating segment consists of cleaning, treating, painting and slitting continuous steel coils before the steel is



fabricated for use by construction and industrial users. The metal components segment sales include metal roof
and wall systems, metal partitions, metal trim, doors and other related accessories. The engineered building
systems segment includes the manufacturing of main frames and Long Bay® Systems, and includes value-added
engineering and drafting, which are typically not part of metal components or metal coil coating products or
services. Our sales to customers, operating income and total assets attributable to these business segments were
as follows for the fiscal years indicated (in thousands):

2007 % 2006 % ﬂ %
Sales:
Metal coil coating ........................ $ 272,543 17 $ 278,814 18 $ 232,648 20
Metal components . ...............c........ 715,033 44 771,200 49 653,717 58
Engineered building systems . . .............. 969,047 60 822,963 52 474,368 42
Intersegment sales ........................ (332,350) Q) (302,495) &9) (230,667) @)
Totalnetsales ....................... $1,624,273 100 $1,570,482 100 $1,130,066 100
Operating income:
Metal coil coating . ....................... $ 25,135 9 $ 24948 9 $ 20,157 9
Metal components .................euin... 60,265 8 91,998 12 76,410 12
Engineered building systems .. .............. 101,798 11 71,962 9 47,678 10
COrporate ... .....covvrvimieeenenann.. (56,259) — (51,621) — (39,775) —
Total operating income (% of sales) ... ... $ 130,939 8 $ 137,287 9 $ 104,470 9
Unallocated other expense . ................ 26,114 18,255 8,259
Income before income taxes ............ $ 104,825 $ 119,032 $ 96,211
Total assets as of fiscal year end 2007 and 2006:
Metal coil coating . ............ ... .. ...... $ 180,930 13 $ 193,050 15
Metal components ................c........ 363,888 27 374,233 29
Engineered building systems . . .............. 695,880 52 679,671 52
Corporate ... .....o.uuiiiiiii 102,360 _8 52,747 _4
Total assets ..............couuiuin... $1,343,058 100 $1,299,701 100

Metal Coil Coating. Metal coil coating consists of cleaning, treating and painting various flat rolled metal
coil substrates, as well as slitting and/or embossing the painted coils, before the steel is fabricated for use by
various industrial users. Light gauge and medium gauge steel coils that are painted, either for decorative or
corrosion protection purposes, are used in the building industry by manufacturers of metal components and
engineered building systems. In addition, these painted steel coils are used by manufacturers of other steel
products, such as water heaters, lighting fixtures and ceiling grids. We clean, treat and coat hot roll and light
gauge metal coils for our own use in our other two business segments, supplying substantially our entire internal
metal coil coating requirements. In fiscal 2007, our internal use accounted for approximately 62% of our
production. We also clean, treat and coat hot roll metal coils and light gauge metal for third parties for a variety
of applications, including construction products, heating and air conditioning systems, water heaters, lighting
fixtures, ceiling grids, office furniture and other products. We provide both toll coating services and package
coating. We perform toll coating services when the customer provides the steel coil and we provide only the
coating service. We perform package coating when we provide both the steel coil and the coating service.

Metal coil coating processes involve applying various types of chemical treatments and paint systems to flat
rolled continuous coils of metal, including steel and aluminum. These processes give the coils a baked-on finish
that both protects the metal and makes it more attractive. In the initial step of the coating process, various metals
in coil form are flattened, cleaned and pretreated. The metal is then coated, oven cured, cooled, recoiled and
packaged for shipment. Slitting and embossing services in accordance with customer specifications can also be
performed on the coated metal before shipping.



According to information collected by the National Coil Coating Association and other market information
available to us, we believe that approximately 4.0 million tons of light gauge steel and one million tons of hot
rolled, medium gauge steel are coated in the United States annually.

We believe that pre-painted metal coils are a better quality product, environmentally cleaner and more cost-
effective than painted metal products prepared in other manufacturers’ in-house painting operations. Painted
metal coils also offer manufacturers the opportunity to produce a broader and more aesthetically pleasing range
of products.

We have a small number of national accounts for our metal coil coating products and services. Our
customers include other manufacturers of engineered building systems and metal components, as well as, light
gauge steel coils for steel mills and metal service centers that supply the painted coils to various industrial users,
including manufacturers of engineered building systems, metal components, lighting fixtures, ceiling grids, water
heaters and other products. Each of our metal coil coating facilities has its own sales manager and sales staff. We
market our metal coil coating products under the brand names “Metal Coaters” and “Metal-Prep” and sell our
products and services principally to manufacturers of painted steel products and steel mills, as well as to our own
metal components and engineered building systems segments. In 2007, the DOUBLECOTE brand name was
rebranded as Metal Coaters. During fiscal 2007, our largest customer accounted for approximately 2% of our
total consolidated sales.

We operate five metal coil coating facilities in five states, two of which are used for hot rolled, medium
gauge steel coils and three of which are used for painting light gauge steel coils.

Metal Components. We are one of the largest domestic suppliers of metal components to the nonresidential
building industry. We design, manufacture, sell and distribute one of the widest selections of components for a
variety of new construction applications as well as for repair and retrofit uses.

Metal components include metal roof and wall systems, metal partitions, metal trim, doors and other related
accessories. These products are used in new construction and in repair and retrofit applications for industrial,
commercial, institutional, agricultural and rural uses. Metal components are used in a wide variety of
construction applications, including purlins and girts, roofing, standing seam roofing, walls, doors, trim and other
parts of traditional buildings, as well as in architectural applications and engineered building systems. Although
precise market data is limited, we estimate the metal components market including roofing applications to be a
multi-billion dollar market. We believe that metal products have gained and continue to gain a greater share of
new construction and repair and retrofit markets due to increasing acceptance and recognition of the benefits of
metal products in building applications.

Our metal components consist of individual components, including secondary structural framing, metal roof
and wall systems and associated metal trims. We sell directly to contractors or end users for use in the building
industry, including the construction of metal buildings. We also stock and market metal component parts for use
in the maintenance and repair of existing buildings. Specific component products we manufacture include metal
roof and wall systems, purlins, girts, partitions, header panels and related trim and screws. We are also
developing and marketing new products such as our Soundwall™, Nu Roof™ system and Energy Star cool
roofing. We believe we offer the widest selection of metal components in the building industry.

Purlins and girts are medium gauge, roll-formed steel components, which builders use for secondary
structural framing. We custom produce purlins and girts for our customers and offer the widest selection of sizes
and profiles in the United States. Metal roof and wall systems protect the rest of the structure and the contents of
the building from the weather. They may also contribute to the structural integrity of the building.



Metal roofing accounts for a significant portion of the overall metal components market, but less than 10%
of total roofing material expenditures. As a result, we believe that significant opportunities exist for metal
roofing, with its advantages over conventional roofing materials, to increase its overall share of this market.
Metal roofing systems have several advantages over conventional roofing systems, including the following:

Lower life cycle cost. The total cost over the life of metal roofing systems is lower than that of
conventional roofing systems for both new construction and retrofit roofing. For new construction, the cost
of installing metal roofing is greater than the cost of conventional roofing. Yet, the longer life and lower
maintenance costs of metal roofing make the cost more attractive. For retrofit roofing, although installation
costs are higher for metal roofing due to the need for a sloping support system, the lower ongoing costs
more than offset the initial cost.

Increased longevity. Metal roofing systems generally last for 20 years without requiring major
maintenance or replacement. This compares to five to 10 years for conventional roofs. The cost of leaks and
roof failures associated with conventional roofing can be very high, including damage to building interiors
and disruption of the functional usefulness of the building. Metal roofing prolongs the intervals between
costly and time-consuming repair work.

Attractive aesthetics and design flexibility. Metal roofing systems allow architects and builders to integrate
colors and geometric design into the roofing of new and existing buildings, providing an increasingly fashionable
means of enhancing a building’s aesthetics. Conventional roofing material is generally tar paper or a gravel
surface, and building designers tend to conceal roofs made with these materials.

Our metal roofing products are attractive and durable. We use standing seam roof technology to replace
traditional built-up and single-ply roofs as well as to provide a distinctive look to new construction. We
manufacture and design metal roofing systems for sales to regional metal building manufacturers, general
contractors and subcontractors. We believe we have the broadest line of standing seam roofing products in the
building industry. In addition, we have granted 16 licenses relating to our standing seam roof technology.

We manufacture roll-up and sectional overhead doors and sell interior and exterior walk doors for use in the
self storage industry and metal and other buildings.

We sell metal components directly to regional manufacturers, contractors, subcontractors, distributors,
lumberyards, cooperative buying groups and other customers under the brand names “MBCI,” “American
Building Components” (“ABC”), “Insulated Panel Systems” (“IPS”) and “NCI Metal Depots.” Roll-up doors,
interior and exterior doors, interior partitions and walls, header panels and trim are sold directly to contractors
and other customers under the brand “Doors and Buildings Components” (“DBCI”’). These components also are
produced for integration into self storage and engineered building systems sold by us. In addition to a traditional
business-to-business channel, we sell small custom-engineered metal buildings and components through three
other marketing channels targeting end-use consumers and small general contractors. We sell through NCI Metal
Depots which has six retail stores in Texas and New Mexico, Heritage Building Systems (“Heritage”) which is a
highly successful direct response, phone-based sales organization and Steelbuilding.com which allows customers
to design, price and buy small metal buildings online.

We market our components products within five product lines: industrial, commercial, institutional,
agricultural and rural. Customers include small, medium and large contractors, specialty roofers, regional
fabricators, regional engineered building fabricators and end users. Commercial and industrial businesses,
including self-storage, are heavy users of metal components and metal buildings systems. Standing seam roof
and architectural customers are emerging as an important part of our customer base. As metal buildings become a
more acceptable building alternative and aesthetics become an increasingly important consideration for end users
of metal buildings, we believe that architects will participate more in the design and purchase decisions and will
use metal components to a greater extent. Wood frame builders also purchase our metal components through
distributors, lumberyards, cooperative buying groups and chain stores for various uses, including agricultural
buildings.



Our metal components sales operations are organized into four geographic regions. Each region is headed
by a general sales manager supported by individual plant sales managers. Each local sales office is located
adjacent to a manufacturing plant and is staffed by a direct sales force responsible for contacting customers and
architects and a sales coordinator who supervises the sales process from the time the order is received until it is
shipped and invoiced. The regional and local focus of our customers requires extensive knowledge of local
business conditions. During fiscal 2007, our largest customer for metal components accounted for less than 1%
of our total consolidated sales.

We operate 23 facilities in 13 states used for manufacturing of metal components for the nonresidential
construction industry, including four facilities for our door operations. With the exception of our architectural
and standing seam products, we are not involved in the design process for the components we manufacture. Our
doors, interior partitions and other related panel and trim products are manufactured at dedicated plants in
Georgia, Texas and Arizona. Some metal components are processed at the Texas and Georgia plants and sent to
the appropriate plant, which is generally determined based upon the lowest shipping cost.

Metal component products are roll-formed or fabricated at each plant using roll-formers and other metal
working equipment. In roll forming, pre-finished coils of steel are unwound and passed through a series of
progressive forming rolls that form the steel into various profiles of medium-gauge structural shapes and light-
gauge roof and wall panels.

Engineered Building Systems. We are one of the largest domestic suppliers of engineered building systems.
We design, engineer, manufacture and market engineered building systems and self-storage building systems for
all nonresidential markets including commercial, industrial, agricultural, governmental and community.

Engineered building systems consist of engineered structural members and panels that are fabricated and
roll-formed in a factory. These systems are custom designed and engineered to meet project requirements and
then shipped to a construction site complete and ready for assembly with no additional field welding required.
Engineered building systems manufacturers design an integrated system that meets applicable building code and
designated end use requirements. These systems consist of primary structural framing, secondary structural
members (purlins and girts) and metal roof and wall systems or conventional wall materials manufactured by
others, such as masonry and concrete tilt-up panels.

Over the last 25 years, engineered building systems have significantly increased penetration of the market
for nonresidential low-rise structures and are being used in a broad variety of other applications. According to the
Metal Building Manufacturers Association (“MBMA”), reported domestic and export sales of engineered
building systems by their members which represent a limited number of actual buildings manufactured for 2006
and 2005 totaled approximately $2.9 billion and $2.7 billion, respectively. Although final 2007 sales information
is not yet available from the MBMA, we estimate that sales of engineered building systems continued to increase
throughout 2007 as in 2006. However, the McGraw-Hill low-rise nonresidential market, measured in square
footage, actually declined by 4.4% during our fiscal year. McGraw-Hill’s survey indicates industry activity will
decline 6% in square footage and 2% in dollar value during 2008 compared with 2007 as total nonresidential
construction markets are indicating an economic slowdown.

We believe the cost of an engineered building system generally represents approximately 20% to 30% of the
total cost of constructing a building, which includes land cost, labor, plumbing, electrical, heating and air
conditioning systems installation and interior finish. Technological advances in products and materials, as well as
significant improvements in engineering and design techniques, have led to the development of structural
systems that are compatible with more traditional construction materials. Architects and designers now often
combine an engineered building system with masonry, concrete, glass and wood exterior facades to meet the
aesthetic requirements of end users while preserving the inherent characteristics of engineered building systems.
As a result, the uses for engineered building systems now include office buildings, showrooms, retail shopping
centers, banks, schools, warehouses, factories, distribution centers, government buildings and community centers
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for which aesthetics and architectural features are important considerations of the end users. In addition,
advances in our products such as insulated steel panel systems for roof and wall applications give buildings the
perfect balance of strength, thermal efficiency and attractiveness.

In our marketing efforts, we generally emphasize the following characteristics of engineered building
systems to distinguish them from other methods of construction:

Shorter construction time. In many instances, it takes less time to construct an engineered building
than other building types. In addition, because most of the work is done in the factory, the likelihood of
weather interruptions is reduced.

More efficient material utilization. The larger engineered building systems manufacturers use
computer-aided analysis and design to fabricate structural members with high strength-to-weight ratios,
minimizing raw materials costs.

Lower construction costs. The in-plant manufacture of engineered building systems, coupled with
automation, allows the substitution of less expensive factory labor for much of the skilled on-site
construction labor otherwise required for traditional building methods.

Greater ease of expansion. Engineered building systems can be modified quickly and economically
before, during or after the building is completed to accommodate all types of expansion. Typically, an
engineered building system can be expanded by removing the end or side walls, erecting new framework
and adding matching wall and roof panels.

Lower maintenance costs. Unlike wood, metal is not susceptible to deterioration from cracking, rotting
or insect damage. Furthermore, factory-applied roof and siding panel coatings resist cracking, peeling,
chipping, chalking and fading.

Environmentally friendly. Our buildings utilize recycled steel materials and our roofing and siding
utilize painted surfaces with high reflectance and emissivity, which help conserve energy and operating
Costs.

Engineered building systems typically consist of three systems:

Primary structural framing. Primary structural framing, fabricated from heavy-gauge plate steel,
supports the secondary structural framing, roof, walls and all externally applied loads. Through the primary
framing, the force of all applied loads is structurally transferred to the foundation.

Secondary structural framing. Secondary structural framing is designed to strengthen the primary
structural framing and efficiently transfer applied loads from the roof and walls to the primary structural
framing. Secondary structural framing consists of medium-gauge, roll-formed steel components called
purlins and girts. Purlins are attached to the primary frame to support the roof. Girts are attached to the
primary frame to support the walls.

Metal roof and wall systems. Metal roof and wall systems not only lock out the weather but may also
contribute to the structural integrity of the overall building system. Roof and wall panels are fabricated from
light-gauge, roll-formed steel in many architectural configurations.

Accessory components complete the engineered building system. These components include doors,
windows, specialty trims, gutters and interior partitions.

Our patented Long Bay® System allows for construction of metal buildings with bay spacings of up to 65
feet without internal supports. This compares to bay spacings of up to 30 feet under other engineered building
systems. The Long Bay® System virtually eliminates all welding at the site, which significantly reduces
construction time compared with conventional steel construction. Our patented Long Bay® System is designed
for larger buildings that typically require less custom engineering and design than our other engineered building
systems, which allows us to meet our customers’ needs more quickly.
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We sell engineered building systems to builders, general contractors, developers and end users nationwide
under the brand names “Metallic,” “Mid-West Steel,” “A & S,” “All American,” “Steel Systems,” “Mesco,”
“Star,” “Ceco,” “Robertson” and “Garco.” We market engineered building systems through an in-house sales
force to authorized builder networks of over 4,100 builders. We also sell engineered building systems to various
private labels. During fiscal 2007, our largest customer for engineered building systems accounted for less than
1% of our total consolidated sales.

Our authorized builder networks consist of independent general contractors that market our products and
services to end users. Most of our sales of engineered building systems are through our authorized builder
networks. We enter into an agreement with an authorized builder, which generally grants the builder the
non-exclusive right to market our products in a specified territory. The agreement is cancelable by either party on
60 days’ notice. The agreement does not prohibit the builder from marketing engineered building systems of
other manufacturers. We establish an annual sales goal for each builder and provide the builder with sales and
pricing information, drawings and assistance, application programs for estimating and quoting jobs and
advertising and promotional literature. We also defray a portion of the builder’s advertising costs and provide
volume purchasing and other pricing incentives to encourage it to deal exclusively or principally with us. The
builder is required to maintain a place of business in its designated territory, provide a sales organization,
conduct periodic advertising programs and perform construction, warranty and other services for customers and
potential customers. An authorized builder usually is hired by an end-user to erect an engineered building system
on the customer’s site and provide general contracting and other services related to the completion of the project.
We sell our products to the builder, which generally includes the price of the building as a part of its overall
construction contract with its customer. We rely upon maintaining a satisfactory business relationship for
continuing job orders from our authorized builders and do not consider the builder agreements to be material to
our business.

Our patented Long Bay® System provides us with an entry to builders that focus on larger buildings. This
also provides us with new opportunities to cross-sell our other products to these new builders and to compete
with the conventional construction industry.

We operate 16 facilities throughout North America and Monterey, Mexico for manufacturing and
distributing engineered building systems. These facilities include seven facilities acquired in April 2006 as a
result of the RCC acquisition and one facility acquired in January 2007 as a result of the acquisition of Garco
Building Systems, Inc. (“Garco”). We closed our manufacturing facility in Ontario, Canada during the second
quarter of fiscal 2007 but still maintain a sales, engineering and service center in Canada. After we receive an
order, our engineers design the engineered building system to meet the customer’s requirements and to satisfy
applicable building codes and zoning requirements. To expedite this process, we use computer-aided design and
engineering systems to generate engineering and erection drawings and a bill of materials for the manufacture of
the engineered building system. From time-to-time, depending on our volume, we outsource to third-parties
portions of our drafting requirements.

Once the specifications and designs of the customer’s project have been finalized, the manufacturing of
frames and other building systems begins at one of our 12 frame manufacturing facilities. Fabrication of the
primary structural framing consists of a process in which steel plates are punched and sheared and then routed
through an automatic welding machine and sent through further fitting and welding processes. The secondary
structural framing and the covering system are roll-formed steel products that are manufactured at our full
manufacturing facilities as well as our components plants.

Upon completion of the manufacturing process, structural framing members and metal roof and wall
systems are shipped to the job site for assembly. Since on-site construction is performed by an unaffiliated,
independent general contractor, usually one of our authorized builders, we generally are not responsible for
claims by end users or owners attributable to faulty on-site construction. The time elapsed between our receipt of
an order and shipment of a completed building system has typically ranged from four to eight weeks, although
delivery can extend somewhat longer if engineering and drafting requirements are extensive.
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Raw Materials

The principal raw material used in manufacturing of our metal components and engineered building systems
is steel. Our various products are fabricated from steel produced by mills including bars, plates, structural shapes,
sheets, hot rolled coils and galvanized or Galvalume-coated coils. During fiscal 2007, we purchased
approximately 26% of our steel requirements from one vendor. No other vendor accounted for over 10% of our
steel requirements during fiscal 2007. Although we believe concentration of our steel purchases among a small
group of suppliers that have mills and warehouse facilities close to our facilities enables us, as a large customer
of those suppliers, to obtain better pricing, service and delivery, loss of one or all of these suppliers could have a
material adverse affect on our ability to obtain the raw materials required to meet delivery schedules to our
customers. These suppliers generally maintain an inventory of the types of materials we require.

Our raw materials on hand decreased to $93.5 million at October 28, 2007 from $121.0 million at
October 29, 2006, primarily due to the reduction of excess inventory, partially offset by an increase related to the
acquisition of Garco.

Our business is heavily dependent on the price and supply of steel. The steel industry is highly cyclical in
nature, and steel prices have been volatile in recent years and may remain volatile in the future. Steel prices are
influenced by numerous factors beyond our control, including general economic conditions domestically and
internationally, competition, labor costs, production costs, import duties and other trade restrictions. Our average
cost of steel, based on the typical mix of products we purchased, increased approximately 11.1% between
October 2005 and October 2006 and decreased approximately 3.9% between October 2006 and October 2007.
Based on expected increases in iron ore, coke, steel scrap and ocean freight costs, steel prices could increase
again in fiscal 2008. However, with total nonresidential construction demand expected to be 6% lower in 2008,
steel suppliers may have difficulty raising prices in the market. Because we have periodically adjusted our
contract prices, particularly in the engineered building systems segment, we have generally been able to pass
increases in our raw material costs through to our customers.

We do not have any long-term contracts for the purchase of steel and normally do not maintain an inventory
of steel in excess of our current production requirements. However, from time to time, we may purchase steel in
advance of announced steel price increases. In addition, it is our current practice to purchase all steel
consignment inventory that remains in consignment after an agreed term, typically ranging from 30—60 days.
For additional information about the risks of our raw material supply and pricing, see “Item 1A—Risk Factors.”

Backlog

At October 28, 2007, the total backlog of orders for our products we believe to be firm was $451.9 million.
This compares with a total backlog for our products of $379.0 million at October 29, 2006. Backlog at
October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006 primarily consisted of engineered building systems orders in the amount
of $447.3 million and $374.0 million, respectively. Job orders generally are cancelable by customers at any time
for any reason. Occasionally, orders in the backlog are not completed and shipped for reasons that include
changes in the requirements of the customers and the inability of customers to obtain necessary financing or
zoning variances. We do not anticipate that any significant portion of this backlog will extend beyond one year.

Competition

We and other manufacturers of metal components and engineered building systems compete in the building
industry with all other alternative methods of building construction such as tilt-wall, concrete and wood, single
ply and built up, all of which may be perceived as more traditional, more aesthetically pleasing or having other
advantages over our products. We compete with all manufacturers of building products, from small local firms to
large national firms.



In addition, competition in the metal components and engineered building systems market of the building
industry is intense. It is based primarily on:

e quality;

. service;

e on-time delivery;

e ability to provide added value in the design and engineering of buildings;
e price; and

e speed of construction.

We compete with a number of other manufacturers of metal components and engineered building systems
for the building industry, ranging from small local firms to large national firms. Most of these competitors
operate on a regional basis, although we believe that at least four other manufacturers of engineered building
systems and three manufacturers of metal components have nationwide coverage.

We currently operate 44 facilities in 18 states and Mexico used for manufacturing of metal components and
engineered building systems for the building industry, including four for our door operations. We believe this
broad geographic penetration gives us an advantage over our components and building competitors because
major elements of a customer’s decision are the speed and cost of delivery from the manufacturing facility to the
product’s ultimate destination. We operate a fleet of trucks to deliver our products to our customers in a more
timely manner than most of our competitors.

We compete with a number of other providers of metal coil coating services to manufacturers of metal
components and engineered building systems for the building industry, ranging from small local firms to large
national firms. Most of these competitors operate on a regional basis, although we believe that at least three other
providers of light gauge metal coil coating services and two other providers of hot rolled, medium gauge metal
coil coating services have nationwide coverage. Competition in the metal coil coating industry is intense and is
based primarily on quality, service, delivery and price.

Consolidation

Over the last several years, there has been consolidation in the metal coil coating, metal components and
engineered building systems industries, which include many small local and regional firms. We believe that these
industries will continue to consolidate, driven by the needs of manufacturers to increase manufacturing capacity,
achieve greater process integration and add geographic diversity to meet customers’ product and delivery needs,
improve production efficiency and manage costs. When beneficial to our long-term goals and strategy, we have
sought to consolidate our business operations with other companies. The resulting synergies from these
consolidation efforts have allowed us to reduce costs while continuing to serve our customers’ needs. In January
2007, we completed the purchase of substantially all of the assets of Garco Building Systems, Inc. which designs,
manufactures and distributes steel building systems primarily for markets in the northwestern United States and
western Canada. In April 2006, we acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of RCC. RCC operates
the Ceco Building Systems, Star Building Systems and Robertson Building Systems divisions and is a leader in
the metal buildings industry. For more information, see “—Acquisitions”.

In addition to consolidation within the metal coil coating, metal components and engineered building
systems industries, in recent years there has been consolidation between those industries and steel producers.
Several of our competitors have been acquired by steel producers, and further similar acquisitions are possible.
For a discussion of the possible effects on us of such consolidations, see “Item 1A—Risk Factors.”



Acquisitions

We have a history of making acquisitions within our industry, and we regularly evaluate growth
opportunities both through acquisitions and internal investment. We believe that there are numerous
opportunities for growth through consolidation in the metal buildings and components industry, and our goal is to
continue to grow through strategic acquisitions, as well as organically.

In furtherance of this strategy, on January 31, 2007, we completed the purchase of substantially all the assets
of Garco, which designs, manufactures and distributes steel building systems primarily for markets in
northwestern United States and western Canada. Garco is headquartered in Spokane, Washington, where it
operates a manufacturing facility for steel building systems for industrial, commercial, institutional and
agricultural applications. We expect that the addition of Garco will strengthen our presence in growth markets in
the northwestern U. S. and western Canada. In addition to an established distribution and builders network,
Garco has built a well-respected brand name. We also gain an advanced manufacturing facility, which is our first
in the Northwest, a highly experienced operating team and a 33-acre site suitable for future expansion.

On April 7, 2006, we completed the acquisition of RCC. RCC operates the Ceco Building Systems, Star
Building Systems and Robertson Building Systems divisions and is a leader in the metal buildings industry. This
transaction created an organization with greater product and geographic diversification, a stronger customer base
and a more extensive distribution network than either company had separately. We have realized synergies as a
result of this acquisition and expect to realize significant additional synergies going forward as we complete the
integration of RCC. The specific areas that we are focused on include:

e retaining and expanding our customer base with the addition of RCC’s builder network;
e consolidating and leveraging our procurement activities for steel, paint and fasteners;

e consolidating RCC’s light gauge painting requirements into our light gauge painting lines within our
metal coil coating segment;

e suspending RCC’s post painting process in favor of our pre-painted process within our metal coil
coating segment;

e selling our product lines such as architectural products, Long Bay® Systems (LBS), Insulated Panel
Systems (IPS) and commercial / industrial doors through RCC’s builder network;

e rationalizing product design and specifications in order to incorporate RCC’s plants in our “hub and
spoke delivery system;” and

e migrating RCC’s engineering systems to our engineered building systems business unit.

We also evaluate from time to time possible dispositions of assets or businesses when such assets or
businesses are no longer core to our operations and do not fit into our long-term strategy. Consistent with our
growth strategy, we frequently engage in discussions with potential sellers regarding the possible purchase by us
of businesses, assets and operations that are strategic and complementary to our existing operations. Such assets
and operations include engineered building systems and metal components, but may also include assets that are
closely related to, or intertwined with, these business lines, and enable us to leverage our asset base, knowledge
base and skill sets. Such acquisition efforts may involve participation by us in processes that have been made
public, involve a number of potential buyers and are commonly referred to as “auction” processes, as well as
situations in which we believe we are the only party or one of the very limited number of potential buyers in
negotiations with the potential seller. These acquisition efforts often involve assets that, if acquired, would have a
material effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
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Environmental Matters

The operation of our business is subject to stringent and complex laws and regulations pertaining to health,
safety and the environment. As an owner or operator of manufacturing facilities, we must comply with these laws
and regulations at the federal, state and local levels. These laws and regulations can restrict or impact our
business activities in many ways, such as:

e restricting the way we can handle or dispose of our waste;

e requiring remedial action to mitigate certain environmental conditions that may have been caused by
our operations or attributable to former operators; and

e enjoining the operations of facilities deemed in non-compliance with permits issued pursuant to such
environmental laws and regulations.

Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may trigger a variety of administrative, civil and criminal
enforcement measures, including the assessment of monetary penalties, the imposition of remedial requirements,
and the issuance of orders enjoining future operations. Certain environmental statutes impose strict, joint and
several liability for costs required to clean up and restore sites where hazardous substances have been disposed of
or otherwise released. Moreover, it is not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file
claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by the release of substances or other waste
products into the environment.

The trend in environmental regulation is to place more restrictions and limitations on activities that may
affect the environment. As a result, there can be no assurance as to the amount or timing of future expenditures
for environmental compliance or remediation, and actual future expenditures may be different from the amounts
we currently anticipate. We try to anticipate future regulatory requirements that might be imposed and plan
accordingly to remain in compliance with changing environmental laws and regulations and to minimize the
costs of such compliance.

We do not believe that compliance with federal, state or local environmental laws and regulations will have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial position or results of operations. In addition, we believe that
the various environmental activities in which we are presently engaged are not expected to materially interrupt or
diminish our operational ability to manufacture our products. We cannot assure you, however, that future events,
such as changes in existing laws, the promulgation of new laws, or the development or discovery of new facts or
conditions will not cause us to incur significant costs. The following is a discussion of certain environmental and
safety concerns that relate to our business.

Air Emissions. Our operations are subject to the federal Clean Air Act and comparable state laws and
regulations. These laws and regulations regulate emissions of air pollutants from various industrial sources,
including our manufacturing facilities, and also impose various monitoring and reporting requirements. Such
laws and regulations may require that we obtain pre-approval for the construction or modification of certain
projects or facilities expected to produce air emissions or result in the increase of existing air emissions, obtain
and strictly comply with air permits containing various emissions and operational limitations, or utilize specific
emission control technologies to limit emissions. Our failure to comply with these requirements could subject us
to monetary penalties, injunctions, conditions or restrictions on operations, and, potentially, criminal enforcement
actions. We will be required to incur certain capital and other expenditures in the future for air pollution control
equipment in connection with obtaining and maintaining operating permits and approvals for air emissions. We
believe, however, that our operations will not be materially adversely affected by such requirements, and the
requirements are not expected to be any more burdensome to us than to any other similarly situated companies.

Hazardous and Solid Waste. Our operations generate wastes, including some hazardous wastes that are
subject to the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, or RCRA, and comparable state laws, which

impose detailed requirements for the handling, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous and solid waste. For
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example, ordinary industrial waste such as paint waste, waste solvents, and waste oils may be regulated as
hazardous waste. RCRA currently exempts many of our manufacturing wastes from classification as hazardous
waste. However, these non-hazardous or exempted wastes are still regulated under state law or the less stringent
solid waste requirements of RCRA.

Site Remediation. The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980,
as amended, or CERCLA and comparable state laws impose liability, without regard to fault or the legality of the
original conduct, on certain classes of persons responsible for the release of hazardous substances into the
environment. Such classes of persons include the current and past owners or operators of sites where a hazardous
substance was released, and companies that disposed or arranged for disposal of hazardous substances at offsite
locations such as landfills. In the course of our ordinary operations we will generate wastes that may fall within
the definition of a “hazardous substance.” CERCLA authorizes the EPA and, in some cases, third parties to take
actions in response to threats to the public health or the environment and to seek to recover from the responsible
classes of persons the costs they incur. Under CERCLA, we could be subject to joint and several liability for the
costs of cleaning up and restoring sites where hazardous substances have been released, for damages to natural
resources, and for the costs of certain health studies.

We currently own or lease, and have in the past owned or leased, numerous properties that for many years
have been used for manufacturing operations. Hazardous substances or wastes may have been disposed of or
released on or under the properties owned or leased by us, or on or under other locations where such wastes have
been taken for disposal. In addition, some of these properties have been operated by third parties or by previous
owners whose treatment and disposal or release of hazardous substances or wastes was not under our control.
These properties and the substances disposed or released on them may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and
analogous state laws. Under such laws, we could be required to remove previously disposed wastes (including
waste disposed of by prior owners or operators), remediate contaminated property (including groundwater
contamination, whether from prior owners or operators or other historic activities or spills), or perform remedial
plugging or pit closure operations to prevent future contamination. See “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” for further
discussion of specific environmental remediation activities.

Water Discharges. Our operations are subject to the federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, as
amended, also known as the Clean Water Act, and analogous state laws and regulations. These laws and
regulations impose detailed requirements and strict controls regarding the discharge of pollutants into waters of
the United States. The unpermitted discharge of pollutants, including discharges resulting from a spill or leak
incident, is prohibited. Any unpermitted release of pollutants from our facilities could result in fines or penalties
as well as significant remedial obligations.

Employee Health and Safety. We are subject to the requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health
Act, or OSHA, and comparable state laws that regulate the protection of the health and safety of workers. In
addition, the OSHA hazard communication standard requires that information be maintained about hazardous
materials used or produced in our operations and that this information be provided to employees, state and local
government authorities and citizens.

Zoning and Building Code Requirements

The engineered building systems and components we manufacture must meet zoning, building code and
uplift requirements adopted by local governmental agencies. We believe that our products are in substantial
compliance with applicable zoning, code and uplift requirements. Compliance does not have a material adverse
affect on our business.

Patents, Licenses and Proprietary Rights

We have a number of United States patents, pending patent applications and other proprietary rights,
including those relating to metal roofing systems, metal overhead doors, our pier and header system, our
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Long Bay® System and our building estimating and design system. We also have several registered trademarks
and pending registrations in the United States.

Research and Development Costs

Total expenditures for research and development were $1.9 million, $1.7 million and $1.6 million for fiscal
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We incur research and development costs to develop new products, improve
existing products and improve safety factors of our products in the metal components segment. These products
include panels, clips, purlins, and fasteners.

Employees

As of October 28, 2007, we had approximately 5,721 employees, of whom 3,768 were manufacturing and
engineering personnel. We regard our employee relations as satisfactory. Approximately 9.9% of our workforce
is represented by a collective bargaining agreement or union.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our businesses are cyclical, and we cannot predict the timing or severity of future economic or industry
downturns.

The nonresidential construction industry is highly sensitive to national and regional economic conditions.
From time to time, it has been adversely affected in various parts of the country by unfavorable economic
conditions, low use of manufacturing capacity, high vacancy rates, changes in tax laws affecting the real estate
industry, high interest rates and the unavailability of financing. Sales of our products may be adversely affected
by weakness in demand for our products within particular customer groups, or a recession in the general
construction industry or particular geographic regions. According to the MBMA, reported sales of engineered
buildings systems by their members increased from $1.5 billion in 1993 to a high of approximately $2.5 billion in
2000, and then declined, as the economy slowed in 2002, to $1.8 billion. During fiscal 2004, 2005 and 2006,
McGraw-Hill’s estimate of low-rise new construction starts for buildings less than five stories increased by 2.4%,
1.8% and 5.7%, respectively in square feet compared to their respective prior fiscal years. During fiscal 2007,
McGraw-Hill’s estimate of low-rise new construction starts for buildings less than five stories declined by 4.4%
in square feet compared to 2006. This industry decline contributed to a 3.4% decline in our total tons shipped,
though we experienced the greatest impact in our metal components segment. We cannot predict the timing or
severity of future economic or industry downturns. Any economic downturn, particularly in states where many of
our sales are made, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Our businesses are seasonal, and our results of operations during our first two fiscal quarters may be
adversely affected by seasonality.

The metal components, engineered building systems and metal coil coating businesses, and the construction
industry in general, are seasonal in nature. Sales normally are lower in the first calendar quarter of each year
compared to the other three quarters because of unfavorable weather conditions for construction and typical
business planning cycles affecting construction. This seasonality adversely affects our results of operations for
the first two fiscal quarters. Prolonged severe weather conditions can delay construction projects and otherwise
adversely affect our business.

Price volatility and supply constraints in the steel market could prevent us from meeting delivery
schedules to our customers or reduce our profit margins.

Our business is heavily dependent on the price and supply of steel. The steel industry is highly cyclical in
nature, and steel prices have been volatile in recent years and may remain volatile in the future. Steel prices are
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influenced by numerous factors beyond our control, including general economic conditions domestically and
internationally, the availability of raw materials, competition, labor costs, freight and transportation costs,
production costs, import duties and other trade restrictions.

We do not have any long-term contracts for the purchase of steel and normally do not maintain an inventory
of steel in excess of our current production requirements. However, from time to time, we may purchase steel in
advance of announced steel price increases. We can give you no assurance that steel will remain available or that
prices will not continue to be volatile. While most of our contracts have escalation clauses that allow us, under
certain circumstances, to pass along all or a portion of increases in the price of steel after the date of the contract
but prior to delivery, we may, for competitive or other reasons, not be able to pass such price increases along. If
the available supply of steel declines, we could experience price increases that we are not able to pass on to our
customers, a deterioration of service from our suppliers or interruptions or delays that may cause us not to meet
delivery schedules to our customers. Any of these problems could adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition. For more information about steel pricing trends in recent years, see “Item 1. Business—Raw
Materials.”

We rely on a few major suppliers for our supply of steel, which makes us more vulnerable to supply
constraints and pricing pressure, as well as the financial condition of those suppliers; further consolidation in
the steel industry may adversely affect us.

We rely on a few major suppliers for our supply of steel and may be adversely affected by the bankruptcy,
financial condition or other factors affecting those suppliers. During the second quarter of fiscal 2007, Nucor
Corporation bought substantially all the shares of Harris Steel. We do not anticipate Nucor’s acquisition of Harris
Steel to have an impact on our supply of steel, although consolidation in the steel industry may have the effect of
increasing our raw material costs. We have not made steel purchases from Harris Steel in the previous five fiscal
years. During fiscal 2007, we purchased approximately 26% of our steel requirements from one vendor. No other
vendor accounted for over 10% of our steel requirements during fiscal 2007. A prolonged labor strike against one
or more of our principal domestic suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our operations. Furthermore,
if one or more of our current suppliers is unable for financial or any other reason to continue in business or to
produce steel sufficient to meet our requirements, essential supply of our primary raw materials could be
temporarily interrupted, and our business could be adversely affected. Alternative sources, however, including
foreign steel are currently believed to be sufficient to maintain required deliveries.

We are subject to preference claims by one of our former steel suppliers.

On or about September 15, 2003, Bethlehem Steel Corporation and several of its related entities
(collectively, “Bethlehem”) filed a preference-avoidance lawsuit against us and several of our operating
subsidiaries in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. The lawsuit was filed
as part of the Bethlehem consolidated bankruptcy proceedings, seeking reimbursement of allegedly preferential
transfers made by the respective debtors in the 90-day period preceding their bankruptcy filings. Bethlehem
alleges it made preferential payments to our subsidiaries of approximately $7.7 million. We have denied the
allegations in the Bethlehem lawsuit and are vigorously defending against this claim. While we are not able to
predict whether we will incur any liability or to accurately estimate the damages, or the range of damages, if any,
we might incur in connection with the Bethlehem proceeding, it is possible that this lawsuit will adversely affect
our results of operations, cash flows and financial position. See “Item 3-Legal Proceedings” for additional
information regarding this matter.

Failure to retain or replace key personnel could hurt our operations.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the efforts, contributions and abilities of our senior
management, plant managers and other highly skilled personnel, including our sales executives. These executives
and managers have many accumulated years of experience in our industry and developed personal relationships
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with our customers that are important to our business. If we do not retain the services of our key personnel or if
we fail to adequately plan for the succession of such individuals, our customer relationships, results of operations
and financial condition may be adversely affected.

If we are unable to enforce our intellectual property rights or if our intellectual property rights become
obsolete, our competitive position could be adversely affected.

We utilize a variety of intellectual property rights in our services. We have a number of United States
patents, pending patent applications and other proprietary rights, including those relating to metal roofing
systems, metal overhead doors, our pier and header system, our Long Bay® System and our building estimating
and design system. We also have several registered trademarks and pending registrations in the United States.
We view our portfolio of process and design technologies as one of our competitive strengths. We may not be
able to successfully preserve these intellectual property rights in the future and these rights could be invalidated,
circumvented, or challenged. If we are unable to protect and maintain our intellectual property rights, or if there
are any successful intellectual property challenges or infringement proceedings against us, our business and
revenue could be materially and adversely affected.

We incur costs to comply with environmental laws and have liabilities for environmental cleanups.

Because we have air emissions, discharge wastewater, own and operate real property, and handle hazardous
substances and solid waste, we incur costs and liabilities to comply with environmental laws and regulations and
may incur significant additional costs as those laws and regulations change in the future or if there is an
accidental release of hazardous substances into the environment. The operations of our manufacturing facilities
are subject to stringent and complex federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. These include,
for example, (i) the federal Clean Air Act and comparable state laws and regulations that impose obligations
related to air emissions, (ii) the federal RCRA and comparable state laws that impose requirements for the
discharge of waste from our facilities and (iii) the CERCLA and comparable state laws that regulate the cleanup
of hazardous substances that may have been released at properties currently or previously owned or operated by
us or locations to which we have sent waste for disposal. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may
trigger a variety of administrative, civil and criminal enforcement measures, including the assessment of
monetary penalties, the imposition of remedial requirements, and the issuance of orders enjoining future
operations. For more information about costs we have incurred for environmental matters in recent years, see
“Item 3. Legal Proceedings” and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”.

The industries in which we operate are highly competitive.

We compete with all other alternative methods of building construction, which may be viewed as more
traditional, more aesthetically pleasing or having other advantages over our products. In addition, competition in
the metal components and metal buildings markets of the building industry and in the metal coil coating industry
is intense. It is based primarily on:

e quality;

. service;

. on-time delivery;

e ability to provide added value in the design and engineering of buildings;
o price;

e speed of construction in buildings and components; and

e personal relationships with customers.
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We compete with a number of other manufacturers of metal components and engineered building systems
and providers of coil coating services ranging from small local firms to large national firms. In addition, we and
other manufacturers of metal components and engineered building systems compete with alternative methods of
building construction. If these alternative building methods compete successfully against us, such competition
could adversely affect us.

In addition, several of our competitors have recently been acquired by steel producers. Competitors owned
by steel producers may have a competitive advantage on raw materials that we do not enjoy. Steel producers may
prioritize deliveries of raw materials to such competitors or provide them with more favorable pricing, both of
which could enable them to offer products to customers at lower prices or accelerated delivery schedules.

Our stock price has been and may continue to be volatile.

The trading price of our common stock has fluctuated in the past and is subject to significant fluctuations in
response to the following factors, some of which are beyond our control:

e variations in quarterly operating results;

e deviations in our earnings from publicly disclosed forward-looking guidance;

e changes in earnings estimates by analysts;

e our announcements of significant contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships or joint ventures;

e general conditions in the metal components and engineered building systems industries;

e fluctuations in stock market price and volume; and

e other general economic conditions.

During fiscal 2007, our closing stock price on the New York Stock Exchange ranged from a high of
approximately $61 per share to a low of approximately $36 per share and after the end of our fiscal year, our
trading price has declined further. In recent years, the stock market in general has experienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations that have affected the market price for many companies in industries similar to ours. Some

of these fluctuations have been unrelated to the operating performance of the affected companies. These market
fluctuations may decrease the market price of our common stock in the future.

Our acquisition strategy may be unsuccessful if we incorrectly predict operating results or are unable to
identify and complete future acquisitions and integrate acquired assets or businesses.

We have a history of expansion through acquisitions, and we believe that as our industry continues to
consolidate, our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to complete acquisitions. Growing through
acquisitions and managing that growth will require us to continue to invest in operational, financial and
management information systems and to attract, retain, motivate and effectively manage our employees. Pursuing
and integrating acquisitions, including our recently completed acquisition of RCC, involves a number of risks,
including:

e the risk of incorrect assumptions or estimates regarding the future results of the acquired business or
expected cost reductions or other synergies expected to be realized as a result of acquiring the business;

e diversion of management’s attention from existing operations;
e unexpected losses of key employees, customers and suppliers of the acquired business;

e conforming the financial, technological and management standards, processes, procedures and controls
of the acquired business with those of our existing operations; and

e increasing the scope, geographic diversity and complexity of our operations.
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Although we expect acquisitions to be an integral part of our future growth, we can provide no assurance
that we will be successful in identifying or completing any acquisitions or that any businesses or assets that we
are able to acquire will be successfully integrated into our existing business. We cannot predict the effect, if any,
that any announcement or consummation of an acquisition would have on the trading prices of our securities.

Our acquisition strategy subjects us to numerous risks that could adversely affect our results of
operations.

Acquisitions are an essential part of our growth strategy, and our ability to acquire additional businesses or
operations on favorable terms is important to our long-term growth. Depending on conditions in the acquisition
market, it may be difficult or impossible for us to identify business or operations for acquisition, or we may not
be able to make acquisitions on terms that we consider economically acceptable. Even if we are able to identify
suitable acquisition opportunities, our acquisition strategy depends upon, among other things, our ability to
obtain financing and, in some cases, regulatory approvals, including under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act.

Our incurrence of additional debt, contingent liabilities and expenses in connection with our recent
acquisition of RCC, or in connection with any future acquisitions, could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, our financial position and results of operations may
fluctuate significantly from period to period based on whether significant acquisitions are completed in particular
periods. Competition for acquisitions is intense and may increase the cost of, or cause us to refrain from,
completing acquisitions.

We may not be able to service our debt, obtain future financing or may be limited operationally.

In connection with our acquisition activity, primarily for our acquisition of RCC in 2006, we have incurred
debt. We may also incur additional debt from time to time to finance additional acquisitions, capital expenditures
or for other purposes if we comply with the restrictions in our senior secured credit agreement.

The debt that we carry may have important consequences to us, including the following:

e Our ability to obtain additional financing, if necessary, for working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions or other purposes may be impaired or additional financing may not be available on
favorable terms.

e We must use a portion of our cash flow to pay the principal and interest on our debt. These payments
reduce the funds that would otherwise be available for our operations and future business opportunities.

e A substantial decrease in our net operating cash flows could make it difficult for us to meet our debt
service requirements and force us to modify our operations.

*  We may be more vulnerable to a downturn in our business or the economy generally.

If we cannot service our debt, we will be forced to take actions such as reducing or delaying acquisitions
and/or capital expenditures, selling assets, restructuring or refinancing our debt or seeking additional equity
capital. We can give you no assurance that we can do any of these things on satisfactory terms or at all.

In addition, under the terms of our 2.125% convertible senior subordinated notes due 2024 (“Notes”), the
net share settlement provision requires that upon conversion we pay the principal return in cash, provided that we
are in compliance with the financial covenants of our existing or future credit facilities. Assuming that we have
enough cash to pay the principal return, we may be cash constrained as a result, and this could adversely affect
our ability to service our debt, borrow money or conduct our operations. The conversion price of the Notes is
$40.14 and the market price condition that triggers holders’ conversion rights is pegged to a stock price of
$48.16. The conditions for conversion of the Notes were met in the calendar quarter ended June 30, 2007, but the
conditions were not met in each of the calendar quarters ended March 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007;
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therefore, our Notes may no longer be converted by the holders, at their option after September 30, 2007 until
such time as our stock price again exceeds the conversion threshold for the specified 20 of the last 30 consecutive
days of a calendar quarter or beginning on November 15, 2009. For more information regarding our Notes, see
“Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity
and Capital Resources—Debt”.

Restrictive covenants in our existing senior credit agreement may adversely affect us.

We must comply with operating and financing restrictions in our senior secured credit agreement. We may
also have similar restrictions with any future debt. These restrictions affect, and in many respects limit or prohibit
our ability to:

e incur additional indebtedness;

e make restricted payments, including dividends or other distributions;
. incur liens;

. make investments, including joint venture investments;

. sell assets;

e repurchase capital stock; and

*  merge or consolidate with or into other companies or sell substantially all our assets.

We are required to make mandatory payments on our existing senior secured credit agreement upon the
occurrence of certain events, including the sale of assets and the issuance of debt or equity securities, in each
case subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth in our existing senior secured credit agreement. Our
senior secured credit agreement also requires us to achieve specified financial and operating results and satisfy
set financial tests relating to our consolidated net worth and our leverage, fixed charge coverage and senior debt
ratios. These restrictions could limit our ability to plan for or react to market conditions or meet extraordinary
capital needs or otherwise could restrict our activities. In addition, our senior secured credit agreement requires
us to pay down our term loan to the extent we generate positive cash flow each fiscal year according to the terms
of the agreement. These restrictions could also adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or
capital needs or to engage in other business activities that would be in our interest.

The accounting method for convertible debt securities with net share settlement, like the 2.125%
Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes, may be subject to change.

In August 2007, the FASB issued for comment an exposure draft of a proposed FASB Staff Position APB
14-a (“Proposed FSP”) that would change the accounting for certain convertible debt instruments, including our
Notes. Under the proposed new rules for convertible debt instruments that may be settled entirely or partially in
cash upon conversion, an entity should separately account for the liability and equity components of the
instrument in a manner that reflects the issuer’s economic interest cost. The effect of the proposed new rules for
our Notes is that the equity component would be included in the paid-in-capital section of stockholders’ equity
on our balance sheet and the value of the equity component would be treated as original issue discount for
purposes of accounting for the debt component of the Notes. Higher interest expense would result by recognizing
the accretion of the discounted carrying value of the Notes to their face amount as interest expense over the term
of the Notes using an effective interest rate method of amortization. We believe the FASB plans to issue final
guidance in the first half of calendar 2008. This Proposed FSP is expected to be effective as early as our fiscal
year ended 2009, would not permit early application and would be applied retrospectively to all periods
presented. While this accounting pronouncement does not change the economic substance or cash flow
requirement for the Notes, it should be noted that the amount reported as interest expense in our Consolidated
Statement of Operations would increase significantly.
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We are currently evaluating the proposed new rules and are evaluating the impact at this time. However, if
the proposed FSP is adopted as it is proposed, we expect to have higher interest expense starting in fiscal 2009
due to the interest expense accretion and prior period interest expense associated with the Notes. The Notes
would also reflect higher than previously reported interest expense due to retrospective application.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

There are no unresolved staff comments outstanding with the Securities and Exchange Commission at this

time.

Item 2.  Properties.

As of October 28, 2007, we conduct manufacturing operations at the following facilities:

Facility

Domestic:

Chandler, Arizona
Tolleson, Arizona
Atwater, California
Lockeford, California
Rancho Cucamonga, California
Adel, Georgia

Lithia Springs, Georgia
Douglasville, Georgia
Marietta, Georgia
Tallapoosa, Georgia
Mattoon, Illinois
Shelbyville, Indiana
Monticello, lowa

MLt. Pleasant, Iowa
Oskaloosa, lowa
Nicholasville, Kentucky
Big Rapids, Michigan
Columbus, Mississippi
Jackson, Mississippi
Jackson, Mississippi
Hernando, Mississippi
Hernando, Mississippi
Omaha, Nebraska
Rome, New York
Rocky Mount, North Carolina
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
Caryville, Tennessee
Elizabethton, Tennessee
Lexington, Tennessee
Memphis, Tennessee
Ennis, Texas

Houston, Texas
Houston, Texas
Houston, Texas
Houston, Texas
Houston, Texas
Houston, Texas
Lubbock, Texas

San Antonio, Texas
Stafford, Texas

Salt Lake City, Utah
Colonial Heights, Virginia
Spokane, Washington
Foreign:

Monterrey, Mexico

Square  Owned or
Products Feet Leased

Doors and related metal components 37,975 Leased
Metal componentsh 70,956 Owned
Engineered building systems® 219,870 Owned
Engineered building systems® 155,533 Owned
Metal coil coating 111,611 Owned
Metal components() 68,809 Owned
Metal components® 125,081 Owned
Doors and related metal components 86,995 Owned
Metal coil coating 106,036 Leased
Engineered building systems® 270,800 Leased
Engineered building systems® 124,607 Owned
Metal components() 71,734 Owned
Engineered building systems® 236,500 Owned
Engineered building systems® 218,500 Owned
Metal components® 63,476 Owned
Metal components® 26,943 Owned
Metal components® 54,640 Owned
Engineered building systems® 311,775 Owned
Metal components® 171,790 Owned
Metal coil coating 363,060 Owned
Metal components() 102,752 Owned
Engineered building systems® 32,500 Owned
Metal components® 55,460 Owned
Metal components® 83,500 Owned
Engineered building systems® 254,700 Owned
Metal componentsh 61,986 Owned
Engineered building systems® 218,430 Owned
Engineered building systems® 227,341 Leased
Engineered building systems© 147,500 Owned
Metal coil coating 65,895 Owned
Metal components) 68,627 Owned
Metal components® 252,788 Owned
Metal coil coating 36,509 Owned
Engineered building systems® 477,256 Owned
Engineered building systems(? 144,680 Owned
Doors and related metal components 25,502 Owned
Sectional doors 55,939 Owned
Metal components) 95,361 Owned
Metal components® 42,400 Owned
Metal components® 153,600 Leased
Metal components® 93,508 Owned
Metal components() 104,590 Owned
Engineered building systems® 159,000 Owned
Engineered building systems© 246,075 Owned
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(M Secondary structures and metal roof and wall systems.

@ End walls, secondary structures and metal roof and wall systems for components and engineered building systems.
3 Full components product range.

®  Primary structures, secondary structures and metal roof and wall systems for engineered building systems.

®  Metal roof and wall systems.

©  Primary structures for engineered building systems.

M Structural steel.

®  Insulated panel systems.

©®  End wall framing for engineered building systems.

We also operate six NCI Metal Depots facilities that sell our products directly to the public. In addition, we
lease three facilities that serve as distribution centers for our sectional doors. We also maintain several drafting
office facilities in various states. We have short-term leases for these additional facilities. We believe that our
present facilities are adequate for our current and projected operations.

Additionally, we own approximately 7 acres of land in Houston, Texas and have a 60,000 square foot
facility that is used as our principal executive and administrative offices. Approximately 4,897 square feet of this
facility is leased to a third party for a term of ten years with approximately two years remaining on the lease
term. We also own approximately 5 acres of land at another location in Houston adjacent to one of our
manufacturing facilities. We own approximately 15 acres of undeveloped land adjacent to our Garco facility in
Spokane, Washington.

During fiscal 2007, we closed our manufacturing facility located in Hamilton, Ontario, and we sold the
facility in August 2007. We also sold our Colonial Heights, Virginia facility in August 2007 and built a new,
larger facility which was completed in July 2007. This facility is also located in Colonial Heights, Virginia.
During fiscal 2003, we closed our manufacturing facility located in Southlake, Texas, which is currently under
contract to be sold in January 2008. We have a new 31,500 square foot office building under construction in
Irving, Texas that will replace our offices in Southlake, Texas. During fiscal 2002, we closed our manufacturing
facility located in Chester, South Carolina, and we sold this facility in January 2007.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings.

In September 2003, Bethlehem Steel Corporation and several of its related entities (collectively,
“Bethlehem”) filed a preference-avoidance lawsuit against us and several of our operating subsidiaries in the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. The lawsuit was filed as part of the
Bethlehem consolidated bankruptcy proceedings, seeking reimbursement of allegedly preferential transfers made
by the respective debtors in the 90-day period preceding their bankruptcy filings. Bethlehem alleges that it made
preferential payments to our subsidiaries of approximately $7.7 million. We have denied the allegations in the
Bethlehem lawsuit and are vigorously defending against this claim. We do not believe these legal proceedings
will have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

We have discovered the existence of trichloroethylene in the ground water at our Southlake, Texas facility.
Horizontal delineation concentrations in excess of applicable residential assessment levels have not been fully
identified. We have filed an application with the Texas Commission of Environmental Quality (“TCEQ”) for
entry into the voluntary cleanup program. We expect to perform further testing in the first quarter of fiscal 2008.
The cost of required remediation, if any, will vary depending on the nature and extent of the contamination which
is expected to be determined in the first or second quarter of fiscal 2008. As of October 28, 2007, we have
accrued $0.1 million to complete site analysis and testing. At this time, we can not estimate a loss for any
potential remediation costs, but we do not believe there will be a material adverse effect on our Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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We have discovered the existence of unknown debris containing soil and paint materials in the storm-water
outfalls at our Rocky Mount, NC facility. Although formal test results are still pending, it appears that surface
concentrations of chromium may be present above the North Carolina’s “soil remediation goals.” Additional tests
to determine the nature and extent of the contamination are expected to take place in the first or second quarter of
fiscal 2008. The cost of required remediation, if any, will vary depending on the nature and extent of the
contamination. As of October 28, 2007, we have accrued $0.1 million to complete site analysis and testing. At
this time, we can not estimate a loss for any potential remediation costs, but we do not believe there will be a
material adverse effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

The New York State Department of Conservation (“DEC”) has notified H.H. Robertson Company of its
potential liability for a portion of the cleanup of the former Frontier Chemical waste handling facility in Niagara
Falls. The DEC has indicated that remediation of soils and upper bedrock groundwater will cost between
approximately $11 million and $14 million. Whether deeper bedrock ground water will need to be remediated
and the cost of any such remediation has not been determined. DEC records indicated that over a thousand
companies sent waste materials to the Frontier site from 1974 to 1992. At this time, it can not be determined
whether H.H. Robertson sent waste materials to this Frontier site, whether NCI can be construed as a successor to
H.H. Robertson, or whether potential liabilities with this site exceed applicable materiality thresholds.
Furthermore, any share of alleged potential liability allocable to H.H. Robertson cannot be determined at this
time, but we do not believe there will be a material adverse effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

From time to time, we are involved in various other legal proceedings and contingencies, including
environmental matters, considered to be in the ordinary course of business. While we are not able to predict
whether we will incur any liability in excess of insurance coverages or to accurately estimate the damages, or the
range of damages, if any, we might incur in connection with these legal proceedings, we believe these legal
proceedings and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial position or
results of operations.

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

Our common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “NCS.” As of December 10, 2007, there were
84 holders of record and approximately 9,600 beneficial owners of our common stock. The following table sets
forth the quarterly high and low sale prices of our common stock, as reported by the NYSE, for the prior two
fiscal years. We have never paid dividends on our common stock and the terms of our senior credit facility
restrict our ability to do so.

Fiscal Year 2007 Fiscal Year 2006

M High Low w High Low
January 28 ............... ... $61.12 $49.74 January 29 .............. $50.54 $40.08
April29 ... ... $60.61 $45.38 April30 ............. ... $68.10  $48.65
July29 ... $52.93 $47.81 July30 . ...l $70.00 $47.31
October28 . ..... ... ... ..., $52.07 $36.35 October29.............. $62.50 $45.80

The following table shows our purchases of our common stock during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007:

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

(d) Maximum

Number (or
(c¢) Total Number Approximate
of Shares Dollar Value) of
Purchased as Part ~ Shares that May
(a) Total Number (b) Average Price of Publicly Yet be Purchased
of Shares Paid per Share Announced Plans  Under the Plans or
Period Purchased (or Unit) or Programs Programs®
July 30, 2007 to August 26,2007 . ... ... 155,000 46.46 155,000 953,892
August 27, 2007 to September 23,
2007 166,700 44.96 166,700 787,192
September 24, 2007 to October 28,
2007 141,100 42.85 141,100 646,092
Total ......... ... ... . ... ... . ...... 462,800 44.82 462,800 646,092

M Our board of directors has authorized a stock repurchase program. Subject to applicable federal securities
law, such purchases occur at times and in amounts that we deem appropriate. Shares repurchased are used
primarily for later re-issuance in connection with our equity incentive and 401(k) profit sharing plans. On
February 28, 2007, we publicly announced that our board of directors authorized the repurchase of an
additional 1.0 million shares of our common stock. There is no time limit on the duration of the program.
During fiscal 2007, we repurchased 0.8 million shares of our common stock. At October 28, 2007, there
were 0.6 million shares remaining authorized for repurchase under the program.

STOCK PERFORMANCE CHART

The following chart compares the yearly percentage change in the cumulative stockholder return on our
common stock from November 2, 2002 to the end of the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007 with the cumulative
total return on the New York Stock Exchange Index and the Hemscott Industry Group 634—General Building
Materials, a peer group. The comparison assumes $100 was invested on November 2, 2002 in our common stock
and in each of the foregoing indices and assumes reinvestment of dividends.
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In accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, the above stock performance chart shall not be
deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC or subject to Regulations 14A or 14C of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act and shall not be deemed
to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act,
notwithstanding any general incorporation by reference of this proxy statement into any other filed document.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The selected financial data for each of the three fiscal years ended October 28, 2007 and as of October 28,
2007 and October 29, 2006 has been derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements included
elsewhere herein. The selected financial data for each of the two fiscal years ended October 30, 2004 and as of
October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004 and November 1, 2003 have been derived from audited Consolidated
Financial Statements not included herein. The following data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the audited Consolidated
Financial Statements and the notes thereto included under “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
In thousands, except per share data

Sales ... $1,624,273 $1,570,482 $1,130,066 $1,084,863 $898,150
Netincome . ..........cuviiniineeneennnn.. 63,729 73,796 55,951 44,8900 22,800
Earnings per share:

Basic ....... ... .. 3.25 3.70 2.73 2.28 1.21

Diluted .......... ... ... ... . ... ... .. ... 3.06 3.45 2.68 2.24M 1.20
Cash flow from operating activities ............ 137,625 121,514 118,267 23,730 69,268
Total assets . ...........oviiiiieiennnn.. 1,343,058 1,299,701 990,219 786,426 713,160
Totaldebt ............ ... ... .. ... ... 497,037 497,984 373,000 216,700 248,750
Stockholders’ equity . ....................... $ 539,696 $ 498,409 $ 444,144 $ 401,177 $331,751
Average common shares (assuming dilution) . . . .. 20,793 21,395 20,857 19,996 18,969

M Includes loss on debt refinancing of $9.9 million ($5.8 million after tax) in fiscal 2004.
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Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
OVERVIEW

The Company is one of North America’s largest integrated manufacturers and marketers of metal products
for the nonresidential construction industry. We provide metal coil coating services and design, engineer,
manufacture and market metal components and engineered building systems primarily for nonresidential
construction use. We manufacture and distribute extensive lines of metal products for the nonresidential
construction market under multiple brand names through a nationwide network of plants and distribution centers.
We sell our products for both new construction and repair and retrofit applications.

Metal components offers builders, designers, architects and end-users several advantages, including lower
long-term costs, longer life, attractive aesthetics and design flexibility. Similarly, engineered building systems
offers a number of advantages over traditional construction alternatives, including shorter construction time,
more efficient use of materials, lower construction costs, greater ease of expansion and lower maintenance costs.

We use a 52/53 week year with our fiscal year end on the Sunday closest to October 31. On December 22,
2005, our Board of Directors adopted a change in fiscal year end effective for fiscal 2006 from the Saturday
closest to October 31 to the Sunday closest to October 31, with each fiscal quarter within the year ending on
Sunday. This change, which added one calendar day to fiscal 2006, did not have a material impact on our results
of operations.

In planning for fiscal 2007, we had expected our market to grow by 2% in line with McGraw-Hill’s forecast
for 2007 of increases in new construction starts measured in square feet. However, the low-rise nonresidential
market actually declined by 4.4% during our fiscal year. We expected to ship 10% more steel than 2006. Instead,
we shipped 3% less tons but generated revenue growth of 3.4%. We had an excellent operating performance in
our engineered building systems segment and good operating performance in our metal coil coating segment but
could not overcome a weak result from our metal components segment.

During fiscal 2007, we were pleased with our ability to maintain or improve our profit margins, which
enabled us to meet or exceed all our profit margin goals for the fiscal year, inspite of the decline in volumes. This
margin performance was the result of the substantial operating margin improvement on third-party sales we
produced in fiscal 2007 in our engineered building systems and metal coil coating segments versus fiscal 20006,
along with the strong improvement in our metal components margin for the second half of fiscal 2007 compared
with the first half of fiscal 2007. The operating progress inherent in this accomplishment reflected continued
metal components segment commercial discipline and increasing synergies in the metal building systems
segment resulting from the RCC acquisition. In addition, we experienced increasing favorable base-loading of
our metal coil coating capacity and increased operating margin from increased intersegment sales primarily
related to RCC.

We spent $42 million in capital expenditures, $15.4 million to acquire Garco and bought back 757,900
shares for $35.2 million. We ended the fiscal year with $75 million in cash.

Industry Conditions

Our sales and earnings are influenced by general economic conditions, interest rates, the price of steel
relative to other building materials, the level of nonresidential construction activity, roof repair and retrofit
demand and the availability and cost of financing for construction projects. During fiscal 2007, McGraw-Hill
estimated that low-rise new construction starts for buildings less than five stories declined by 4.4% in square feet.
However, we were able to improve our consolidated gross margins to 24.8% in fiscal 2007 compared with 24.4%
in fiscal 2006.

One of the primary challenges we face both short and long term is the volatility in the price of steel. Our
business is heavily dependent on the price and supply of steel. For the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007, steel
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represented approximately 73% of our costs of goods sold. The steel industry is highly cyclical in nature, and
steel prices have been volatile in recent years and may remain volatile in the future. Steel prices are influenced by
numerous factors beyond our control, including general economic conditions domestically and internationally,
competition, labor costs, production costs, import duties and other trade restrictions.

We do not have any long-term contracts for the purchase of steel and normally do not maintain an inventory
of steel in excess of our current production requirements. However, from time to time, we may purchase steel in
advance of announced steel price increases. We can give no assurance that steel will remain available or that
prices will not continue to be volatile. While most of our contracts have escalation clauses that allow us, under
certain circumstances, to pass along all or a portion of increases in the price of steel after the date of the contract
but prior to delivery, we may, for competitive or other reasons, not be able to pass such price increases along. If
the available supply of steel declines, we could experience price increases that we are not able to pass on to our
customers, a deterioration of service from our suppliers or interruptions or delays that may cause us not to meet
delivery schedules to our customers. Any of these problems could adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition. For additional discussion please see “—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Steel Prices” and
“Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk—Steel Prices.”

In assessing the state of the metal construction market, we rely upon various industry associations, third
party research, and various government reports such as industrial production and capacity utilization. One such
industry association is the MBMA, which provides summary member sales information and promotes the design
and construction of metal buildings and metal roofing systems. Another is McGraw-Hill Construction
Information Group, which we look to for reports of actual and forecasted growth in various construction related
industries, including the overall nonresidential construction market. McGraw-Hill’s construction forecast for
2008 indicates a total nonresidential construction reduction of 6% in square footage and 2% in dollar value.

We assess performance across our business segments by analyzing and evaluating (i) gross profit, operating
income and whether or not each segment has achieved its projected sales goals, and (ii) non-financial efficiency
indicators such as revenue per employee, man hours per ton of steel produced and shipped tons per employee. In
assessing our overall financial performance, we regard return on adjusted operating assets, as well as growth in
earnings per share, as key indicators of shareholder value.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents, as a percentage of sales, certain selected consolidated financial data for the
periods indicated:

Fiscal year ended
October 28, October 29,  October 29,

2007 2006 2005

Sales . 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costof sales. . ... 75.2 75.6 75.3
Gross Profit ... ...u i 24.8 244 24.7
Selling, general and administrative €Xpenses . ... .................... 16.7 15.7 15.5
Income from operations . .......... ... 8.1 8.7 9.2
Interest INCOME . . . ...t i e e e 0.0 0.3 0.5
INEETeSt XPENSE .« . v vttt et e (1.8) (1.5) (1.3)
Other INCOME, NEL . . . oo e e e e e e e 0.1 0.1 0.1
Income before INCOME taXES . .. ...ttt 6.4 7.6 8.5
Provision for income taxes . .............o i 2.5 2.9 3.5
NEtINCOME . .\ttt e e e e e e 3.9% 4.7% 5.0%




SUPPLEMENTARY BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

We have aggregated our operations into three reportable segments based upon similarities in product lines,
manufacturing processes, marketing and management of our businesses: metal coil coating, metal components
and engineered building systems. All segments operate primarily in the nonresidential construction market. Sales
and earnings are influenced by general economic conditions, the level of nonresidential construction activity,
metal roof repair and retrofit demand and the availability and terms of financing available for construction.

Products of all business segments are made from similar basic raw materials. The metal coil coating
segment consists of cleaning, treating, painting and slitting continuous steel coils before the steel is fabricated.
The metal components segment products include metal roof and wall panels, doors, metal partitions, metal trim
and other related accessories. The engineered building systems segment includes the manufacturing of main
frames, Long Bay® Systems and value added engineering and drafting, which are typically not part of metal
components or metal coil coating products or services. The reporting segments follow the same accounting
policies used for our Consolidated Financial Statements. We evaluate a segment’s performance based primarily
upon operating income before corporate expenses.

Intersegment sales are recorded based on standard material costs plus a standard markup to cover labor and
overhead and consist of: (i) hot rolled, light gauge painted, and slit material and other services provided by the
metal coil coating segment to both the metal components and engineered building systems segments, (ii) building
components provided by the metal components segment to the engineered building systems segment, and
(iii) structural framing provided by the engineered building systems segment to the metal components segment.
Segment information is included in Note 20 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table represents sales, operating income and total assets attributable to these business
segments for the periods indicated (in thousands, except percentages):

2007 % 2006 % 2005 %
Sales:
Metal coil coating . ........... ..., $ 272,543 17 $ 278814 18 $ 232,648 20
Metal components . ..............ouiiiiiann... 715,033 44 771,200 49 653,717 58
Engineered building systems .. .................. 969,047 60 822,963 52 474,368 42
Intersegment sales ............................ (332,350) g) (302,495) (19)  (230,667) (20)
Total Net SaAleS . ..o vt $1,624,273 100 $1,570,482 100 $1,130,066 100
Operating income:
Metal coil coating . ........................... $ 25,135 9 $ 24,948 9 $ 20,157 9
Metal components . ...............iiiiia... 60,265 8 91,998 12 76,410 12
Engineered building systems .. .................. 101,798 11 71,962 9 47,678 10
COrporate . .. ...ovint et (56,259) — (51,621) — (39,775) —
Total operating income (% of sales) .............. $ 130,939 8 $ 137,287 9 $ 104,470 9
Unallocated other expense . ................ 26,114 18,255 8,259
Income before income taxes ............ $ 104,825 $ 119,032 $ 96,211
Total assets as of fiscal year end 2007 and 2006:
Metal coil coating . ........... ..., $ 180,930 13 $ 193,050 15
Metal components . ..............ouiiiinan.... 363,888 27 374,233 29
Engineered building systems .. .................. 695,880 52 679,671 52
COrporate . .. ..ove ettt 102,360 _8 52,747 _4
Total aSSets .. .. ..ottt $1,343,058 100 $1,299,701 100

Corporate assets consist primarily of cash but also include deferred financing costs and property, plant and
equipment associated with our headquarters in Houston, Texas. These items (and income and expenses related to
these items) are not allocated to the segments.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR FISCAL 2007 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2006

Consolidated sales for fiscal 2007 increased 3.4%, or $53.8 million, over fiscal 2006. This increase was
primarily due to sales of $144.3 million and $26.7 million relating to the RCC and Garco acquisitions,
respectively, partially offset by decreased tonnage volumes in the engineered building systems and metal
components segments. Lower tonnage volumes in the engineered building systems and metal components
segments in fiscal 2007 compared with fiscal 2006 were driven by softer demand for our products resulting from
the 4.4% reduction in low-rise nonresidential square footage starts as reported by McGraw Hill.

Consolidated cost of sales increased 2.9% for fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006. Gross margins were
24.8% for fiscal 2007 compared to 24.4% for the prior year. The increase in the gross margin percentage was a
result of increased margins at the engineered building systems and metal coil coating segments, partially offset
by decreased margins at the metal components segment. The gross margins in our engineered building systems
segment were higher due to increased sales volumes as a result of the RCC and Garco acquisitions and higher
material costs which were effectively passed on to our customers. The metal coil coating segment margins were
higher due to a change in product mix from package sales of coated steel products to tolling revenue for coating
services and increased capacity utilization from increased intersegment sales volume. The lower margins in the
metal components segment resulted from higher material costs, primarily steel costs, which were not entirely
passed on to customers, particularly in the first half of fiscal 2007, and lower sales volumes produced over a
fixed cost base.

Metal coil coating sales decreased $6.3 million to $272.5 million in fiscal 2007, compared to $278.8 million
in the prior fiscal year. Sales to third parties for fiscal 2007 decreased 29.1% to $83.6 million from $117.9
million in the prior fiscal year, partially as a result of a shift in product mix from package sales of coated steel
products to tolling revenue for coating services. This decrease was partially offset by an increase of $28.0 million
in intersegment sales. Metal coil coating third-party sales accounted for 5.1% of total consolidated third-party
sales in fiscal 2007 compared with 7.5% in fiscal 2006.

Operating income of the metal coil coating segment increased by 0.7% to $25.1 million, compared to $24.9
million in the prior fiscal year primarily due to increased gross margins as a result of the shift from package
processing to toll processing. Toll processing sales produce higher margin dollars per ton versus package sales,
as a percentage of revenue. The dominant component of the price in package sales is steel which only allows for
a minimal mark-up. As a percentage of segment sales, operating income in fiscal 2007 was 9.2% compared to
8.9% in fiscal 2006.

Metal components sales decreased $56.2 million to $715.0 million in fiscal 2007, compared to $771.2
million in the prior year. Sales were down primarily due to a 10.2% decrease in external tons shipped. This
reduction was the result of the decrease in low-rise nonresidential construction starts in fiscal 2007 versus fiscal
2006 and particularly weak market conditions in the first half of fiscal 2007. Sales to third parties for fiscal 2007
decreased $57.5 million to $613.3 million from $670.8 million in prior year. This decrease was partially offset by
a $1.3 million increase in intersegment sales. Metal components third-party sales accounted for 37.8% of total
consolidated third-party sales in fiscal 2007 compared to 42.7% in fiscal 2006.

Operating income of the metal components segment decreased 34.5% in fiscal 2007 to $60.3 million,
compared to $92.0 million in the same period of the prior year. This $31.7 million decrease resulted primarily
from a $37.2 million decrease in gross profit, partially offset by a $5.5 million decrease in selling and
administrative expenses. The decrease in gross profit resulted from the decrease in sales volume and margin
compression, particularly in the first half of fiscal 2007, resulting from large amounts of steel inventory
oversupply in the marketplace. The decrease in selling and administrative expenses was due to a decrease of $3.7
million in incentive compensation and related costs and decreases of other various expenses.

Engineered building systems sales increased $146.1 million to $969.0 million in fiscal 2007, compared to
$823.0 million in the prior year’s period. Of this increase, sales of $144.3 million and $26.7 million were
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attributable to the RCC and Garco acquisitions, respectively, which were partially offset by a 14.7% decrease in
external tons shipped. The decrease in volume resulted from the 4.4% decrease in nonresidential construction
starts and our effort to improve gross margins by avoiding high volume, low margin projects. Sales to third
parties for fiscal 2007 increased $145.6 million to $927.4 million from $781.8 million in the prior fiscal year.
The remaining $0.5 million represents an increase in intersegment sales for fiscal 2007. Engineered building
systems third-party sales accounted for 57.1% of total consolidated third-party sales in fiscal 2007 compared to
49.8% in fiscal 2006.

Operating income of the engineered building systems segment increased 41.4% in fiscal 2007 to $101.8
million, compared to $72.0 million in the prior fiscal year. This $29.8 million increase resulted from a $56.5
million increase in gross profit, partially offset by a $26.6 million increase in selling and administrative expenses.
The recent RCC acquisition accounted for $41.5 million of the increased gross profit and $24.0 million of
increased selling and administrative costs. The recent Garco acquisition accounted for $7.3 million of the
increased gross profit and $5.2 million of the increased selling and administrative costs. The increase in selling
and administrative expenses was partially offset by a decrease in incentive compensation costs of $3.6 million.

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses, consisting of engineering, drafting, selling and
administrative costs, increased to $271.9 million in fiscal 2007 compared to $246.0 million in the prior fiscal
year. Of this $25.8 million increase, $24.0 million and $5.2 million resulted from the recent RCC and Garco
acquisitions, respectively. In addition, we experienced increases in consulting and professional costs of $1.7
million and increases of other various expenses. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $9.6
million in incentive compensation costs. As a percentage of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses
were 16.7% for fiscal 2007 as compared to 15.7% for fiscal 2006.

Consolidated interest income for fiscal 2007 decreased by 86.4% to $0.7 million, compared to $5.4 million
for the prior fiscal year. This decrease was primarily due to excess cash being used for acquisitions and to pay
down our borrowings and our purchases of our common stock on the open market.

Consolidated interest expense for fiscal 2007 increased by 15.7% to $28.8 million, compared to $24.9
million for the prior fiscal year. This increase was primarily due to the increase in borrowings of $200.0 million
to complete the RCC acquisition in April of 2006. In addition, during fiscal 2007, we temporarily utilized up to
$44.0 million in borrowings on the revolving credit facility as compared to no amounts utilized during the same
period in fiscal 2006. During June 2006, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement relating to $160 million
of the $400 million Term Loan due June 2010 to manage our risk associated with changing interest rates.

Consolidated provision for income taxes for fiscal 2007 decreased 9.2% to $41.1 million, compared to $45.2
million for the prior fiscal year. The decrease was primarily due to a $14.2 million decrease in pre-tax earnings,
partially offset by an increase in the effective tax rate. The effective tax rate for fiscal 2007 was 39.2% compared
to 38.0% for the prior fiscal year. The effective tax rate increased primarily due to the new Texas margin tax and
the increase in the valuation allowance related to the Canadian net operating loss carryover.

Diluted earnings per share for fiscal 2007 decreased 11.3% to $3.06 per diluted share, compared to $3.45
per diluted share for the prior fiscal year. The decrease was primarily due to a $10.1 million decrease in net
income, partially offset by a decrease in the number of weighted average shares assumed to be outstanding in the
diluted earnings per share calculation. During fiscal 2007, we repurchased 0.8 million shares of common stock
which correspondingly reduced the weighted average shares outstanding in the diluted earnings per share
calculation. The dilution effect of the Notes was $0.15 per share in fiscal 2007 compared to $0.18 per share in
fiscal 2006.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR FISCAL 2006 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2005

Consolidated sales for fiscal 2006 were $1.6 billion compared with $1.1 billion for fiscal 2005. Sales were
up 39.0%, or $440.4 million. Of this increase, $286.6 million was a result of the RCC acquisition, and the
remainder resulted primarily from increased tonnage volumes in all three segments. Higher tonnage volumes
were driven by an improving market for nonresidential construction.

Consolidated cost of sales increased 39.6% for fiscal 2006 to $1,187.2 million, compared with $850.7
million for fiscal 2005. Gross margins were 24.4% for fiscal 2006 compared to 24.7% for the same prior year
period. The decrease in gross margin percentage was a result of decreased margins at the engineered building
systems segment, partially offset by increased margins at the metal coil coating and metal components segments.
The gross margins for engineered building systems were lower due to the presence of large low margin structural
projects and a higher number of lower margin higher complexity projects compared to prior periods as well as
higher material costs, which were not fully passed on to customers. The higher margins in the metal components
segment resulted from higher sales volume driven by higher third-party sales over a fixed manufacturing cost
base and increased sales prices. The metal coil coating margins were higher due to a larger increase in sales
prices over material costs as well as a change in product mix.

Metal coil coating sales increased $46.2 million to $278.8 million in fiscal 2006, from $232.6 million in the
prior fiscal year. Sales to third parties for fiscal 2006 increased $7.1 million to $117.9 million, from $110.8
million in the prior fiscal year. The remaining increase of $39.1 million represents an increase in intersegment
sales to $160.9 million for fiscal 2006 from $121.9 million in the prior fiscal year. Metal coil coating third-party
sales accounted for 7.5% of total consolidated third-party sales in fiscal 2006 compared with 9.8% in fiscal 2005.

Operating income of the metal coil coating segment increased by 23.8% to $24.9 million, compared to $20.2
million in the prior fiscal year primarily due to increased gross margin. The increase in gross margin primarily
resulted from increased sales prices over material costs as well as a change in product mix. In addition, operating
income during the third quarter benefited from a $1.1 million property tax reduction. As a percentage of segment
sales, operating income in fiscal 2006 was 8.9% compared to 8.7% in fiscal 2005.

Metal components sales increased $117.5 million to $771.2 million in fiscal 2006, compared to $653.7
million in the prior year. Sales were up primarily due to a 17.4% increase in external tons shipped. Sales to third
parties for fiscal 2006 increased $103.8 million to $670.8 million from $567.0 million in prior year. The
remaining $13.7 million represents an increase in intersegment sales. Metal components third-party sales
accounted for 42.7% of total consolidated third-party sales in fiscal 2006 compared to 50.2% in fiscal 2005.

Operating income of the metal components segment increased 20.4% in fiscal 2006 to $92.0 million,
compared to $76.4 million in the same period of the prior year. This $15.6 million increase resulted primarily
from a $24.9 million increase in gross profit, partially offset by a $9.3 million increase in selling and
administrative expenses. Of the increased costs, $2.7 million resulted from increased variable selling costs on
higher sales activity and $1.8 million resulted from the inclusion of Heritage Building Systems (“Heritage”) and
Steelbuilding.com, Inc. (“Steelbuilding.com™) for the full period in 2006 as compared to a partial period in the
prior year. The remaining increase resulted from primarily $1.8 million in higher bonus and incentive expenses
over prior fiscal year and an increase of $1.5 million in bad debt expense over prior fiscal year.

Engineered building systems sales increased $348.6 million to $823.0 million in fiscal 2006, compared to
$474.4 million in the prior year’s period. Of the increase, $286.6 million was attributable to the RCC acquisition
and the remainder resulted primarily from a 10.1% increase in external tons shipped from our legacy operations.
Sales to third parties for fiscal 2006 increased $329.5 million to $781.8 million from $452.3 million in the prior
fiscal year. The remaining $19.1 million represents an increase in intersegment sales for fiscal 2006. Engineered
building systems third-party sales accounted for 49.8% of total consolidated third-party sales in fiscal 2006
compared to 40.0% in fiscal 2005.
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Operating income of the engineered building systems segment increased 50.9% in fiscal 2006 to $72.0
million, compared to $47.7 million in the prior fiscal year. This $24.3 million increase resulted from a $75.2
million increase in gross profit, partially offset by a $50.8 million increase in selling and administrative expenses.
The recent RCC acquisition accounted for $41.9 million of the increase in selling and administrative costs. The
remaining increase in expenses was primarily due to an increase of $5.1 million in variable engineering and
selling expenses on higher sales activity, an increase of $1.5 million in 401(k) and health benefit costs, an
increase of $1.4 million in bonus expense and a $1.0 million increase due to a prior period benefit of a settlement
of a suit against a former employee.

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses, consisting of engineering, drafting, selling and
administrative costs, increased to $246.0 million in fiscal 2006 compared to $174.9 million in the prior fiscal
year. Of this $71.1 million increase, $41.9 million resulted from the recent RCC acquisition, $6.8 million was the
result of increased bonus and incentive expense on increased earnings, $5.6 million resulted from increased
variable selling costs, $3.9 million resulted from an increase in engineering expenses on increased sales activity
and $3.4 million resulted from an increase in share-based compensation expense related primarily to the adoption
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 123(R). The remaining increase was primarily the
result of $1.8 million from the inclusion of Heritage and Steelbuilding.com for the full first quarter of 2006 as
compared to only part of the corresponding quarter in 2005, $1.7 million higher information technology
spending, a $1.6 million increase due to a prior period benefit of a settlement of a suit against a former employee
and higher bad debt expense of $1.5 million over an unusually low prior year and was partially offset by a $1.4
million reduction in contract labor related to Sarbanes-Oxley compliance. In addition to these items, we
experienced general increases in administrative costs resulting from the on-going implementation of Oracle 11i
and the continuing costs of complying with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. As a percentage of sales, selling,
general and administrative expenses were 15.7% for fiscal 2006 as compared to 15.5% for fiscal 2005.

Consolidated interest expense for fiscal 2006 increased by 72.3% to $24.9 million, compared to $14.5
million for the prior fiscal year. This increase was primarily due to the increase in borrowings of $200.0 million
to complete the RCC acquisition and substantial increases in interest rates on variable rate borrowings under our
senior secured credit facility. During June 2006, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement relating to $160
million of the $400 million Term Loan due June 2010 to manage our risk associated with changing interest rates.

Consolidated provision for income taxes for fiscal 2006 increased 12.4% to $45.2 million, compared to
$40.3 million for the prior fiscal year. The increase was primarily due to a $22.8 million increase in pre-tax
earnings, partially offset by a decrease in the effective tax rate from 41.8% for fiscal 2005 to 38.0% for fiscal
2006. The decrease in the effective tax rate was in large part due to non-recurring adjustments made in fiscal
2005 and the effect of the recently enacted production activities deduction which is expected to be approximately
$3.1 million for the year. In addition, approximately $0.5 million of non-recurring adjustments were made during
fiscal 2006 related to state tax matters, which reduced the effective tax rate for 2006.

Diluted earnings per share for fiscal 2006 increased 28.7% to $3.45 per diluted share, compared to $2.68
per diluted share for the prior fiscal year. The increase was primarily due to a $22.8 million increase in net
income, partially offset by an increase in the number of weighted average shares assumed to be outstanding in
the diluted earnings per share calculation. During fiscal 2006, we repurchased 0.8 million shares of common
stock which correspondingly reduced the weighted average shares outstanding in the diluted earnings per share
calculation. However, these reductions were more than offset by the number of shares assumed to be converted
and outstanding as if the holders of our Notes had converted the Notes at the average 2006 share price, which
increased the assumed shares outstanding by 1.1 million shares. The incremental shares that we would have been
required to issue had the Notes been converted at the average trading price during the period have been included
in the diluted earnings per share calculation because our average stock trading price had exceeded the $40.14
conversion threshold.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
General

On October 28, 2007, we had working capital of $129.6 million compared to $132.0 million at the end of
fiscal 2006, a $2.4 million decrease. Our cash and cash equivalents increased $50.0 million to $75.1 million at
the end of fiscal 2007 from $25.0 million at October 29, 2006. The increase primarily resulted from $137.6
million of cash provided by operating activities. This increase was partially offset by $56.4 million of cash used
in investing activities and $31.6 million of cash used in financing activities due to the borrowings and
repayments on the revolving line of credit and stock repurchases. The cash provided by operating activities was
positively impacted by a $36.8 million decrease in current assets and a $2.2 million increase in current liabilities
from the end of fiscal 2006. The decrease in current assets is related to decreases in inventory and accounts
receivable. The increase in current liabilities is related to the increase in accounts payable, partially offset by a
decrease in other current liabilities. The cash used in investing activities was primarily related to $42.0 million
used for capital expenditures primarily related to land and building, an equipment lease buyout, computer
software and equipment. In addition, we paid $20.1 million in cash related to the Garco and RCC acquisitions.

We invest our excess cash in commercial paper with maturities up to 90 days and with a rating of not less
than A-1 or P-1.

Debt

Credit Facility. Our senior secured credit facility includes a $125 million five-year revolving credit facility
maturing on June 18, 2009 with a sub-facility for letters of credit of a maximum of $50 million and a $400
million term loan maturing June 18, 2010. The term loan requires principal payments of $1.0 million each quarter
and a final payment of $374.7 million at maturity. However, we made additional principal payments during fiscal
2006 and, as a result, will not be required to make any more principal payments until the maturity date except
under the mandatory prepayment provisions in our senior secured credit facility. At October 28, 2007 under the
mandatory prepayment provisions of our senior secured credit facility, an excess cash flow calculation requires
that $21.4 million of our term loan be paid within ninety days after the end of our fiscal year. Therefore, $21.4
million of our term loan has been classified as a current obligation at October 28, 2007. In addition, the credit
facility provides for an incremental facility of $180 million to fund the payment of the cash portion of the
conversion price from any future conversions of our 2.125% convertible senior subordinated notes due 2024. At
October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, letters of credit totaling approximately $14.1 million and $15.9 million,
respectively, were outstanding under the revolving credit facility. At both October 28, 2007 and October 29,
2006, $315.0 million was outstanding under the term loan.

Loans under the senior secured credit facility bear interest, at our option, as follows: (1) base rate loans at
the base rate plus a margin, which for term loans is 0.5% and for revolving loans fluctuates based on our leverage
ratio and ranges from 0.25% to 1.25%, and (2) LIBOR loans at LIBOR plus a margin, which for term loans is
1.50% and for revolving loans fluctuates based on our leverage ratio and ranges from 1.25% to 2.25%. Base rate
is defined as the higher of the Wachovia Bank, National Association prime rate or the overnight Federal Funds
rate and LIBOR is defined as the applicable London interbank offered rate adjusted for reserves. Based on our
current leverage ratios, we will pay a margin of 0.75% on base rate loans and 1.75% on LIBOR loans under the
revolving credit facility and a margin of 0.50% on base rate loans and 1.50% on LIBOR loans under the term
loan facility during the first quarter of fiscal 2008.

The senior secured credit facility is secured by (1) 100% of our accounts receivable, inventory and
equipment and related assets such as our software, chattel paper, instruments and contract rights (excluding
foreign operations) and (2) 100% of the capital stock and other equity interests in each of our direct and indirect
operating domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the capital stock in each of our foreign subsidiaries.
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The senior secured credit facility requires compliance with various covenants and provisions customary for
agreements of this nature, including a restricted payments test, minimum ratio of Consolidated EBITDA (as
defined in the senior secured credit facility) to interest expense of 4.0 to 1 and maximum ratios of total debt and
senior debt to Consolidated EBITDA of 4.0 to 1 and 3.0 to 1, respectively. After May 1, 2008 the senior debt
ratio will change to a maximum ratio of 2.75 to 1 and the interest coverage ratio minimum will change to 5.0 to
1. The leverage ratio will remain the same. At October 28, 2007, our interest coverage, leverage, and senior debt
ratios were 6.32, 2.89 and 1.87, respectively, and we were in compliance with all ratio requirements and
covenants in our senior credit facility. At October 29, 2006, our interest coverage, leverage, and senior debt ratios
were 8.19, 2.55 and 1.64, respectively, and we were in compliance with all ratio requirements and covenants in
our senior credit facility. The senior secured credit facility also restricts our ability to undertake additional debt
and/or equity financing.

At October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, we had approximately $110.9 million and $109.1 million,
respectively, in unused borrowing capacity (net of letters of credit outstanding of approximately $14.1 million
and $15.9 million, respectively) under the revolving credit facility, of which a total of $50.0 million may be
utilized for standby letters of credit at both October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006. In addition, we have $180.0
million of borrowing capacity under the incremental facility.

Notes. In November 2004, we completed an offering of $180 million aggregate principal amount of Notes
with interest payable semi-annually. Interest on the Notes is not deductible for income tax purposes, which
creates a permanent tax difference that is reflected in our effective tax rate. For more information, see Note 12 to
our Consolidated Financial Statements under “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”. The Notes
are general unsecured obligations and are subordinated to our present and future senior indebtedness.

We have the right to redeem the Notes, beginning on November 20, 2009, for a price equal to 100% of the
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Each holder has the right to require that we repurchase
the Notes after five, 10 and 15 years at 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any,
beginning November 15, 2009. Upon the occurrence of certain designated events, holders of the Notes will also
have the right to require that we purchase all or some of their Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, and, in certain circumstances, a make whole premium.
We must pay the repurchase price of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes in cash unless prohibited by
limitations imposed by our existing or future senior credit facilities. The Notes are convertible into cash or, in
certain circumstances, a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, at a ratio of 24.9121 shares of
common stock per $1,000 principal amount notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of
approximately $40.14 per common share. The ratio is subject to adjustments if certain events take place, and
holders may convert only if the closing sale price per common share exceeds 120% of the conversion price for at
least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading day period ending on the last trading day of the preceding
calendar quarter. At both October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, $180 million principal amount of the Notes
was outstanding. Our stock price exceeded the conversion threshold of the Notes for at least 20 trading days in
each of the 30 consecutive trading day period ended June 30, 2007, but our stock price did not exceed the
conversion threshold of the Notes for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading day periods ended
March 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007. Therefore, our Notes currently may not be converted until such time as
our stock price again exceeds the conversion threshold for the specified 20 of the last 30 consecutive trading days
of a calendar quarter or beginning on November 15, 2009.

In August 2007, the FASB issued for comment an exposure draft of a proposed FASB Staff Position APB
14-a (“Proposed FSP”) that would change the accounting for certain convertible debt instruments, including our
Notes. Under the proposed new rules, for convertible debt instruments that may be settled entirely or partially in
cash upon conversion, an entity should separately account for the liability and equity components of the
instrument in a manner that reflects the issuer’s economic interest cost. The effect of the proposed new rules for
our Notes is that the equity component would be included in the paid-in-capital section of stockholders’ equity
on our balance sheet and the value of the equity component would be treated as an original issue discount for
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purposes of accounting for the debt component of the Notes. Higher interest expense would result by recognizing
the accretion of the discounted carrying value of the Notes to their face amount as interest expense over the term
of the Notes using an effective interest rate method of amortization. We believe the FASB plans to issue final
guidance in the first half of calendar 2008. This Proposed FSP is expected to be effective as early as our fiscal
year ended 2009, would not permit early application and would be applied retrospectively to all periods
presented. While this accounting pronouncement does not change the economic substance or cash flow
requirements for the Notes, it should be noted that the amount reported as interest expense in our Consolidated
Statement of Operations would increase significantly.

We are currently evaluating the proposed new rules and are evaluating the impact at this time. However, if
the Proposed FSP is adopted as it is proposed we expect to have higher interest expense starting in fiscal 2009
due to the accretion of the discounted carrying value of the Notes to their face amount. The Notes would also
reflect higher than previously reported interest expense due to retrospective application.

Interest Rate Swap

On June 15, 2006, we entered into a forward interest rate swap transaction (the “Swap Agreement”) hedging
a portion of our $400 million variable rate Term Loan due June 2010 with a notional amount of $160 million
beginning October 11, 2006. The notional amount decreased to $145 million on October 11, 2007 and will
further decrease on each of October 14, 2008 and October 13, 2009 to $105 million and $65 million,
respectively. The term of the Swap Agreement is four years. Under the Swap Agreement, we will pay a fixed rate
of 5.55% on a quarterly basis in exchange for receiving floating rate payments based on the three-month LIBOR
rate.

We utilize interest rate swaps to manage our risk associated with changing interest rates and account for
them under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, as amended
(“SFAS 133”). SFAS 133 requires that all derivatives be marked to market (fair value). We do not purchase or
hold any derivative instruments for trading purposes.

We designated our Swap Agreement as a cash flow hedge, as defined by SFAS 133. The fair value of the
Swap Agreement, which is adjusted quarterly, is recorded in other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet and the unrealized loss is recorded in other comprehensive income. Amounts recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over the term
of the related hedge.

The fair value of the Swap Agreement, excluding accrued interest, at October 28, 2007 and October 29,
20006, was a liability of approximately $3.2 million and $2.3 million, respectively. Fair value estimates presented
for the Swap Agreement were determined based on the present value of all future cash flows, the fixed rate in the
contract and assumptions regarding forward interest rates from a yield curve. The Swap Agreement resulted in
$0.3 million additional interest expense during fiscal 2007.

We are exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparty on the Swap Agreement.
If the counterparty fails to meet the terms of the agreement, our exposure is limited to the net amount that would
have been received, if any, over the remaining life of the Swap Agreement. We do not anticipate nonperformance
as the contract is with a creditworthy counterparty and no material loss would be expected from nonperformance
by the counterparty.

Cash Flow

We periodically evaluate our liquidity requirements, capital needs and availability of resources in view of
inventory levels, expansion plans, debt service requirements and other operating cash needs. To meet our short-
and long-term liquidity requirements, including payment of operating expenses and repaying debt, we rely
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primarily on cash from operations. However, we have recently, as well as in the past, sought to raise additional
capital and may do so again in the future.

We expect that, for the foreseeable future, cash generated from operations and the available borrowings
under our senior secured credit facility will be sufficient to provide us the ability to fund our operations, provide
the increased working capital necessary to support expected growth and fund planned capital expenditures of
approximately $45 million for fiscal 2008 and expansion when needed.

We expect that, to the extent we are unable to pay in full any outstanding balance of the revolving portion of
our senior secured credit facility by its maturity date in June 2009, the $315.0 million remaining installment on
our term loan by its maturity date in June 2010, or the $180.0 million convertible senior subordinated notes upon
conversion or maturity, we will refinance any then outstanding balance by means of a new senior credit facility
or other public or private equity or debt financings. There can be no assurance that any of these external sources
of funds will be available to us at the time they are needed or that any of those financings can be arranged on
acceptable terms, or terms as favorable as those now enjoyed by us under our existing indebtedness.

We have used available funds to repurchase shares of our common stock under our stock repurchase
program. During fiscal 2007, we repurchased 757,900 shares for an aggregate cost of $35.2 million.

Our corporate strategy points to the synergistic value of potential acquisitions in our metal coil coating,
metal components and engineered building systems segments. From time to time, we may enter into letters of
intent or agreements to acquire assets or companies in these business lines. The consummation of these
transactions could require cash payments and/or issuance of additional debt.

On January 31, 2007, we completed the purchase of substantially all the assets of Garco Building Systems,
Inc. (“Garco”), which designs, manufactures and distributes steel building systems primarily for markets in the
northwestern United States and western Canada. Garco is headquartered in Spokane, Washington, where it
operates a manufacturing facility for steel building systems for industrial, commercial, institutional and
agricultural applications. The aggregate purchase price for this acquisition was $17.2 million, comprised of $15.4
million in cash and $1.8 million in common stock.

Steel Prices

Our business is heavily dependent on the price and supply of steel. Our various products are fabricated from
steel produced by mills including bars, plates, structural shapes, sheets, hot rolled coils and galvanized or
Galvalume-coated coils. The steel industry is highly cyclical in nature, and steel prices have been volatile in
recent years and may remain volatile in the future. Steel prices are influenced by numerous factors beyond our
control, including general economic conditions domestically and internationally, the availability of raw materials,
competition, labor costs, freight and transportation costs, production costs, import duties and other trade
restrictions. Our average cost of steel, based on the typical mix of products we purchased, increased
approximately 11.1% between October 2005 and October 2006 and decreased approximately 3.9% between
October 2006 and October 2007. Based on expected increases in iron ore, coke, steel scrap and ocean freight
costs, steel prices could increase again in fiscal 2008. However, with total nonresidential construction demand
expected to be 6% lower in 2008, steel suppliers may have difficulty raising prices in the market. Because we
have periodically adjusted our contract prices, particularly in the engineered building systems segment, we have
generally been able to pass increases in our raw material costs through to our customers.

We do not have any long-term contracts for the purchase of steel and normally do not maintain an inventory
of steel in excess of our current production requirements. However, from time to time, we may purchase steel in
advance of announced steel price increases. We can give no assurance that steel will remain available or that
prices will not continue to be volatile. While most of our contracts have escalation clauses that allow us, under
certain circumstances, to pass along all or a portion of increases in the price of steel after the date of the contract
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but prior to delivery, we may, for competitive or other reasons, not be able to pass such price increases along. If
the available supply of steel declines, we could experience price increases that we are not able to pass on to our
customers, a deterioration of service from our suppliers or interruptions or delays that may cause us not to meet
delivery schedules to our customers. Any of these problems could adversely affect our results of operations and
financial position.

We rely on a few major suppliers for our supply of steel and may be adversely affected by the bankruptcy,
change in control, financial condition or other factors affecting those suppliers. During fiscal 2007, we purchased
approximately 26% of our steel requirements from one vendor. No other vendor accounted for over 10% of our
steel requirements during fiscal 2007. A prolonged labor strike against one of our principal domestic suppliers, or
financial or other difficulties of a principal supplier that affects its ability to produce steel, could have a material
adverse effect on our operations. Furthermore, if one or more of our current suppliers is unable for financial or
any other reason to continue in business or to produce steel sufficient to meet our requirements, essential supply
of our primary raw materials could be temporarily interrupted and our business could be adversely affected.
Alternative sources, however, including foreign steel, are currently believed to be sufficient to maintain required
deliveries. For additional information about the risks of our raw material supply and pricing, see “Item 1A—Risk
Factors.”

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with
unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special
purpose entities (“SPEs”), which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As of October 28, 2007, we were not involved in
any unconsolidated SPE transactions.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table shows our known contractual obligations as of October 28, 2007 (in thousands):

Payments due by period

Less than More than
Contractual Obligation Total 1 year 1-3years  4-5years 5 years
Totaldebt ........ ... ... . i $497,037 $22,312 $294,725 $ —  $180,000
Interest payments ondebt™®™ .. .......... .. ... ... ... 118,701 24,716 39,839 7,736 46,410
Operating leases . ..., 21,338 8,043 9,368 2,072 1,855
Rebate obligations® . ............. ... ... ........ 12,257 12,257 — — —
Other purchase obligations® ...................... 9,054 3,972 4,951 131 —
Other long-term obligations® ..................... 7,411 976 1,590 1,345 3,500
Total contractual obligations ...................... $665,798 $72,276 $350,473 $11,284 $231,765

(W Interest payments were calculated based on the stated interest rate for fixed rate obligations and rates in
effect at October 28, 2007 for variable rate obligations and the interest rate swap.

@ Includes purchase requirements under a supply agreement containing a prepaid rebate program terminable at
will. If we terminate the contract prior to the purchase of a specified volume, we must reimburse the vendor
for the unearned portion of a prepaid rebate. At October 28, 2007, the remaining unearned rebate is
approximately $4.1 million.

3  Includes various agreements for steel delivery obligations, gas contracts, transportation services and
telephone service obligations. In general, purchase orders issued in the normal course of business can be
terminated in whole or part for any reason without liability until the product is received. Steel consignment
inventory from our suppliers does not constitute a purchase commitment and are not included in our table of
contractual obligations. However, it is our current practice to purchase all consignment inventory that
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remains in consignment after an agreed term, typically ranging from 30—60 days. Consignment inventory
at October 28, 2007 is estimated to be approximately $49 million.

@ Includes contractual payments to or on behalf of former executives and projected supplemental retirement
benefits for certain of our current executive officers.

®  Prior to maturity in November 2024, our Notes may be converted when our stock price exceeds the
conversion threshold for the specified 20 of the last 30 consecutive trading days of a calendar quarter or
beginning November 15, 2009. Beginning on November 20, 2009, we may redeem any of the Notes at any
time, or from time to time, in whole or in part, at a redemption price of 100% of their principal amount, plus
accrued and unpaid interest.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

We are required to have standby letters of credit as a collateral requirement of our insurance carrier for our
projected exposure for worker’s compensation, general liability and auto claims. For all insurance carriers, the
total standby letters of credit are approximately $14.1 million and $15.9 million at October 28, 2007 and
October 29, 2006, respectively. We also have a total of $50 million available for letters of credit under our
current senior secured credit facility.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S., which require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate
our estimates, including those estimates that may have a significant effect on our financial condition and results
of operations. Our significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements. The following discussion of critical accounting policies addresses those policies that are both
important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and require significant judgment
and estimates. We base our estimates and judgment on historical experience and on various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.

Revenue recognition. We recognize revenues when all of the following conditions are met: persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or
determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Generally, these criteria are met at the time product is
shipped or services are complete. Provisions are made upon the sale for estimated product returns. Costs
associated with shipping and handling our products are included in cost of sales.

Insurance accruals. We are self insured for a substantial portion of the cost of employee group health
insurance and for the cost of workers” compensation benefits and general liability and automobile claims. We
purchase insurance from third parties that provides individual and aggregate stop loss protection for these costs.
Each reporting period, we record the costs of our health insurance plan, including paid claims, an estimate of the
change in incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) claims, taxes and administrative fees (collectively the “Plan
Costs”) as general and administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The estimated
IBNR claims are based upon (i) a recent average level of paid claims under the plan, (ii) an estimated lag factor
and (iii) an estimated growth factor to provide for those claims that have been incurred but not yet paid. For
workers’ compensation costs, we monitor the number of accidents and the severity of such accidents to develop
appropriate estimates for expected costs to provide both medical care and benefits during the period an employee
is unable to work. These accruals are developed using third party estimates of the expected cost and length of
time an employee will be unable to work based on industry statistics for the cost of similar disabilities. For
general liability and automobile claims, accruals are developed based on third party estimates of the expected
cost to resolve each claim based on industry statistics and the nature and severity of the claim and include
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estimates for IBNR claims, taxes and administrative fees. This statistical information is trended to provide
estimates of future expected costs based on factors developed from our experience of actual claims cost
compared to original estimates.

We believe that the assumptions and information used to develop these accruals provide the best basis for
these estimates each quarter because as a general matter, the accruals have historically proven to be reasonable
and accurate. However, significant changes in expected medical and health care costs, negative changes in the
severity of previously reported claims or changes in laws that govern the administration of these plans could have
an impact on the determination of the amount of these accruals in future periods. Our methodology for
determining the amount of health insurance accrual considers claims growth and claims lag, which is the length
of time between the incurred date and processing date. For the health insurance accrual, a change of 10% in the
lag assumption would result in a financial impact of $0.3 million.

Share-Based Compensation. Prior to October 30, 2005, we accounted for stock option plans using the
intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees, (“APB 25”) and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, (“SFAS 123”) under which no compensation expense was recognized for stock option grants.
Accordingly, share-based compensation related to our stock options was included as a pro forma disclosure in the
financial statement footnotes and continues to be provided for the period prior to fiscal 2006. Compensation
expense recorded for restricted stock awards under the intrinsic value method is consistent with the expense that
would be recorded under the fair value based method described in the following paragraphs.

Effective October 30, 2005, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards 123(Revised), Share-Based Payment, (“SFAS 123(R)”) using the modified-prospective
method. Under this transition method, compensation cost recognized in fiscal 2006 and beyond includes: a)
compensation cost for all share-based payments granted through October 29, 2005, but for which the requisite
service period had not been completed as of October 29, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123, and b) compensation cost for all share-based payments
granted subsequent to October 29, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS 123(R). Results for prior periods have not been restated.

The fair value and compensation expense of each option award is estimated as of the date of grant using a
Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing formula. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of our stock
over a preceding period commensurate with the expected term of the option. The expected volatility considers
factors such as the volatility of our share price, implied volatility of our share price, length of time our shares
have been publicly traded, appropriate and regular intervals for price observations and our corporate and capital
structure. We utilize the “simplified” method described in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 to determine
the expected term of our options. The forfeiture rate in our calculation of share-based compensation expense is
based on historical experience and is estimated at 10% for our non-officers and 0% to 10% for our officers. The
risk-free rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of
grant. Expected dividend yield was not considered in the option pricing formula since we historically have not
paid dividends and have no current plans to do so in the future.

The compensation cost related to these share-based awards is recognized over the requisite service period.
The requisite service period is generally the period during which an employee is required to provide service in
exchange for the award.

Our option awards and restricted stock awards are subject to graded vesting over a service period, which is
typically four years. We recognize compensation cost for these awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period for the entire award. In addition, certain of our awards provide for accelerated vesting upon
qualified retirement. We recognize compensation cost for such awards over the period from grant date to the date
the employee first becomes eligible for retirement.
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Income taxes. The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of
estimates and the interpretation and application of complex tax laws. Our provision for income taxes reflects a
combination of income earned and taxed in the various U.S. federal and state, Canadian federal and provincial as
well as Mexican federal jurisdictions. Jurisdictional tax law changes, increases or decreases in permanent
differences between book and tax items, accruals or adjustments of accruals for tax contingencies or valuation
allowances, and the change in the mix of earnings from these taxing jurisdictions all affect the overall effective
tax rate.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we must consider whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We consider all available evidence in
determining whether a valuation allowance is required. Such evidence includes the scheduled reversal of deferred
tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment, and
judgment is required in considering the relative weight of negative and positive evidence. At October 29, 20006,
we established a full valuation allowance in the amount of $2.8 million on the deferred tax assets of Robertson
Building Systems Ltd., our Canadian subsidiary. This valuation allowance was increased to $4.6 million at
October 28, 2007 as a result of additional tax losses incurred in fiscal 2007.

Accounting for acquisitions, intangible assets and goodwill. Accounting for the acquisition of a business
requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various assets and liabilities of the acquired business. For most
assets and liabilities, purchase price allocation is accomplished by recording the asset or liability at its estimated
fair value. The most difficult estimations of individual fair values are those involving property, plant and
equipment and identifiable intangible assets. We use all available information to make these fair value
determinations and, for major business acquisitions such as RCC, typically engage an outside appraisal firm to
assist in the fair value determination of the acquired long-lived assets.

In connection with the acquisition of Garco, we recorded intangible assets for trade names, backlog,
customer relationships and non-competition agreements in the amount of $0.8 million, $0.7 million, $2.5 million
and $1.8 million, respectively. All Garco intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their
expected useful lives. Garco’s trade names are being amortized over 15 years based on our expectation of our use
of the trade names. Garco’s backlog is being amortized over one year because items in Garco’s backlog are
expected to be delivered within one year. Garco’s customer lists and relationships are being amortized over
fifteen years based on a review of the historical length of RCC’s customer retention experience. Garco’s
non-competition agreements are being amortized over their agreement terms of five years.

In connection with the acquisition of RCC, we recorded intangible assets for trade names, backlog and
customer relationships in the amount of $24.7 million, $2.3 million and $6.3 million, respectively. Trade names
were determined to have indefinite useful lives and so are not amortized. Trade names were determined to have
indefinite lives due to the length of time the trade names have been in place, with some having been in place for
decades. Our past practice with other acquisitions and our current intentions are to maintain the trade names
indefinitely. This judgmental assessment of an indefinite useful life must be continuously evaluated in the future.
If, due to changes in facts and circumstances, management determines that these intangible assets then have
definite useful lives, amortization will commence at that time on a prospective basis. As long as these intangible
assets are judged to have indefinite lives, they will be subject to periodic impairment tests that require
management’s judgment of the estimated fair value of these intangible assets. We annually assess impairment of
our non-amortizing intangibles in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS
1427). All other intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives. RCC’s
backlog was being amortized over one year because items in RCC’s backlog are expected to be delivered within
one year. RCC’s customer lists and relationships are being amortized over fifteen years based on a review of the
historical length of RCC’s customer retention experience. See Note 4—Acquisitions in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, for additional information.
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We have recorded approximately $277.3 million of goodwill as a result of the RCC acquisition. Goodwill of
$17.0 million, $17.8 million and $242.5 million has been recorded in our metal coil coating, metal components
and engineered building systems segments, respectively. We perform a test for impairment of all our goodwill
annually, including the goodwill of RCC, as prescribed by SFAS No. 142. The fair value of our reporting units is
based on a blend of estimated discounted cash flows, publicly traded company multiples and acquisition
multiples. Estimated discounted cash flows are based on projected sales and related cost of sales. Publicly traded
company multiples and acquisition multiples are derived from information on traded shares and analysis of
recent acquisitions in the marketplace, respectively, for companies with operations similar to ours. Changes in
assumptions used in the fair value calculation could result in an estimated reporting unit fair value that is below
the carrying value, which may give rise to an impairment of goodwill.

In addition to the annual review, we also test for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that such carrying values may not be recoverable. Unforeseen events, changes in circumstances and
market conditions and material differences in the value of intangible assets due to changes in estimates of future
cash flows could negatively affect the fair value of our assets and result in a non-cash impairment charge. Some
factors considered important that could trigger an impairment review include the following: significant
underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the
manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business and significant negative industry
or economic trends.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. Our allowance for doubtful accounts reflects reserves for customer
receivables to reduce receivables to amounts expected to be collected. Management uses significant judgment in
estimating uncollectible amounts. In estimating uncollectible accounts, management considers factors such as
current overall economic conditions, industry-specific economic conditions, historical customer performance and
anticipated customer performance. While we believe these processes effectively address our exposure for
doubtful accounts and credit losses have historically been within expectations, changes in the economy, industry,
or specific customer conditions may require adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts. During fiscal
years 2007, 2006 and 2005, we established new reserves for doubtful accounts of $0.3 million, $2.0 million and
$0.3 million, respectively. Additionally, in each of the three fiscal years ended October 28, 2007, we wrote off
uncollectible accounts of $5.9 million, $1.9 million and $1.3 million, respectively, all of which had been
previously reserved.

Contingencies. We establish reserves for estimated loss contingencies when we believe a loss is probable
and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Our contingent liability reserves are related primarily to
litigation and environmental matters. Revisions to contingent liability reserves are reflected in income in the
period in which there are changes in facts and circumstances that affect our previous assumptions with respect to
the likelihood or amount of loss. Reserves for contingent liabilities are based upon our assumptions and estimates
regarding the probable outcome of the matter. We estimate the probable cost by evaluating historical precedent
as well as the specific facts relating to each particular contingency (including the opinion of outside advisors,
professionals and experts). Should the outcome differ from our assumptions and estimates or other events result
in a material adjustment to the accrued estimated reserves, revisions to the estimated reserves for contingent
liabilities would be required and would be recognized in the period the new information becomes known.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 51. This Statement amends Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 to
establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest
in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. It requires
consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the
noncontrolling interest. It also requires disclosure, on the face of the consolidated statement of income, of the
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amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. SFAS 160
established a single method of accounting for changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in deconsolidation and requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income when a subsidiary is
deconsolidated. In addition, SFAS 160 requires expanded disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
that clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent’s owners and the interests of the
noncontrolling owners of a subsidiary. We will implement this statement in our fiscal year that begins

November 2, 2009. We do not believe that the adoption of this pronouncement will have a material impact on our
financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141(R), Business Combinations (“SFAS 141(R)”). SFAS 141(R)
replaces FASB Statement No. 141, Business Combinations, but retains the fundamental requirements in
Statement 141. SFAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer recognizes and
measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. In addition, SFAS 141(R) recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired
in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase and determines disclosures to enable users of the
financial statement to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. We will implement
this statement in our fiscal year that begins November 2, 2009. We are currently evaluating the impact of
adopting SFAS 141(R).

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“SFAS 1597). SFAS 159 permits entities to
choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The objective is to improve
financial reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by
measuring related assets and liabilities differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions.
SFAS 159 is effective for our fiscal year that begins November 3, 2008. We are currently evaluating the impact
of adopting SFAS 159 but currently do not intend to adopt this optional accounting pronouncement.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurement (“SFAS 1577). SFAS 157 defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for our fiscal year that begins November 3, 2008. We are currently
evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 157.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, which clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute
for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. FIN 48 requires that we recognize in the financial statements the impact of a tax position only if that
position is more likely than not of being sustained upon examination, based on the technical merits of the
position. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in
interim periods, disclosure and transition. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. We will implement this interpretation in the fiscal year starting October 29, 2007. We are
continuing to evaluate the impact of adopting this pronouncement, but we believe that the adoption of this
pronouncement will increase our tax accruals between $0.2 million and $0.6 million on October 29, 2007.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Steel Prices

We are subject to market risk exposure related to volatility in the price of steel. For the fiscal year ended
October 28, 2007, steel constituted approximately 73% of our cost of sales. Our business is heavily dependent on
the price and supply of steel. Our various products are fabricated from steel produced by mills including bars,
plates, structural shapes, sheets, hot rolled coils and galvanized or Galvalume-coated coils. The steel industry is
highly cyclical in nature, and steel prices have been volatile in recent years and may remain volatile in the future.
Steel prices are influenced by numerous factors beyond our control, including general economic conditions
domestically and internationally, the availability of raw materials, competition, labor costs, freight and
transportation costs, production costs, import duties and other trade restrictions. Our average cost of steel, based
on the typical mix of products we purchased, increased approximately 11.1% between October 2005 and
October 2006 and decreased approximately 3.9% between October 2006 and October 2007. Based on expected
increases in iron ore, coke, steel scrap and ocean freight costs, steel prices could increase again in fiscal 2008.
However, with total nonresidential construction demand expected to be 6% lower in 2008, steel suppliers may
have difficulty raising prices in the market. Because we have periodically adjusted our contract prices,
particularly in the engineered building systems segment, we have generally been able to pass increases in our raw
materials costs through to our customers.

We do not have any long-term contracts for the purchase of steel and normally do not maintain an inventory
of steel in excess of our current production requirements. However, from time to time, we may purchase steel in
advance of announced steel price increases. We can give no assurance that steel will remain available or that
prices will not continue to be volatile. While most of our contracts have escalation clauses that allow us, under
certain circumstances, to pass along all or a portion of increases in the price of steel after the date of the contract
but prior to delivery, we may, for competitive or other reasons, not be able to pass such price increases along. If
the available supply of steel declines, we could experience price increases that we are not able to pass on to our
customers, a deterioration of service from our suppliers or interruptions or delays that may cause us not to meet
delivery schedules to our customers. Any of these problems could adversely affect our results of operations and
financial position.

We rely on a few major suppliers for our supply of steel and may be adversely affected by the bankruptcy,
change in control, financial condition or other factors affecting those suppliers. During fiscal 2007, we purchased
approximately 26% of our steel requirements from one vendor. No other vendor accounted for over 10% of our
steel requirements during fiscal 2007. A prolonged labor strike against one or more of our principal domestic
suppliers, or financial or other difficulties of a principal supplier that affects its ability to produce steel, could
have a material adverse effect on our operations. Furthermore, if one or more of our current suppliers is unable
for financial or any other reason to continue in business or to produce steel sufficient to meet our requirements,
essential supply of our primary raw materials could be temporarily interrupted and our business could be
adversely affected. Alternative sources, however, including foreign steel, are currently believed to be sufficient to
maintain required deliveries.

With steel accounting for approximately 73% of our cost of sales, a 1% change in the cost of steel would
have resulted in a pre-tax impact of approximately $8.9 million for our fiscal year ended October 28, 2007. The
impact to our financial results of operations would be significantly dependent on the competitive environment
and the costs of other alternative building products, which could impact our ability to pass on these higher costs.

Interest Rates

We are subject to market risk exposure related to changes in interest rates on our senior credit facility,
which includes revolving credit notes and term notes. These instruments bear interest at an agreed upon
percentage point spread from either the prime interest rate or LIBOR. Under our senior credit facility, we may, at
our option, fix the interest rate for certain borrowings based on a spread over LIBOR for 30 days to six months.
At October 28, 2007, we had $315.0 million outstanding under our senior secured credit facility. Based on this
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balance and considering the Swap Agreement discussed below, an immediate change of one percent in the
interest rate would cause a change in interest expense of approximately $1.7 million on an annual basis. At
October 28, 2007, the fair value of our fixed rate debt was approximately $203.0 million compared to the face
value of $180.0 million. At October 29, 2000, the fair value of our fixed rate debt was approximately $292.7
million compared to the face value of $180.0 million.

We may from time to time utilize interest rate swaps to manage overall borrowing costs and reduce
exposure to adverse fluctuations in interest rates. We do not purchase or hold any derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes. As disclosed in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we have effectively
converted $160 million of our $315 million term loan outstanding on our $400 million Term Loan due 2010 to
fixed rate debt by entering into an interest rate swap agreement (“Swap Agreement”). At October 28, 2007 and
October 29, 2006, the notional amount of the Swap Agreement was $145 million and $160 million, respectively.

We are exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparty on the Swap Agreement.
If the counterparty fails to meet the terms of the agreement, our exposure is limited to the net amount that would
have been received, if any, over the remaining life of the Swap Agreement. We do not anticipate nonperformance
as the contract is with a creditworthy counterparty and no material loss would be expected from nonperformance
by the counterparty.

See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the material terms of our long-
term debt.

The table below presents scheduled debt maturities and related weighted-average interest rates for each of
the fiscal years relating to debt obligations as of October 28, 2007. Weighted-average variable rates are based on
LIBOR rates at October 28, 2007, plus applicable margins.

Scheduled Maturity Date® Fair
(in millions, except interest rate percentages) Value

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter Total 10/28/07

Total Debt:

Fixed Rate® . .......................... $1 $ 1 — — - $180  $182  $205
InterestRate ........................... 21% 21% 21% 21% 21% 21% 2.1%
Variable Rate .......................... $22 — $293 — — — $315  $315
Average interestrate ..................... 69% 69% 69% 69% 69%  69% 69%

@ Expected maturity date amounts are based on the face value of debt and do not reflect fair market value of
the debt.
®  Fixed rate date excludes the Swap Agreement.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

We are exposed to the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on the U.S. dollar value of foreign currency
denominated operating revenue and expenses. The functional currency for our Canada operations is the Canadian
dollar. Translation adjustments resulting from translating the functional currency financial statements into U.S.
dollar equivalents are reported separately in accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity.
The translation gains included in other comprehensive income for the fiscal years ended October 28, 2007 and
October 29, 2006 were $244,000 and $86,000, respectively.

The functional currency for our Mexico operations is the U.S. dollar. Adjustments resulting from the
remeasurement of the local currency financial statements into the U.S. dollar functional currency, which uses a
combination of current and historical exchange rates, are included in net income in the current period. Net
foreign currency exchange gains (losses) for fiscal years ended October 28, 2007, October 29, 2006 and
October 29, 2005 were $(298,100), $500 and $37,900, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of NCI Building Systems, Inc. (the “Company” or “our”) is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control system was designed to
provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting includes the controls themselves, monitoring (including internal
auditing practices), and actions taken to correct deficiencies as identified.

Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations and may not prevent or detect
misstatements. The design of an internal control system is also based in part upon assumptions and judgments
made by management about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that an internal control
will be effective under all potential future conditions. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective
can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance with respect to the financial statement preparation and
presentation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting may vary over time.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
October 28, 2007. In making this assessment, management used the criteria for internal control over financial
reporting described in Internal Control—Integrated Framework by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and testing of the operating effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting. Management reviewed the results of its assessment with the Audit Committee of
the Company’s Board of Directors. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of October 28,
2007, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of October 28, 2007. Their report included elsewhere
herein expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
October 28, 2007.

44



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of NCI Building Systems, Inc.

We have audited NCI Building Systems Inc. (“the Company”)’s internal control over financial reporting as
of October 28, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, NCI Building Systems, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of October 28, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006
and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, cash flows and comprehensive
income for each of the three years in the period ended October 28, 2007 of the Company and our report dated
December 19, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Houston, Texas
December 19, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of NCI Building Systems, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NCI Building Systems, Inc. (the
“Company”) as of October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity, cash flows and comprehensive income for each of the three years in the period ended
October 28, 2007. Our audits also included the financial statements schedule at Item 15(a), No. 2. These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Company as of October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, and the
consolidated results of its operations, its cash flows and comprehensive income for each of the three years in the
period ended October 28, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements
taken as a whole, presented fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Notes 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements, effective October 28, 2007, the
Company adopted Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” and Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard (SFAS) No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)”, respectively. Also, as discussed in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective October 30, 2005, the Company adopted Financial
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123(R), “Share Based Payment.”

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of October 28, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission and our report dated December 19, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Houston, Texas
December 19, 2007
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.
(In thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal year ended
October 28, October 29, October 29,

2007 2006 2005

Sales . $1,624,273 $1,570,482 $1,130,066
Costofsales ....... ... 1,221,463 1,187,151 850,699

Gross profit .. ...t 402,810 383,331 279,367
Selling, general and administrative €Xpenses . ..................... 271,871 246,044 174,897

Income from operations .................iiiiiiiiiin... 130,939 137,287 104,470
Interest iINCOME . . . o oo e e e e e 738 5,432 5,019
INEEIESt EXPEISE . . . v v vttt et et (28,829) (24,915) (14,459)
Other iINCOME, NEL . . . oo e e e e e 1,977 1,228 1,181

Income before income taxes . ............... i, 104,825 119,032 96,211
Provision for incCome taxes . ........... . 41,096 45,236 40,260
NetINCOME . ...ttt e e e e e $ 63,729 $ 73,796 $ 55,951
Earnings per share:

BasiC ..ot $ 325 $ 370 $ 2.73

Diluted . .. .o $ 3.06 $ 345 $ 2.68
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic ... 19,582 19,959 20,501

Diluted . ... ... e 20,793 21,395 20,857

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.
(In thousands, except share data)

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .. ............ . it $ 75054 $ 25,038
Accounts receivable, Net .. ... 158,435 163,814
INVENtories, NEt . . ... 137,725 160,208
Deferred iNCOME taXesS . . . . e 23,439 18,322
Prepaid expenses and other . ...... ... ... . . 16,760 15,522
Total current assets . . ... e 411,413 382,904
Property, plant and equipment, NEt ... ..... ...ttt 261,647 252,580
GoodWill . .o 616,246 614,461
Intangible assets, Net . ... ... ...ttt 43,909 41,647
Other aSSets, MEL . . o o oo e e e e e e e e e e 9,843 8,109
TOtAl ASSEES -« v v v e et e e e $1,343,058 $1,299,701
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-termdebt ......... ... .. .. .. . . i $ 22312 § 947
Accounts payable . ... ... 130,161 116,028
Accrued compensation and benefits ......... ... . o i 56,895 53,024
AcCrued INTEIEST . . .o oot 5,758 3,095
Other accrued EXPenses . . . ..ottt et 66,645 77,818
Total current liabilities . ... ... e 281,771 250,912
Long-term debt ... ... ... ... . 474,725 497,037
Deferred iNCOME tAXES . . . . v vttt ettt 43,638 47,626
Other long-term liabilities .. ............ . .. i 3,228 5,717
Total long-term liabilities .. ............ . 521,591 550,380

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and
OULSTANAING . o ot ettt — —
Common stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized; 22,129,236 and
21,793,914 shares issued in 2007 and 2006, respectively; and 19,538,832 and

19,977,398 shares outstanding in 2007 and 2006, respectively ............. 221 218
Additional paid-in capital ............. ... 191,047 175,121
Retained earnings .. ... .......uiniin et 462,444 403,125
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss) . ............ ... ........ 357 (1,804)
Treasury stock, at cost, (2,590,404 shares and 1,816,516 shares in 2007 and

2000, respectively) . ... (114,373) (78,251)

Total stockholders’ equity . ...........c.. i 539,696 498,409
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .............. .. .. .. ... ..... $1,343,058 $1,299,701

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.
(In thousands)

Fiscal year ended

October 28, October 29, October 29,
2007 2006 2005
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEtINCOME . .o\ttt e e e e e e $ 63,729 $ 73,796 $ 55,951
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization . .............. ... ... 35,535 31,089 24,488
Share-based compensation eXpense . ....................... 8,610 7,161 3,684
Loss (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment . .......... (814) (52) 134
Provision for inventory obsolescence ....................... 696 — 602
Provision for doubtful accounts . .......................... 330 2,004 273
(Benefit) provision for deferred income taxes ................ (7,090) (3,179) 2,356
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of
acquisitions:
Accountsreceivable ......... ... . 9,753 (15,216) 14,547
Inventories . .. ... 28,020 (5,940) 26,227
Prepaid expenses andother . ........... ... .. ... . L. (957) (5,501) (1,983)
Accounts payable . ........ ... 12,978 32,091 (8,239)
AcCrued EXPENSES . . v .t (10,815) 4,934 227
Other, Net . ...t e e (2,350) 327 —
Net cash provided by operating activities: ....................... 137,625 121,514 118,267
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired .............. ... .. ... .. ... (20,086) (366,598)  (27,399)
Capital expenditures . ....... ... ... it (42,041) (27,056)  (19,524)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment .............. 6,696 285 2,196
Other, net . .. ... . 932) 23 (1,078)
Net cash used in investing activities: ....................... (56,363) (393,346)  (45,805)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from stock options exercised . ..................... 3,923 8,518 9,362
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation
AITANZEMENES .« . o vttt e et et e e e 1,596 4,180 —
Issuance of convertibledebt . ........ ... .. . . . . . ... .. ... ... —_ — 180,000
Issuance of long-termdebt .......... .. ... .. .. ... .. ... .. .. —_ 200,000 —
Borrowings on revolving lines of credit ..................... 90,500 — —
Payments on revolving lines of credit . ...................... (90,500) — (16,700)
Payments on long-termdebt ............ ... .. ... .. .. ... 947) (78,511) (7,000)
Payment of refinancing costs ............. .. .. ... .. .. ... (75) (594) (4,954)
Purchase of treasury stock ............ ... ... o L (36,122) (37,572)  (40,676)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities: . ............... (31,625) 96,021 120,032
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ........... 379 133 —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .................. 50,016  (175,678) 192,494
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ..................... 25,038 200,716 8,222
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period .......................... $ 75,054 $ 25,038 $200,716

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.
(In thousands, except share data)

Balance, October 30, 2004
Treasury stock
purchases
Common stock issued for
stock option exercises . . .
Tax benefit from employee
stock incentive plan .. ..
Common stock issued for
contribution to 401(k)
plan
Issuance of restricted
stock
Share-based
compensation
Stock issued for
acquisition
Net income
Balance, October 29, 2005
Treasury stock
purchases

Common stock issued for
stock option exercises . . .

Tax benefit from employee
stock incentive plan . ...
Issuance of restricted
stock
Other comprehensive
loss
Share-based
compensation
Net income

Balance, October 29, 2006
Cumulative effect of
adopting SAB 108, net of
taxes (Note 3)
Treasury stock
purchases
Common stock issued for
stock option exercises . . .
Tax benefit from employee
stock incentive plan . ...
Issuance of restricted
stock
Other comprehensive
income
Share-based
compensation
Shares issued for
acquisition
Adoption of SFAS 158, net
of taxes (Notel8)
Net income

Balance, October 28, 2007 . ...

Accumulated Other

Additional Comprehensive
Common Stock Paid-In  Retained (Loss) Treasury Stock Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital  earnings Income Shares Amount Equity
20,344,752 $204  $127,598 $273,378 $ — (229) $ (3) $401,177
— — — — — (1,063,000) (40,676) (40,676)
467,422 4 9,353 — — — — 9,357
— — 3,369 — — — — 3,369
135,805 1 4916 — — — — 4,917
260,951 3 (1) — — — — 2
— — 3,684 — — — — 3,684
199,767 2 6,361 — — — — 6,363
— — 55,951 — — — 55,951
21,408,697 $214 $155,280 $329,329 $ — (1,063,229) $ (40,679) $444,144
— — — — — (753,287)  (37,572) (37,572)
367,185 4 8,500 — — — — 8,504
— — 4,180 — — — — 4,180
18,032 — — — — — — —
— — — — (1,804) — — (1,804)
— — 7,161 — — — — 7,161
— — 73,796 — — — 73,796
21,793914 $218 $175,121 $403,125 $(1,804) (1,816,516) $ (78,251) $498,409
— — (4,410) — — — (4,410)
— — — — — (773,888) (36,122) (36,122)
109,233 1 3,922 — — — — 3,923
— — 1,596 — — — — 1,596
190,641 2 2) — — — — _
— — — — 142 — — 142
— — 8,610 — — — — 8,610
35,448 — 1,800 — — — — 1,800
— — — — 2,019 — — 2,019
— — — 63,729 — — — 63,729
22,129,236  $221 $191,047 $462,444 $ 357 (2,590,404) $(114,373) $539,696

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.
(In thousands)

Fiscal year ended

October 28,
2007

October 29, October 29,
2006 2005

Comprehensive income:

NEtINCOME . .\ttt et e e e e e e $63,729
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign exchange translation adjustments (net of income tax of $135 in

$73,796  $55,951

2007 and $47in2000) . ..ot 244 86 —
Unrecognized actuarial loss on pension obligation (net of income tax of

$(290) in 2007 and $290in 2006) . ... ..ot 454 (454) —
Change in fair value of interest rate swap (net of income tax of $357 in

2007 and $879 10 2006) . . ..ottt (556) (1,436) —
Other comprehensive income (10SS) . .............. .. 142 (1,804) —
Comprehensive iNCOME . .. ..o vt ittt et e $63,871 $71,992 $55,951

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

NCI Building Systems, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated, the “Company,”
“we,” “us” or “our”) is North America’s largest integrated manufacturer and marketer of metal products for the
nonresidential construction industry. We provide metal coil coating services and design, engineer, manufacture
and market metal components and engineered building systems primarily for nonresidential construction use. We
manufacture and distribute extensive lines of metal products for the nonresidential construction market under
multiple brand names through a nationwide network of plants and distribution centers. We sell our products for

both new construction and repair and retrofit applications.

We use a 52/53 week year with our fiscal year end on the Sunday closest to October 31. On December 22,
2005, our Board of Directors adopted a change in our fiscal year end, effective for fiscal 2006, from the Saturday
closest to October 31 to the Sunday closest to October 31, with each fiscal quarter within the year ending on
Sunday. This change, which effectively added one calendar day to fiscal 2006, did not have a material impact on
our results of operations. The year end for fiscal 2007 is October 28, 2007.

In fiscal 2008, our year end will be November 2, 2008 which is the Sunday closest to October 31. As a
result, the fourth quarter of the fiscal year will include an additional week of operating activity.

We aggregate our operations into three reportable business segments: metal coil coating, metal components
and engineered building systems. We base this aggregation on similarities in product lines, manufacturing
processes, marketing and how we manage our business. We market the products in each of our business segments
nationwide through a direct sales force and, in the case of our engineered building systems segment, through
authorized builder networks.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and all majority-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts, transactions and profits arising from consolidated entities have been
eliminated in consolidation.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Examples include
provisions for bad debts and inventory reserves and accruals for employee benefits, general liability insurance,
warranties and certain contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost plus accrued interest, which
approximates fair value. Cash equivalents are highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three
months or less and may consist of time deposits with a number of commercial banks with high credit ratings,
Eurodollar time deposits, certificates of deposit and commercial paper. We may also invest excess funds in
no-load, open-end, management investment trusts (“mutual funds”). The mutual funds invest exclusively in high
quality money market instruments.

(c) Accounts Receivable and Related Allowance. We report accounts receivable net of the allowance for
doubtful accounts. Trade accounts receivable are the result of sales of building systems, components and coating
services to customers throughout the United States and affiliated territories, including international builders who
resell to end users. Substantially all sales are denominated in U.S. dollars with the exception of our Canadian
operations which are denominated in Canadian dollars. Credit sales do not normally require a pledge of
collateral; however, various types of liens may be filed to enhance the collection process.
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We establish reserves for doubtful accounts on a customer by customer basis when we believe the required
payment of specific amounts owed is unlikely to occur. In establishing these reserves, we consider changes in the
financial position of a customer, availability of security, lien rights and bond rights as well as disputes, if any,
with our customers. Our allowance for doubtful accounts reflects reserves for customer receivables to reduce
receivables to amounts expected to be collected. We determine past due status as of the contractual payment date.
Interest on delinquent accounts receivable is included in the trade accounts receivable balance and recognized as
interest income when chargeable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Uncollectible accounts are written off
when a settlement is reached for an amount that is less than the outstanding historical balance or we have
exhausted all collection efforts. This allowance was $9.0 million and $15.2 million at October 28, 2007 and
October 29, 2006, respectively.

(d) Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value less allowance for inventory
obsolescence, using specific identification or the weighted-average method for steel coils and other raw
materials. Allowance for inventory obsolescence was $4.4 million and $3.7 million at October 28, 2007 and
October 29, 20006, respectively.

The components of inventory are as follows (in thousands):

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006
Raw materials . . ... ...t $ 93,464 $121,024
Work in process and finished goods ........... ... ... .. ... ... .. ... 44,261 39,184

$137,725  $160,208

During fiscal 2007, we purchased approximately 26% of our steel requirements from one vendor. No other
vendor accounted for over 10% of our steel requirements during fiscal 2007.

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements are capitalized and amortized
using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the term of the underlying lease.
Computer software developed or purchased for internal use is depreciated using the straight-line method over its
estimated useful life.

Depreciation expense for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $29.3 million, $27.5 million and $23.5 million,
respectively. Of this depreciation expense, $4.3 million, $5.6 million and $4.0 million was related to software
depreciation for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006

Land ... $ 23,606 $ 23,647
Buildings and improvements . ............. i 159,747 148,919
Machinery, equipment and furniture . .............. ... ... ..., 223,751 208,018
Transportation equipment . . . ..........uuetenen e, 3,618 3,617
Computer software and equipment . .................ciriinrnan.... 64,229 56,574

474,951 440,775
Less accumulated depreciation . . ...........c.ouiiii i (213,304) (188,195)

$ 261,647 $ 252,580
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Estimated useful lives for depreciation are:

Buildings and improvements . ............ . . . 10 — 39 years
Machinery, equipment and furniture ........... ... ... ... ... ... 3 — 10 years
Transportation eqUIPmMent .. ............oouuiunennenneennen.. 5 - 10 years
Computer software and equipment ............................ 3 -7 years

We capitalize interest on capital invested in projects in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 34, Capitalization of Interest Cost
(“SFAS 34”). For fiscal 2007 and 2006, the total amount of interest capitalized was $0.7 million and $0.3
million, respectively. Upon commencement of operations, capitalized interest, as a component of the total cost of
the asset, is amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset.

(f) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. We review the carrying values of goodwill and identifiable
intangibles whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying values may not be
recoverable and annually for goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets as required by the SFAS 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Unforeseen events, changes in circumstances and market conditions and
material differences in the value of intangible assets due to changes in estimates of future cash flows could
negatively affect the fair value of our assets and result in a non-cash impairment charge. Some factors considered
important that could trigger an impairment review include the following: significant underperformance relative to
expected historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of our use of acquired
assets or the strategy for our overall business and significant negative industry or economic trends. See Note 11.

(g) Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenues when the following conditions are met: persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or
determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Generally, these criteria are met at the time product is
shipped or services are complete. Provisions are made upon sale for estimated product returns. Costs associated
with shipping and handling our products are included in cost of sales.

(h) Cost of sales. Cost of sales includes the cost of inventory sold during the period, including costs for
manufacturing, inbound freight, receiving, inspection, warehousing, and internal transfers. Purchasing costs and
engineering and drafting costs are included in selling, general and administrative expense. Purchasing costs were
$3.7 million, $1.4 million and $1.3 million and engineering and drafting costs were $50.0 million, $39.7 million
and $22.6 million in each of fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Approximately $3.8 million and $3.5
million of these selling, general and administrative costs were capitalized and remained in inventory at the end of
fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively.

(i) Warranty. We sell weathertightness warranties to our customers for protection from leaks in our roofing
systems related to weather. These warranties range from two years to 20 years. We sell two types of warranties,
standard and Single Source™, and three grades of coverage for each. The type and grade of coverage determines
the price to the customer. For standard warranties, our responsibility for leaks in a roofing system begins after 24
consecutive leak-free months. For Single Source™ warranties, the roofing system must pass our inspection
before warranty coverage will be issued. Inspections are typically performed at three stages of the roofing
project: (i) at the project start-up; (ii) at the project mid-point and (iii) at the project completion. These
inspections are included in the cost of the warranty. If the project requires or the customer requests additional
inspections, those inspections are billed to the customer. Upon the sale of a warranty, we record the resulting
revenue as deferred revenue, which is included in other accrued expenses in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
We recognize deferred warranty revenue over the warranty coverage period in a manner that matches our
estimated expenses relating to the warranty.
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(j) Insurance. Group medical insurance is purchased through United Healthcare and Blue Cross Blue Shield.
Both plans are managed care point-of-service plans using these carriers’ networks to receive discounts through
negotiated rates with network providers. The benefits provided by these medical plans are self-insured for the
first $250,000 of each claim. These plans utilize stop-loss reinsurance to pay claims in excess of the stop loss
amount of $250,000 per claim. Claims are administered by the respective carriers. Property and casualty
insurance is purchased for workers compensation, general liability, and auto liability exposures. We use
deductible programs to limit catastrophic claims. The deductible is $500,000 per occurrence for workers
compensation and $250,000 per occurrence for general liability, property, and auto liability. The carrier pays all
claims in excess of the deductibles. Umbrella coverage is purchased to insure against any claims that would
exceed the aggregate limits for each coverage. We utilize a third-party claims administrator to manage all claims.

Each reporting period, we record the costs of our health insurance plan, including paid claims, an estimate
of the change in incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) claims, taxes and administrative fees (collectively the “Plan
Costs”) as general and administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The estimated
IBNR claims are based upon (i) a recent average level of paid claims under the plan, (ii) an estimated lag factor
and (iii) an estimated growth factor to provide for those claims that have been incurred but not yet paid.

For workers’ compensation costs, we monitor the number of accidents and the severity of such accidents to
develop appropriate estimates for expected costs to provide both medical care and benefits during the period of
time an employee is unable to work. These accruals are developed using third party estimates of the expected
cost and length of time an employee will be unable to work based on industry statistics for the cost of similar
disabilities. For general liability and automobile claims, accruals are developed based on third party estimates of
the expected cost to resolve each claim based on industry statistics and the nature and severity of the claim. This
statistical information is trended to provide estimates of future expected costs based on factors developed from
our own experience of actual claims cost compared to original estimates. Each reporting period, we record the
costs of our workers’ compensation, general liability and automobile claims, including paid claims, an estimate
of the change in incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) claims, taxes and administrative fees as general and
administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(k) Advertising Costs. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $7.4 million,
$6.1 million and $4.7 million in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(1) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We assess impairment of property plant, and equipment in accordance
with the provisions of SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We review
our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If the sum of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows is less
than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized based on the fair value of the asset. We
had no impairments in fiscal 2007, 2006 or 2005.

(m) Share-Based Compensation. Prior to October 30, 2005, we accounted for stock options using the
intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees, (“APB 25”) and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, (“SFAS 123”), under which no compensation expense was recognized for stock option grants.
Accordingly, share-based compensation related to our stock options was included as a pro forma disclosure in the
financial statement footnotes. Compensation expense recorded for restricted stock awards under the intrinsic
value method is consistent with the expense that is recorded under the fair value based method used beginning
October 30, 2005, as described in the following paragraphs.

Effective October 30, 2005, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123(Revised), Share-
Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”) using the modified-prospective method. Under this transition method,
compensation cost recognized in fiscal 2006 and beyond includes: a) compensation cost for all share-based
payments granted through October 29, 2005, but for which the requisite service period had not been completed as
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of October 29, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of
SFAS 123, and b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to October 29, 2005, based
on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). Results for prior
periods have not been restated.

As aresult of adopting SFAS 123(R) on October 30, 2005, our earnings before income taxes and net
earnings for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007 were $2.7 million and $1.7 million lower, respectively, than
if we had continued to account for share-based compensation under APB 25. Our earnings before income taxes
and net earnings for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2006 were $3.4 million and $2.1 million lower,
respectively, than if we had continued to account for share-based compensation under APB 25. Basic and diluted
earnings per share for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007 would have been $0.09 and $0.08 higher,
respectively, if we had not adopted SFAS 123(R), compared to reported basic and diluted earnings per share of
$3.25 and $3.06, respectively. Basic and diluted earnings per share for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2006
would have been $0.10 higher if we had not adopted SFAS 123(R), compared to reported basic and diluted
earnings per share of $3.70 and $3.45, respectively.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), we presented all tax benefits of deductions resulting from the
exercise of options as operating cash flows in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. SFAS 123(R) requires
the cash flows resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized for those options
(excess tax benefits) to be classified as financing cash flows. The $1.6 million and $4.2 million excess tax benefit
classified as a financing cash inflow for the fiscal years ended October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006,
respectively, would have been classified as an operating cash inflow if we had not adopted SFAS 123(R). For the
fiscal year ended October 29, 2005, the excess tax benefit related to the exercise of stock options classified as an
operating cash flow was $3.4 million.

Compensation expense recorded for restricted stock awards under the intrinsic value method is consistent
with the expense that is recorded under the fair value-based method. We recorded pretax compensation expense
relating to restricted stock awards of $5.9 million, $3.7 million and $3.7 million for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

If compensation expense for grants to employees under our long-term incentive plans had been recognized
using the fair value method of accounting under SFAS 123 rather than the intrinsic value method under APB 25,
net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts below for the fiscal year
ended October 29, 2005 (in thousands, except per share data):

Fiscal Year Ended
October 29, 2005
Reported netincome . ........ ...ttt $55,951
Add back: Share-based employee compensation expense included in
reported net income, netof tax™) . ... ... . L 2,395
Deduct: Share-based employee compensation expense determined under the
fair value based method for all awards, netoftax .................... (7,690)
Pro formanet inCoOmME . . . . .ottt e e e $50,656
Basic Earnings per share
ASTEPOTtEd . . o oot $ 273
Pro fOrma . .. .. ... $ 247
Diluted Earnings per share
ASTEPOTtEd . . o oot $ 2.68
Pro fOrma . .. .. ... $ 243

M Amount represents the after-tax compensation cost for restricted stock grants.

56



(n) Reclassifications. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to the
current presentation.

(o) Foreign Currency Re-measurement and Translation. In accordance with SFAS No. 52, Foreign
Currency Translation, the functional currency for our Mexico operations is the U.S. dollar. Adjustments resulting
from the re-measurement of the local currency financial statements into the U.S. dollar functional currency,
which uses a combination of current and historical exchange rates, are included in net income in the current
period. Net foreign currency re-measurement gains (losses) are reflected in income for the period and for fiscal
years ended October 28, 2007, October 29, 2006 and October 29, 2005 were $(298,100), $500 and $37,900,
respectively. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are reflected in income for the period.

The functional currency for our Canada operations is the Canadian dollar. Translation adjustments resulting
from translating the functional currency financial statements into U.S. dollar equivalents are reported separately
in accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity. Net foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of tax, for the fiscal years ended October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006 was $244,000 and $86,000,
respectively. There was no foreign currency translation adjustment for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 as
Robertson-Ceco II Corporation (“RCC”) was acquired in fiscal 2006.

(p) Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, Noncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 51. This Statement amends ARB 51
to establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest
in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. It requires
consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the
noncontrolling interest. It also requires disclosure, on the face of the consolidated statement of income, of the
amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. SFAS 160
established a single method of accounting for changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in deconsolidation and requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income when a subsidiary is
deconsolidated. In addition, SFAS 160 requires expanded disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
that clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent’s owners and the interests of the
noncontrolling owners of a subsidiary. We will implement this statement in our fiscal year that begins
November 2, 2009. We do not believe the adoption of this accounting pronouncement will have a material impact
on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141(R), Business Combinations (“SFAS 141(R)”). SFAS 141(R)
replaces FASB Statement No. 141, Business Combinations, but retains the fundamental requirements in
Statement 141. SFAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer recognizes and
measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. In addition, SFAS 141(R) recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired
in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase and determines disclosures to enable users of the
financial statement to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. We will implement
this statement in our fiscal year that begins November 2, 2009. We are currently evaluating the impact of
adopting SFAS 141(R).

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“SFAS 1597). SFAS 159 permits entities to
choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The objective is to improve
financial reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by
measuring related assets and liabilities differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions.
SFAS 159 is effective for our fiscal year that begins November 3, 2008. We are currently evaluating the impact
of adopting SFAS 159 but currently do not intend to adopt this optional accounting pronouncement.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurement (“SFAS 1577). SFAS 157 defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for our fiscal year that begins November 3, 2008. In November 2007, the
FASB approved a one year partial deferral for the implementation of SFAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and
liabilities that are carried at fair value on a recurring basis in consolidated financial statements. We are currently
evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 157.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, which clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute
for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. FIN 48 requires that we recognize in the financial statements the impact of a tax position only if that
position is more likely than not of being sustained upon examination, based on the technical merits of the
position. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in
interim periods, disclosure and transition. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. We will implement this interpretation in the fiscal year starting October 29, 2007. We are
continuing to evaluate the impact of adopting this pronouncement, but we believe that the adoption of this
pronouncement will increase our tax accruals between $0.2 million and $0.6 million on October 29, 2007.

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
SAB 108 Adoption

In September 2006, the SEC released SAB No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year (“SAB No. 108”). SAB No. 108 requires that public companies
utilize a “dual approach” method to assess the quantitative effects of financial misstatements. This dual approach
includes both an income statement focused assessment, known as the “rollover” method, and a balance sheet
focused assessment, known as the “iron curtain” method. The guidance in SAB No. 108 must be applied for NCI
for the year ending October 28, 2007. The transition provisions of SAB 108 permit companies to record errors
identified during the year of adoption, if deemed to be immaterial using a company’s previous method of
evaluating errors, as a camulative effect adjustment to retained earnings. The transition provisions also require
prior quarterly financial statements within the fiscal year of adoption to be adjusted, although the transition
provisions do not require those quarterly reports, previously filed with the SEC, to be amended.

We adopted the provisions of SAB No. 108 as of October 28, 2007. In accordance with the transition
provisions of SAB No. 108, we recorded a $4.4 million cumulative decrease, net of tax of $2.8 million, to
retained earnings as of October 30, 2006. The cumulative adjustment to decrease opening retained earnings
related to an error identified in the current year in our accrual for employee paid time off liabilities which had
historically been accrued one year in arrears from when the actual obligation was earned by employees. The
impact on the current fiscal year of $0.5 million, net of tax of $0.3 million, was recorded as an increase in
compensation expense in the fourth quarter of the current fiscal year.

We believe the impact of this adjustment is immaterial to prior years’ Consolidated Financial Statements
under our previous method of assessing materiality, and therefore have elected, as permitted under the transition
provisions of SAB No. 108, to reflect the effect of this adjustment in the opening balance of the accrual for
compensation and benefits as of October 30, 2006, with the offsetting adjustment reflected as a cumulative effect
adjustment to opening retained earnings as of October 30, 2006. Due to the insignificant effect this adjustment
would have had on the 2007 quarterly results previously filed, the prior quarterly financial statements were not
adjusted.
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SFAS 158 Adoption

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158.” Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other Postretirement Plans—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)”
(“SFAS 158”). SFAS 158 has two major provisions. The recognition and disclosure provision requires an
employer to recognize a plan’s funded status in its statement of financial position and recognize the changes in a
defined benefit postretirement plan’s funded status in comprehensive income in the year in which the changes
occur. The measurement date provision requires an employer to measure a plan’s assets and obligations as of the
end of the employer’s fiscal year. We adopted SFAS 158’s recognition and disclosure requirements as of
October 28, 2007. We currently meet the SFAS 158 requirement that the measurement date for plan assets and
liabilities must coincide with the sponsor’s year end. See discussion of the impact of adoption in Note 18.

Purchases and Sales of Inventory With Same Counterparty

In September 2005, the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF Issue
No. 04-13, Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the Same Counterparty (“EITF 04-13”). The
EITF concluded that inventory purchases and sales transactions with the same counterparty that are entered into
in contemplation of one another should be combined and considered a single transaction subject to APB Opinion
29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions. The EITF provided indicators to be considered for purposes of
determining whether such transactions are entered into in contemplation of each other. Guidance was also
provided on the circumstances under which nonmonetary exchanges of inventory within the same line of
business should be recognized at fair value. EITF 04-13 was effective for new or modified arrangements entered
into in reporting periods beginning after March 15, 2006. This pronouncement is applicable to our operations
because our metal coil coating segment currently sells painting and coating services to various steel mills, from
which our engineered buildings systems and metal components segments purchase painted and coated steel coils.
Approximately $22.4 million and $7.9 million of metal coil coating revenue on steel coils subsequently acquired
by our engineered building systems and metal components segments during fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively,
were netted against cost of goods sold, which reduced gross revenues. Pre-tax income was reduced only to the
extent that the related steel coils remained in ending inventory which resulted in a negative impact on pre-tax
income in fiscal 2007 and 2006 of $0.6 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

4. ACQUISITIONS

On January 31, 2007, we completed the purchase of substantially all of the assets of Garco Building
Systems, Inc. (“Garco”), which designs, manufactures and distributes steel building systems primarily for
markets in the northwestern United States and western Canada. Garco is now a division of our Company and the
results of Garco’s operations beginning January 31, 2007 are included in our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Garco is headquartered in Spokane, Washington, where it operates a manufacturing facility for steel building
systems for industrial, commercial, institutional and agricultural applications. The aggregate purchase price for
this acquisition was $17.2 million, comprised of $15.4 million in cash and $1.8 million in restricted common
stock (35,448 shares). At the date of purchase, there was no excess of cost over fair value of the acquired assets.
We obtained third-party valuations of certain tangible and intangible assets. As a result of the valuation work, we
recorded $5.7 million in intangible assets which includes $2.5 million in customer relationships. The $1.8 million
in restricted NCI common stock relates to a 5-year non-compete agreements with certain of the sellers of Garco.
We will expense the fair value of the restricted stock ratably over the terms of the agreements. In addition, we
recorded $6.5 million in property, plant and equipment and $5.0 million in working capital. Garco’s results of
operations are included in the engineered building systems segment. This acquisition was not material to the
financial statements as a whole, and accordingly, pro forma information has not been provided.

On April 7, 2006, we completed our acquisition of RCC. We acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding
shares of RCC. RCC is now a wholly-owned subsidiary and the results of RCC’s operations from April 7, 2006
are included in our Consolidated Financial Statements. RCC operates the Ceco Building Systems, Star Building
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Systems and Robertson Building Systems divisions and is a leader in the metal buildings industry. This
transaction resulted in goodwill of $277.3 million as it has created an organization with greater product and
geographic diversification, a stronger customer base and a more extensive distribution network than either
company had prior to the date of acquisition.

The aggregate consideration paid for the acquisition was as follows (in thousands):

Cash consSideration . ... ...ttt e $371,014
Transaction COSES . . ..t vttt et e e e e e e e e 5,136
$376,150

The purchase price was subject to a post-closing adjustment based on net working capital, as defined in the
stock purchase agreement, of RCC at the closing date. This adjustment was finalized in March 2007 and resulted
in an additional purchase price of $4.5 million.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and recorded
on April 7, 2006, as part of the purchase accounting of RCC:

April 7,
(In thousands) __2006
CUITENL @SSELS .+ o o vttt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 88,841
Current deferred INCOME LAXES . . .o vttt ettt et 6,203
Property, plant and equipment .. ........... .. i 65,108
GoodWill . . .o 277,323
Intangible asSets . ... .. ..ottt 33,282
Other ASSEES . o vttt 80
ASSEtS aCqUITEd . . . o .ot 470,837
Current Habilities . . ... 57,370
Long-term debt . ... 2,524
Deferred INCOME tAXES . . ..t e e e e e 28,007
Other Habilities . . . .. oo 6,786
Liabilities assumed . . . .. ...ttt 94,687
Net assets acqUIred . .. ...ttt $376,150

The excess of the purchase price over the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed was allocated
to goodwill. Goodwill of $17.0 million, $17.8 million and $242.5 million has been recorded in our metal coil
coating, metal components and engineered building systems segments, respectively. None of the goodwill
recorded as a result of this transaction is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. See Note 11 for further
information regarding our allocation of purchase price to intangible assets.
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As previously disclosed, we report on a fiscal year that ends the Sunday closest to October 31. RCC
previously reported on a calendar year that ended on December 31. The unaudited pro forma financial
information discussed below was prepared based on financial information for RCC for the calendar months of
November through October, which correlates to our fiscal year. This unaudited pro forma financial information
does not necessarily represent what would have occurred if the transaction had taken place on the dates presented
and should not be taken as representative of our future consolidated results of operations. The unaudited pro
forma financial information in the table below for the 2006 and 2005 fiscal years gives effect to the transaction as
if it had occurred at the beginning of the earliest fiscal period presented.

Unaudited Pro Forma

Fiscal Year Ended
October 29, October 29,

(In thousands except per share amounts) 2006 2005
SaleS e $1,755,267  $1,558,259
NELINCOME . vt e et et e e e e e e $ 75429 $ 68,012
Earnings per share:

BasiC ..o $ 378  $ 3.32

Diluted . . ... $ 353 % 3.26

Upon acquisition of RCC, we began to assess RCC’s manufacturing operations in Ontario, Canada and
formulate a plan to exit these activities. In the second quarter of fiscal 2007, we finalized our RCC integration
plans to shut-down, exit and dispose of this manufacturing facility. Our plan called for the sales, marketing,
engineering, drafting and customer service capabilities in Ontario to continue, but in accordance with our plan,
manufacturing activities were ceased. The liquidation plans called for a small portion of the manufacturing
equipment to be transferred to existing manufacturing facilities and the remainder, including the real estate and
buildings, were to be sold to third parties which included the manufacturing facility that was sold in August of
2007. In the second quarter of fiscal 2007, we established an accrual of $1.2 million for certain severance and
exit costs relating to the closure of the manufacturing facility, which was recognized as a liability at the date of
acquisition. Accrued severance costs related to the terminated employees was primarily paid in the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2007. Additionally, the preliminary carrying value of the plant and equipment in Ontario was reduced by
$2.5 million to reflect its estimated fair market value upon disposition. Costs associated with these actions have
not impacted current earnings and have been recognized as a component of purchase accounting, resulting in an
adjustment to increase goodwill by $2.8 million, net of tax effects. The liability balance related to the Robertson
exit activities was $0.4 million at October 28, 2007.

5. OTHER ACCRUED EXPENSES
Other accrued expenses are comprised of the following (in thousands):

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006
Deferred rebates(D) . ... ..o $ 4,129 $13,115
AcCCrued INCOME TAX . . o oo e e e e e e e e e e e e 13,168 9,195
CUStOmMEr dEPOSILS . . . o v vt et et e e e e e e 4,177 4,331
Accrued warranty obligation and deferred warranty revenue .. ..................... 14,843 14,863
Other acCrued EXPENSES . . . . v vt vttt e et et e e 30,328 36,314
Total other accrued EXPensSes . ... .. ..ot vttt $66,645 $77,818

(M Relates to the receipt of prepaid vendor rebates, which are recognized as a reduction of cost of goods sold as
the related products are purchased and used in accordance with EITF 02-16, Accounting by a Customer
(including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor.
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6. WARRANTY

The following table represents the rollforward of our accrued warranty obligation and deferred warranty
revenue activity for the fiscal years ended October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006 (in thousands):

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006

Beginning balance . ......... ... . ... .. ... $14,863 $ 6,215
AcqUISTHONS(D L — 7,643
Warranties iSSUSA . . ..ot vi ettt e s 2,664 1,969
Revenue recognized . ... ....... ... (1,000) (786)
CoStS INCUITEA . . . ..ot e e (1,573) (178)
O her ..o (111) —
Ending balance . .............. .. . ... $14,843 $14,863

(W Represents the fair value of the warranty obligation assumed in the RCC acquisition. RCC’s warranty
programs have similar terms and characteristics to our other warranty programs, as described in Note 1.

7. SEPARATION AND CONSULTING AGREEMENT

On October 24, 2006, we announced that Albert R. Ginn, Jr. (“Mr. Ginn”), our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, would be stepping down from the Chief Executive Officer position at the end of calendar
2006. At a meeting held on October 23, 2006 (the “Meeting”), our Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved a
separation and consulting agreement (the “Agreement”) between Mr. Ginn and NCI. The Agreement provides,
among other things, that as of the close of business on December 31, 2006, Mr. Ginn resigned as our Chief
Executive Officer and from all positions as an officer and director of our subsidiaries, but remained as Chairman
of the Board and as one of our directors until December 31, 2007. Mr. Ginn will remain as our consultant from
December 31, 2007 through December 31, 2017. During fiscal 2006, we recorded an expense of $0.8 million
($0.5 million after tax) for the net present value of consulting fees to be paid to Mr. Ginn under the Agreement
during such period because the future services expected to be provided are insignificant.

8. SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION

The following table sets forth interest and taxes paid in each of the three fiscal years presented (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended
October 28, October 29, October 29,
2007 2006 2005
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized . ................. $26,166 $26,124 $11,140
Taxespaid .. .....oi i 42,739 44,412 32,564

9. LONG-TERM DEBT

Debt is comprised of the following (in thousands):

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006
$400 Million Term Loan, due June 2010 (6.5%—7.0% at October 28, 2007
and 6.8%—6.9% at October 29,2000) . .......... ... $315,000 $315,000
2.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes, due November 2024 .. ... 180,000 180,000
Industrial Revenue Bond . ........ ... ... . . . ... .. 2,030 2,950
Capital lease commitments . ............ ... iuiunininennnenan.. 7 34
497,037 497,984

Current portion of long-termdebt .. ......... ... .. .. ... .. .. ... ..... (22,312) 947)
Total long-term debt . ......... ... $474,725 $497.037




The scheduled maturity of our debt is as follows (in thousands):

2008 $ 22,312
2000 L 920
2000 293,805
200 L —
2012 and thereafter . . . ... 180,000
$497,037

Our senior secured credit facility includes a $125 million five-year revolving credit facility maturing on June 18,
2009 with a sub-facility for letters of credit of a maximum of $50 million and a $400 million term loan maturing
June 18, 2010. The term loan requires principal payments of $1.0 million each quarter and a final payment of $374.7
million at maturity. However, we made additional principal payments during fiscal 2006 and, as a result, will not be
required to make any more principal payments until the maturity date except under the mandatory prepayment
provisions in our senior secured credit facility. At October 28, 2007 under the mandatory prepayment provisions of our
senior secured credit facility, an excess cash flow calculation requires that $21.4 million of our term loan be paid
within ninety days after the end of our fiscal year. Therefore, $21.4 million of our term loan has been classified as a
current obligation at October 28, 2007. We are not required to make any other principal payments on our term loan
until the maturity date except to payments required under the excess cash flow calculation. In addition, the credit
facility provides for an incremental facility of $180 million to fund the payment of the cash portion of the conversion
price from any future conversions of our 2.125% convertible senior subordinated notes (discussed below). At
October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, letters of credit totaling approximately $14.1 million and $15.9 million,
respectively, were outstanding under the revolving credit facility. There were no other amounts outstanding on the
revolving credit facility at both October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006. At both October 28, 2007 and October 29,
2006, $315.0 million was outstanding under the term loan.

Loans under the senior secured credit facility bear interest, at our option, as follows: (1) base rate loans at
the base rate plus a margin, which for term loans is 0.5% and for revolving loans fluctuates based on our leverage
ratio and ranges from 0.25% to 1.25%, and (2) LIBOR loans at LIBOR plus a margin, which for term loans is
1.50% and for revolving loans fluctuates based on our leverage ratio and ranges from 1.25% to 2.25%. Base rate
is defined as the higher of the Wachovia Bank, National Association prime rate or the overnight Federal Funds
rate and LIBOR is defined as the applicable London interbank offered rate adjusted for reserves. Based on our
current leverage ratios, we will pay a margin of 0.75% on base rate loans and 1.75% on LIBOR loans under the
revolving credit facility and a margin of 0.50% on base rate loans and 1.50% on LIBOR loans under the term
loan facility during the first quarter of fiscal 2008.

The senior secured credit facility is secured by (1) 100% of our accounts receivable, inventory and
equipment and related assets such as our software, chattel paper, instruments and contract rights (excluding
foreign operations) and (2) 100% of the capital stock and other equity interests in each of our direct and indirect
operating domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the capital stock in each of our foreign subsidiaries.

The senior secured credit facility requires compliance with various covenants and provisions customary for
agreements of this nature, including a restricted payments test, minimum ratio of Consolidated EBITDA (as
defined in the senior secured credit facility) to interest expense of 4.0 to 1 and maximum ratios of total debt and
senior debt to Consolidated EBITDA of 4.0 to 1 and 3.0 to 1, respectively. After May 1, 2008 the senior debt
ratio will change to a maximum ratio of 2.75 to 1 and the interest coverage ratio minimum will change to 5.0 to
1. The leverage ratio will remain the same. At October 28, 2007, our interest coverage, leverage, and senior debt
ratios were 6.32, 2.89 and 1.87, respectively, and we were in compliance with all ratio requirements and
covenants in our senior credit facility. At October 29, 2006, our interest coverage, leverage, and senior debt ratios
were 8.19, 2.55 and 1.64, respectively, and we were in compliance with all ratio requirements and covenants in
our senior credit facility. The senior secured credit facility also restricts our ability to undertake additional debt
and/or equity financing.
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Borrowings under the senior secured credit facility may be repaid at anytime, in certain amounts, without
premium or penalty but subject to LIBOR breakage costs. We are required to make mandatory payments on the
senior secured credit facility upon the occurrence of certain events, including the sale of assets and the issuance
and sale of equity securities, or to the extent that our cash flow exceeds certain thresholds on a fiscal year basis,
in each case subject to certain limitations and conditions. These payments must first be applied to the term loan
and then to the reduction of the revolving credit facility.

On April 7, 2006, we amended our senior secured credit facility as a result of the RCC acquisition (see Note
4). In accordance with EITF 96-19, Debtors Accounting for a Modification or Exchange of Debt Instruments, we
have accounted for the amendments to our senior secured credit facility as a modification after calculating the
cash flows, and we have expensed $0.2 million of legal and other professional fees paid to third-parties in
connection with amending the facility. At October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, the unamortized balance in
deferred financing costs was $5.4 million and $6.2 million, respectively.

At October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, we had approximately $110.9 million and $109.1 million,
respectively, in unused borrowing capacity (net of letters of credit outstanding of approximately $14.1 million
and $15.9 million, respectively) under the revolving credit facility, of which a total of $50.0 million may be
utilized for standby letters of credit at both October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006. In addition, we have $180.0
million of borrowing capacity under the incremental facility.

During June 2006, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement relating to $160 million of the $400
million Term Loan due June 2010. At October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, the notional amount of the interest
rate swap agreement was $145 million and $160 million, respectively. See Note 10 for further information.

In November 2004, we completed an offering of $180 million aggregate principal amount 2.125%
convertible senior subordinated notes due 2024 (the “Notes”) with interest payable semi-annually. Interest on the
Notes is not deductible for income tax purposes, which creates a permanent tax difference that is reflected in our
effective tax rate (as discussed further in Note 12). The Notes are general unsecured obligations and are
subordinated to our present and future senior indebtedness.

We have the right to redeem the Notes, beginning on November 20, 2009, for a price equal to 100% of the
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Each holder has the right to require that we repurchase
the Notes after five, 10 and 15 years at 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any,
beginning November 15, 2009. Upon the occurrence of certain designated events, holders of the Notes will also
have the right to require that we purchase all or some of their Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, and, in certain circumstances, a make whole premium.
We must pay the repurchase price of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes in cash unless prohibited by
limitations imposed by our existing or future senior credit facilities. The Notes are convertible into cash or, in
certain circumstances, a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, at a ratio of 24.9121 shares of
common stock per $1,000 principal amount notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of
approximately $40.14 per common share. The ratio is subject to adjustments if certain events take place, and
holders may convert only if the closing sale price per common share exceeds 120% of the conversion price for at
least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading day period ending on the last trading day of the preceding
calendar quarter. At October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, $180 million principal amount of the Notes was
outstanding. Our stock price exceeded the conversion threshold of the Notes for at least 20 trading days in each
of the 30 consecutive trading day period ended June 30, 2007, but our stock price did not exceed the conversion
threshold of the Notes for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading day periods ended March 31,
2007 and September 30, 2007. Therefore, our Notes currently may not be converted until such time as our stock
price again exceeds the conversion threshold for the specified 20 of the last 30 consecutive trading days of a
calendar quarter or beginning November 15, 2009. See Note 17.
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10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Interest rate swap

On June 15, 2006, we entered into a forward interest rate swap transaction (the “Swap Agreement”) hedging
a portion of our $400 million Term Loan due June 2010 with a notional amount of $160 million beginning
October 11, 2006. The notional amount decreased to $145 million on October 11, 2007 and will further decrease
on each of October 14, 2008 and October 13, 2009 to $105 million and $65 million, respectively. The term of the
Swap Agreement is four years. Under the Swap Agreement, we will pay a fixed rate of 5.55% on a quarterly
basis in exchange for receiving floating rate payments based on the three-month LIBOR rate.

We utilize interest rate swaps to manage our risk associated with changing interest rates and account for
them under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, as amended
(“SFAS 133”). SFAS 133 requires that all derivatives be marked to market (fair value). We do not purchase or
hold any derivative instruments for trading purposes.

We designated our Swap Agreement as a cash flow hedge, as defined by SFAS 133. The fair value of the
Swap Agreement, which is adjusted quarterly, is recorded in other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet and the unrealized loss is recorded in other comprehensive income. Amounts recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over the term
of the related hedge.

We are exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparty on the Swap Agreement.
If the counterparty fails to meet the terms of the agreement, our exposure is limited to the net amount that would
have been received, if any, over the remaining life of the Swap Agreement. We do not anticipate nonperformance
as the contract is with a creditworthy counterparty and no material loss would be expected from nonperformance
by the counterparty.

Fair values

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and accounts payable
approximate fair value as of October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006 because of the relatively short maturity of
these instruments. The carrying amount of variable rate debt approximates fair value as of October 28, 2007 and
October 29, 2006. The fair values of the remaining financial instruments recognized on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets at the respective fiscal year ends were:

October 28, 2007 October 29, 2006
Carrying Carrying
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
(in thousands) (in thousands)
2.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes .............. $180,000 $203,037 $180,000 $292,725
Swap Agreement liability ................................ $ 3228 $ 3,228 $ 2315 $ 2315

The fair value of the Notes were determined from the market rates as of the last trading day prior to our
fiscal year end. Fair value estimates presented for the Swap Agreement, excluding accrued interest, were
determined based on the present value of all future cash flows, the fixed rate in the contract and assumptions
regarding forward interest rates from a yield curve.

11. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In accordance with SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill is tested for impairment at
least annually at the reporting unit level, which is defined as an operating segment or a component of an
operating segment that constitutes a business for which financial information is available and is regularly
reviewed by management. Management has determined that we have five reporting units for the purpose of
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allocating goodwill and the subsequent testing of goodwill for impairment. Our metal components and
engineered building systems segments are each split into two reporting units and the metal coil coating segment
is its own reporting unit for goodwill impairment testing purposes.

During the fourth quarter of each of our fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, we performed our annual test of
goodwill impairments with no impairment of goodwill indicated.

Our goodwill balance and changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by operating segment are as follows
(in thousands):

Metal Engineered
Coil Metal Building
Coating  Components Systems Total
Balance as of October 29,2005 ......... ... ... .. ... ... $81,959 $131,462 $125,736 $339,157
Additions) ... 17,000 17,718 240,586 275,304
Balance as of October 29,2006 ........................... $98,959 $149,180 $366,322 $614,461
Additions@ ... — — 1,785 1,785
Balance as of October 28,2007 .......................... $98,959 $149,180 $368,107 $616,246

(M Primarily represents goodwill associated with our acquisition of RCC. See Note 4.
@ Represents goodwill adjustments associated with our acquisition of RCC. See Note 4.

The following table represents all our intangible assets activity for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007
(in thousands):

Range of October 28, October 29,

Life (years) 2007 2006
Amortized intangible assets:
Cost:
Trade NAMES . . . . o v et et e e e e 15 $ 5,588 $ 4,800
Backlog . ... 1 3,019 2,330
Customer lists and relationships ........... .. ... ... ..., 15 8,710 6,250
Non-competition agreements . . .. ... vvvenen et et en e 5-10 8,132 6,361
Property rights .. ... . . 7 990 990

$26,439  $20,731

Accumulated Amortization:

Trade NAMES . . . o v e e et e e e e e e e e $ 973) $ (587)
Backlog . ...t (2,847) (1,343)
Customer lists and relationships ............................... (776) (248)
Non-competition agreements . . .. ... ovvu vt e een e (2,308) (1,421)
Property rights .. ... ... (330) (189)
$(7,234) $(3,788)
Net book value . ... ..o $19,205 $16,943
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Trade NAMES . . . . o v et et e e e e $24,704 $24,704
Total intangible assets at net book value ............................. $43,909  $41,647

RCC’s Star and Ceco trade name assets have an indefinite life and are not amortized, but are reviewed
annually and tested for impairment. The RCC trade names were determined to have indefinite lives due to the
length of time the trade names have been in place, with some having been in place for decades. Our past practice
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with other significant acquisitions and current intentions are to maintain the trade names indefinitely. All other
intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives. As of October 28, 2007,
the weighted average amortization period for all our intangible assets was 12.6 years.

Amortization expense of intangibles was $3.4 million, $2.8 million and $1.0 million for fiscal 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. We expect to recognize amortization expense over the next five fiscal years as follows (in
thousands):

2008 . o $2,257
2000 . L 2,085
2000 o 2,085
20 L 2,085
200 1,772

In accordance with SFAS 142, we evaluate the remaining useful life of these intangible assets on an annual
basis. We also review for recoverability when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying values
may not be recoverable in accordance with SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.

12. INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense is based on pretax financial accounting income. Deferred income taxes are recognized
for the temporary differences between the recorded amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and such amounts for income tax purposes. The income tax provision (benefit) for the fiscal years
ended 2007, 2006 and 2005, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Fiscal year ended
October 28, October 29, October 29,

2007 2006 2005

Current:

Federal . . ... .. $42,369 $43,696 $33,708
S ALE .ttt 5,817 4,719 4,196
Total CUITENL . . .ottt e e e e e e e 48,186 48,415 37,904
Deferred:

Federal . . ... ... . . (6,404) (2,277) 2,130
7211 (686) (902) 226
Total deferred . ....... ... i (7,090) (3,179) 2,356
Total Provision . ... ...ttt $41,096 $45,236 $40,260

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the United States federal statutory tax rate to the effective
income tax rate is as follows:

Fiscal year ended
October 28, October 29, October 29,

2007 2006 2005
Statutory federal income tax rate . ............. .. ...l 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State INCOME tAXES .« .+« o v et ettt et ettt e e e e e e e e 3.4% 32% 4.6%
Non-deductible interest eXPense . .. ... ....veuvr e et . 1.5% 1.2% 1.5%
Other . o 0.7) % (1.4)% 0.7%
Effective tax rate . ... ... ..ot 39.2% 38.0% 41.8%



Deferred income taxes reflect the net impact of temporary differences between the amounts of assets and
liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and such amounts recognized for income tax purposes. The
tax effects of the temporary differences for fiscal 2007 and 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

As of October 28, As of October 29,
2007 2006

Deferred tax assets:

INVENLOTY ..ottt e e e e e e e e $ 2,450 $ 2,301
Baddebtreserve . ....... ... 1,251 2,232
Accrued INSUTANCE TESEIVES . . v oot et e e e e et e e ettt 1,981 2,996
Deferred revenue . ........ . 6,099 6,269
Accrued and deferred compensation . .......... .. ... .. . ... 14,416 6,936
Pension . . ... 396 1,322
INterest rate SWapP . . . oottt e 1,236 879
Net operating 10SS CAITYOVET . ..o vu vttt eaeeenn 3,983 1,260
Other TESEIVES . o o vttt e e e e e 1,404 1,440
Total deferred tax assets . ...........coiiiririninenranenennn. 33,216 25,635
Less valuation allowance . ............ ...t (4,613) 2,771)
Net deferred tax asSets . ..o oo oo 28,603 22,864
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization . . . . .......outn ittt (48,802) (52,168)
Total deferred tax liabilities . . . ... e (48,802) (52,168)
Net deferred tax liability . ........ .. ... . .. .. . $(20,199) $(29,304)

Other accrued expenses include accrued income taxes payable of $13.2 million at October 28, 2007 and $9.2
million at October 29, 2006.

We carry out our business operations through legal entities in the U.S., Canada and Mexico. These
operations require that we file corporate income tax returns that are subject to U.S., state and foreign tax laws.
We are subject to income tax audits in these multiple jurisdictions. Our provision for income taxes includes
amounts intended to satisfy income tax assessments that may result from the examination of our tax returns that
have been filed in these jurisdictions. The amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of these examinations could
be materially different from the amounts included in the provision for income taxes and result in additional tax
benefit or expense depending on the ultimate outcome.

In evaluating the exposures connected with the various tax filing positions, we establish an accrual when,
despite management’s belief that our tax return positions are supportable, management believes that certain
positions may be successfully challenged and a loss is probable. When facts and circumstances change, these
accruals are adjusted. Included in income tax expense for fiscal 2005 is the reversal of an accrual for tax
contingencies of $1.0 million, which we reversed based on additional information and support by third party
analysis. Liabilities recorded related to tax contingencies as of October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006 are not
material.

Also included in income tax expense for fiscal 2005 are income tax adjustments totaling $1.8 million. These
adjustments are related to previously unrecognized differences between the book and tax basis of fixed assets in
the amount of $1.5 million. The remaining adjustments included several other individually immaterial items. We
believe all these tax adjustments to be immaterial individually and in the aggregate to the financial statements in
the period recorded or previous periods.
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Our foreign operations have a net operating loss carryforward of approximately $10.9 million that will start
to expire in fiscal 2009 if unused. The utilization of these losses is uncertain and we currently have a full
valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset related to this loss carryforward. Of the $4.6 million valuation
allowance, $3.3 million was recorded as part of the purchase accounting related to the acquisition of RCC.
Subsequent recognition of the deferred tax asset related to this portion of the valuation allowance would result in
a reduction of goodwill recorded in connection with the acquisition.

The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of estimates and
the interpretation and application of complex tax laws. Our provision for income taxes reflects a combination of
income earned and taxed in the various U.S. federal and state, Canada federal and provincial as well as Mexican
federal jurisdictions. Jurisdictional tax law changes, increases or decreases in permanent differences between
book and tax items, accruals or adjustments of accruals for tax contingencies or valuation allowances, and the
change in the mix of earnings from these taxing jurisdictions all affect the overall effective tax rate.

13. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

We have operating lease commitments expiring at various dates, principally for real estate, office space,
office equipment and transportation equipment. Certain of these operating leases have purchase options that
entitle us to purchase the respective equipment at fair value at the end of the lease. In addition, many of our
leases contain renewal options at rates similar to the current arrangements. As of October 28, 2007, future
minimum rental payments related to noncancellable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

2008 . . $ 8,043
2000 . . 6,063
2000 . . 3,305
20 ] 1,580
200 492
Thereafter .. ... ... . . 1,855

Rental expense incurred from operating leases, including leases with terms of less than one year, for fiscal
2007, 2006 and 2005 was $12.2 million, $11.9 million and $9.0 million, respectively.

14. STOCKHOLDERS’ RIGHTS PLAN

In June 1998, the Board of Directors adopted a Stockholders’ Rights Plan and declared a dividend of one
preferred stock purchase right (“Right”) for each outstanding share of our common stock for stockholders of
record at the close of business on July 8, 1998. Each Right entitles the holder to purchase one one-hundredth
(1/100th) of a share of our Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at a price of $125.00 per share upon
certain events. Generally, if a person or entity acquires, or initiates a tender offer to acquire, at least 20% of our
then outstanding common stock, the Rights will become exercisable for common stock having a value equal to
two times the exercise price of the Right, or effectively at one-half of our then current stock price. The Rights are
redeemable under certain circumstances at $0.01 per Right and will expire, unless earlier redeemed, on June 24,
2008.

15. STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

Our Board of Directors has authorized a stock repurchase program. Subject to applicable federal securities
law, such purchases occur at times and in amounts that we deem appropriate. Shares repurchased are used
primarily for later re-issuance in connection with our equity incentive and 401(k) profit sharing plans. During
fiscal 2007, we repurchased 0.8 million shares of our common stock for $35.2 million. At October 28, 2007,
there were 0.6 million shares remaining authorized for repurchase under the program. There is no time limit on
the duration of the program.
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Changes in treasury common stock, at cost, were as follows (in thousands):

Number of
Shares Amount
Balance, October 29, 2005 .. ... .. e 1,063 $ 40,679
Purchases . . ... 754 37,572
Balance, October 29, 2006 . ... ... 1,817 78,251
Purchases . . ... 773 36,122
Balance, October 28, 2007 2,590 $114,373

16. STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

Our 2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”), is an equity-based compensation plan that
allows us to grant a variety of types of awards, including stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
stock appreciation rights, performance share awards, phantom stock awards and cash awards. In fiscal 2005, our
stockholders approved the amendment and restatement of the Incentive Plan, which, among other things,
increased the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the plan by approximately
1.1 million shares of common stock and allowed us to grant performance awards, including performance-based
cash awards, under the plan. As amended, the aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued
under the plan may not exceed 2.6 million. As a general rule, awards terminate on the earlier of (i) 10 years from
the date of grant, (ii) 30 days after termination of employment or service for a reason other than death, disability
or retirement, (iii) one year after death or (iv) one year for incentive stock options or five years for other awards
after disability or retirement. Awards are non-transferable except by disposition on death or to certain family
members, trusts and other family entities as the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors (the
“Committee”) may approve. Awards may be paid in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination, in lump
sum or installments and currently or by deferred payment, all as determined by the Committee. As of October 28,
2007 and for all periods presented, our share-based awards under these plans have consisted of restricted stock
grants and stock option grants, neither of which can be settled through cash payments. Both our stock options and
restricted stock awards contain only service condition requirements and typically vest over four years, although
from time to time certain individuals have received special one-time restricted stock awards that vest at
retirement, upon termination, after a change of control without cause or for good reason, as defined by the
agreements governing such awards. A total of approximately 846,000 and 1,063,000 shares were available at
October 28, 2007 and October 29, 2006, respectively, under the Incentive Plan for the further grants of awards.

On June 15, 2006, the Committee reviewed our policy of granting stock options (or in some cases, restricted
stock in lieu of options at the election of the recipient) to executive officers two times per year. As a result, the
Committee modified its policy going forward to provide instead for grants of restricted stock once per year,
beginning in December 2006. The size of the awards will be based on a dollar amount set by the Committee. For
executive officers and designated members of senior management, a portion of the award may be fixed and a
portion may be subject to adjustment, up or down, depending on the average rate of growth in NCI’s earnings per
share over the three fiscal years ended prior to the award date. The number of shares awarded on the grant date
will be equal to the dollar value specified by the Committee (after adjustment with regard to the variable portion)
divided by the closing price of the stock on the grant date, or if the grant date is not a trading day, the trading day
prior to the grant date. The restricted stock will vest ratably over four years. All restricted stock awards to all
award recipients, including executive officers, will be subject to a cap in value set by the Committee.

Our option awards and restricted stock awards are typically subject to graded vesting over a service period,
which is typically four years. We recognize compensation cost for these awards on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period for the entire award. In addition, certain of our awards provide for accelerated vesting
upon qualified retirement, after a change of control or upon termination without cause or for good reason. We
recognize compensation cost for such awards over the period from grant date to the date the employee first
becomes eligible for retirement.
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The fair value of each option award is estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes-Merton option
pricing formula. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of our stock over a preceding period
commensurate with the expected term of the option. We utilize the “simplified” method described in SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 107 to determine the expected term of our options due to the lack of sufficient historical
data. The risk-free rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at
the time of grant. Expected dividend yield was not considered in the option pricing formula since we historically
have not paid dividends and have no current plans to do so in the future. The weighted average grant-date fair
value of options granted during the fiscal years ended October 29, 2006 and October 29, 2005 were $21.63 and
$21.48, respectively. There were no options granted during the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007. The weighted
average assumptions for the periods indicated are noted in the following table:

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Ended Ended
October 29, October 29,
2006 2005
Expected volatility . ........ .. .. i 40.7 - 41.5% 57.0%
Expected term (in Years) .. ..........eeuiinninninnennen.. 6.25 7.00
Risk-free interestrate ................ ... ... ... 44-49% 39-4.1%

We have estimated a forfeiture rate of 10% for our non-officers and 0% to 10% for our officers in our
calculation of share-based compensation expense for both the fiscal years ended October 28, 2007 and
October 29, 2006. These estimates are based on historical forfeiture behavior exhibited by our employees.

The following is a summary of stock option transactions during fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands,
except weighted average exercise prices, weighted average remaining life):

Weighted  Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise = Remaining  Intrinsic
Shares Price Life Value

................................. 1,591 $ 22.79

Balance October 30, 2004

Granted . ........ .. 159 35.31
Cancelled ........ ... 31 23.98
Exercised .. ... ... (468) 20.02
Balance October 29,2005 .. ... e 1,251 $ 25.33
Granted ......... ... .. 53 44.78
Cancelled ....... ... . ... . 36) (23.27)
Exercised .. ... (367) (23.19)
Balance October 29,2006 .. ........ .0 901 $27.43
Granted ......... .. — —
Cancelled . ...... ... . 3) (35.75)
Exercised . ...... ... (153) (25.59)
Balance October 28,2007 ....................cccviiuin... 745 $27.78 6.1 years $6,896
Exercisable at October 28,2007 ........................... 564 $ 2571 5.8years $6,390
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The total intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $3.9 million, $11.6
million and $8.8 million, respectively. Options exercisable at fiscal years ended 2007, 2006 and 2005 were
0.6 million, 0.5 million and 0.5 million, respectively. The weighted average exercise prices for options
exercisable at fiscal years ended 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $25.71, $23.85 and $20.99, respectively. The
following summarizes additional information concerning outstanding options at October 28, 2007:

Options Outstanding
Range of Exercise Weighted Average Weighted Average
_Prices Number of Options _Remaining Life _Exercise Price
$15.13-19.38 168,813 4.4 years $16.93
20.64 — 30.18 260,698 6.0 years 26.59
31.00 - 38.01 267,733 6.9 years 32.74
44.00 — 60.64 47,877 8.2 years 44.87
745,121 6.1 years $27.78

Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Weighted Average
Prices Number of Options Exercise Price
$15.13-19.38 168,813 $16.93
20.64 —30.18 210,564 26.21
31.00 —38.01 172,617 32.36
44.00 — 60.64 11,969 44.87
563,963 $25.71

Restricted stock transactions during fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005 were as follows (in thousands, except
weighted average grant prices):

Number of Weighted Average

Shares Grant Price
Balance October 30,2004 . . ... ... 318,613 $28.36
Granted ... ... 209,451 38.24
Distributed . ... ... (33,602) 30.27
Forfeited ... ..... ... . (3,000) 38.65
Balance October 29, 2005 . . .. ... o 491,462 $32.38
Granted . ... ... 18,032 50.30
Distributed . .. ... . (73,222) 36.55
Balance October 29,2006 .. ... ... 436,272 $32.42
Granted . ... ... 151,456 53.82
Distributed . .. ... . . (68,742) 37.28
Forfeited . ... ... ... . . . . (5,220) 43.22
Balance October 28,2007 . ............ ... ... ... .. i 513,766 $37.97

The total pre-tax share-based compensation cost that has been recognized in results of operations was $8.6
million, $7.2 million and $3.7 million for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007, October 29, 2006 and
October 29, 2005, respectively. Of these amounts, $7.8 million, $6.2 million and $3.7 million were included in
selling, general and administrative expense for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2007, October 29, 2006 and
October 29, 2005, respectively, with the remaining costs in each period in cost of goods sold. As of October 28,
2007, we do not have any amounts capitalized for share-based compensation cost in inventory or similar assets.
The total income tax benefit recognized in results of operations for share-based compensation arrangements was
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$3.3 million, $2.7 million and $2.3 million for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007, October 29, 2006 and
October 29, 2005, respectively. As of October 28, 2007, there was approximately $14.1 million of total
unrecognized compensation cost related to share-based compensation arrangements. That cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average remaining period of 4.5 years.

Cash received from option exercises was $3.9 million, $8.5 million and $9.4 million during the fiscal year
of 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from option exercises
totaled $1.5 million, $3.2 million and $3.6 million for the fiscal year of 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per common share considers the effect of common stock
equivalents. The reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used for the computation of basic and diluted
earnings per share is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Fiscal year ended
October 28, October 29, October 29,

2007 2006 2005

Numerator for Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share
NELINCOME . o . vttt et e e e e e e e i $63,729 $73,796 $55,951
Denominator for Diluted Earnings Per Share
Weighted average shares outstanding for basic earnings per share ........ 19,582 19,959 20,501
Common stock equivalents:
Employee Stock Options . ...t e 211 262 322
Unvested restricted stock awards . ............. .. ... ... 78 83 34
Convertible notes() . . ... e 922 1,091 —
Adjusted weighted average shares and assumed conversions for diluted

earnings pershare ......... ... . ... ... 20,793 21,395 20,857
Earnings per share
BaSiC . o vttt $ 325 $ 370 $ 273
DIluted . . . oo et $ 306 $ 345 $ 2.68

(I The indenture under which the Notes were issued contains a “net share settlement” provision as described in
EITF 04-08, Effect of Contingently Convertible Instruments on Diluted Earnings Per Share, whereby
conversions are settled for a combination of cash and shares, and shares are only issued to the extent the
conversion value exceeds the principal amount. The incremental shares that we would have been required to
issue had the Notes been converted at the average trading price during the period have been included in the
diluted earnings per share calculation because our average stock trading price had exceeded the $40.14
conversion threshold. However, the Notes can only be converted by the holders when our stock price trades
above the initial conversion price of our Notes (see Note 9) for at least 20 trading days in each of the 30
consecutive trading day period of the preceding calendar quarter or beginning November 15, 2009.

73



18. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Contribution Plan—We have a 401(k) profit sharing plan (the “Savings Plan”) that covers all
eligible employees. The Savings Plan requires us to match employee contributions up to 6% of a participant’s
salary. Contributions expense for the fiscal years ended 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $9.0 million, $7.8 million and
$6.0 million, respectively, for contributions to the Savings Plan. In fiscal 2007 and 2006, Company matching
contributions were paid in cash. In fiscal 2005, Company matching contributions were paid in either cash or
stock. Our match ranges from 67% to 100% of the participant’s contribution, depending on the return on adjusted
operating assets. Our match was 83.3% in fiscal 2007 and 100% in fiscal years 2005 and 2006.

Deferred Compensation Plan—On October 23, 2006, the Board approved an Amended and Restated
Deferred Compensation Plan for NCI (as amended and restated, the “Deferred Compensation Plan”) effective for
compensation beginning in calendar 2007. The Deferred Compensation Plan allows our officers and key
employees to defer up to 80% of their annual salary and up to 90% of their bonus until a specified date in the
future, including at or after retirement. Additionally, the Deferred Compensation Plan allows our directors to
defer up to 100% of their annual fees and meeting attendance fees until a specified date in the future, including at
or after retirement. The Deferred Compensation Plan also permits us to make contributions on behalf of our key
employees who are impacted by the federal tax compensation limits under the NCI 401(k) plan, and to receive a
restoration matching amount which, under the current NCI 401(k) terms, will be at 4% and up to 6% of
compensation in excess of those limits, based on our Company’s performance. In addition, the Deferred
Compensation Plan provides for us to make discretionary contributions to employees who have elected to defer
compensation under the plan. Deferred Compensation Plan participants will vest in our discretionary
contributions ratably over three years from the date of each of our discretionary contributions. As of October 28,
2007, the liability balance of the Deferred Compensation Plan is $1.6 million and is included in other long-term
liabilities in the Consolidated Balance sheet. We have accrued restoration matching contributions in the amount
of $0.2 million for fiscal 2007. We have not made any discretionary contributions to the Deferred Compensation
Plan.

With the Deferred Compensation Plan, the Board also approved the establishment of a rabbi trust to fund the
Deferred Compensation Plan and the formation of an administrative committee to manage the Deferred
Compensation Plan and its assets. The investments in the rabbi trust are $1.6 million at October 28, 2007 and are
included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Defined Benefit Plan—As a result of the closing of the RCC acquisition on April 7, 2006, we assumed a
defined benefit plan (the “RCC Benefit Plan”). Benefits under the RCC Benefit Plan are primarily based on years
of service and the employee’s compensation. The RCC Benefit Plan is frozen and, therefore, employees do not
accrue additional service benefits. Plan assets of the RCC Benefit Plan are invested in broadly diversified
portfolios of government obligations, hedge funds, mutual funds, partnerships, stocks, bonds and fixed income
securities. In accordance with SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, we quantified the projected benefit
obligation and fair value of the plan assets of the RCC Benefit Plan and recorded the difference between these
two amounts as an assumed liability.

Adoption of SFAS 158. On October 28, 2007, we adopted the recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS
158. SFAS 158 requires us to recognize the funded status of the RCC Benefit Plan in our statement of financial
position and recognize the changes in the RCC Benefit Plan’s funded status in comprehensive income in the year
in which the changes occur. The effects of the adoption of the recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS 158
on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of October 28, 2007 are presented in the following table. The adoption of
SFAS 158 had no effect on our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal year ended October 28,
2007, or for any prior period presented, and it will not affect our Consolidated Statements of Operations in future
periods. The measurement date provision requires an employer to measure a plan’s assets and obligations as of
the end of the employer’s fiscal year. We currently meet the SFAS 158 requirement that the measurement date
for plan assets and liabilities must coincide with the sponsor’s year end.
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SFAS 158 does not change the amount of net periodic benefit cost recognized in our Consolidated
Statement of Operations. The impact of adopting SFAS 158 on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at October 28,

2007 is as follows (in thousands):

As of October 28, 2007
Effect of Adopting As Reported at
SFAS 158 October 28, 2007
Non-current pension asset . . .. .........veuiueunenenennnn.. $ 2,292 $ 2,292
Non-current accrued pension liability .. ............... ... ... 1,016 —
Long-term deferred tax liability ........................... (1,289) (1,289)
Accumulated other comprehensive income, netof tax .......... 2,019) (2,019)

The following table reconciles the change in the benefit obligation for the RCC Benefit Plan from the
beginning of the fiscal year to the end of the fiscal year (in thousands):

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006
Accumulated benefit obligation ........... ... ... .. $48,805  $52,443
Benefit obligation — beginning of fiscal year and April 7, 2006, respectively . ... $52,443  $52,995
INteresSt COSt . o vt 2,891 1,696
Benefit payments .. ... 4,414) (2,273)
Actuarial (Zains) L0SSeS . . . . vt 2,115) 25
Benefit obligation—end of fiscal year ............ .. .. .. ... .. . .. ... $48,805  $52,443

Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations were as follows:

October 28, October 29,
2007 2006

6.00% 5.75%

Assumed diSCOUNt TAtE . . ...ttt

The following table reconciles the change in plan assets of the RCC Benefit Plan from the beginning of the
fiscal year to the end of the fiscal year (in thousands):

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006
Fair value of assets—beginning of fiscal year and April 7, 2006, respectively ... $49,041  $46,209
Actual return on plan assetsS . ... ... 5,525 1,382
Employer contributions . ............ ... 945 3,723
Benefit payments .. ... ... 4,414) (2,273)
Fair value of assets—end of fiscal year ............ ... ... .. ... ... ..... $51,097  $49,041

The following table sets forth the funded status of the RCC Benefit Plan and the amounts recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet (in thousands):

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006
Fair value of @SSELS . . . oo vttt e e e $51,097 $49,041
Benefit obligation . .......... ... 48,805 52,443
Funded (underfunded) status ... ......... ... .. ... ... ... ... $ 2,292 $(3,402)
Unrecognized actuarial [osS . ....... ... — 744
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost ... ... $ 2,292 $(2,658)




The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income that have not yet been recognized as components
of net periodic benefit income (in thousands):

October 28, October 29,
2007 2006

Net actuarial (2ains) IOSSES . . ...\ttt $(3,308) $744

The following table sets forth the components of the net periodic benefit income (in thousands):

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006
TNEETESE COSE - v v v e et e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 2,891 $ 1,696
Expected return on assets ... ...t (3,588) (2,101)
Net periodic benefitincome . ........... ... .. .. i $ (697) $ (405)

At October 28, 2007, there are no amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive income that are
expected to be recognized during the next fiscal year.

Actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit income were as follows:

October 28, October 29,

2007 2006
Assumed diSCOUNt Tate . ... ..ot it it e 5.75% 5.75%
Expected rate of return on plan assets .. .............viiininnnna... 8.0% 8.0%

The basis used to determine the overall expected long-term asset return assumption was a ten year forecast
of expected return based on the target asset allocation for the plan. The expected return for this portfolio over the
forecast period is 8.0%, net of investment related expenses.

The weighted-average asset allocations by asset category are as follows:

October 28, October 29,

Investment Type 2007 2006
Equity SECUrIties . ... ...ttt 32% 19%
Debt SECUTILIES . . . o vttt e e e 40 39
Real estate .. ...ttt 4 5
Hedgefunds . . ... ... o 10 24
Cash and cash equivalents andother . ............ ... ... ... ........ 14 13
Total . 100% 100%

The investment policy is to maximize the expected return for an acceptable level of risk. Our expected long-
term rate of return on plan assets is based on a target allocation of assets, which is based on our goal of earning
the highest rate of return while maintaining risk at acceptable levels. The RCC Benefit Plan strives to have assets
sufficiently diversified so that adverse or unexpected results from one security class will not have an unduly
detrimental impact on the entire portfolio. We regularly review our actual asset allocation and the RCC Benefit
Plan’s investments are periodically rebalanced to our target allocation when considered appropriate. We have set
the target asset allocation for the plan as follows: 2% cash, 41% US bonds, 12% alpha strategies (hedge funds),
17% large cap US equities, 6% small cap US equities, 4% real estate investment trusts, 8% foreign equity, 4%
emerging markets and 6% commodity futures.

We do not expect to contribute any amount to the RCC Benefit Plan in fiscal 2008.
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We expect the following benefit payments to be made (in thousands):

Pension
w Benefits
200 . $ 4,042
2000 L 4,112
2000 . e 4,089
20 3,850
20 3,881
20132007 ot 18,187

19. CONTINGENCIES

In September 2003, Bethlehem Steel Corporation and several of its related entities (collectively,
“Bethlehem”) filed a preference-avoidance lawsuit against us and several of our operating subsidiaries in the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. The lawsuit was filed as part of the
Bethlehem consolidated bankruptcy proceedings, seeking reimbursement of allegedly preferential transfers made
by the respective debtors in the 90-day period preceding their bankruptcy filings. Bethlehem alleges that it made
preferential payments to our subsidiaries of approximately $7.7 million. We have denied the allegations in the
Bethlehem lawsuit and are vigorously defending against this claim. We do not believe these legal proceedings
will have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

We discovered the existence of polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCBs”) and heavy metals at our Metal Prep
Houston site, which is located in an industrial area in Houston, Texas. Soil borings were sampled and analyzed to
determine the impact on the soil at this site, and the findings indicated that remediation of the site was necessary.
We began implementation of our remedial action plan in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 and completed
excavation and transportation of the contaminated materials to an approved offsite location in July 2006.
Through October 28, 2007, we spent $3.4 million related to this matter. On November 10, 2006, the TCEQ
issued its Voluntary Cleanup Program Final Certificate of Completion, stating that necessary response actions
have been completed on the subject property as of October 30, 2006. In October of 2006, we recorded a recovery
of $1.65 million from the prior owners of the property.

Over a period of 25 months beginning in March 2003 and ending in April 2005, our engineered building
systems segment received shipments of flat bar steel and related materials from a third-party steel mill in Mexico
that were below specifications. We identified a total of 57 projects, out of approximately 20,150 projects that
were processed by our engineered building systems segment during this time period, which will require some
level of repairs. Beginning in June 2006, we implemented a plan to inspect each of these 57 projects to determine
the use of the flat bar steel in the buildings and coordinate all necessary repairs. We have substantially completed
our inspections. Additionally, we have substantially completed all of the repairs for the 57 projects identified and
have incurred expenses through October 28, 2007 of $1.7 million. As of October 28, 2007, we have a remaining
accrual in other accrued liabilities of $0.2 million. To date, we have received $0.7 million in settlement funds and
$0.1 million in rebates from the related steel mill in Mexico.

We have discovered the existence of trichloroethylene in the ground water at our Southlake, Texas facility.
Horizontal delineation concentrations in excess of applicable residential assessment levels have not been fully
identified. We have filed an application with the Texas Commission of Environmental Quality (“TCEQ”) for
entry into the voluntary cleanup program. We expect to perform further testing in the first quarter of fiscal 2008.
The cost of required remediation, if any, will vary depending on the nature and extent of the contamination which
is expected to be determined in the first or second quarter of fiscal 2008. As of October 28, 2007, we have
accrued $0.1 million to complete site analysis and testing. At this time, we can not estimate a loss for any
potential remediation costs, but we do not believe there will be a material adverse effect on our Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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We have discovered the existence of unknown debris containing soil and paint materials in the storm-water
outfalls at our Rocky Mount, NC facility. Although formal test results are still pending, it appears that surface
concentrations of chromium may be present above the North Carolina’s “soil remediation goals.” Additional tests
to determine the nature and extent of the contamination are expected to take place in the first or second quarter of
fiscal 2008. The cost of required remediation, if any, will vary depending on the nature and extent of the
contamination. As of October 28, 2007, we have accrued $0.1 million to complete site analysis and testing. At
this time, we can not estimate a loss for any potential remediation costs, but we do not believe there will be a
material adverse effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

The New York State Department of Conservation (“DEC”) has notified H.H. Robertson Company of its
potential liability for a portion of the cleanup of the former Frontier Chemical waste handling facility in Niagara
Falls. The DEC has indicated that remediation of soils and upper bedrock groundwater will cost between
approximately $11 million and $14 million. Whether deeper bedrock ground water will need to be remediated
and the cost of any such remediation has not been determined. DEC records indicated that over a thousand
companies sent waste materials to the Frontier site from 1974 to 1992. At this time, it can not be determined
whether H.H. Robertson sent waste materials to this Frontier site, whether NCI can be construed as a successor to
H.H. Robertson, or whether potential liabilities with this site exceed applicable materiality thresholds.
Furthermore, any share of alleged potential liability allocable to H.H. Robertson cannot be determined at this
time, but we do not believe there will be a material adverse effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

From time to time, we are involved in various other legal proceedings and contingencies, including
environmental matters, considered to be in the ordinary course of business. While we are not able to predict
whether we will incur any liability in excess of insurance coverages or to accurately estimate the damages, or the
range of damages, if any, we might incur in connection with these legal proceedings, we believe these legal
proceedings and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial position or
results of operations.

20. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We have aggregated our operations into three reportable segments based upon similarities in product lines,
manufacturing processes, marketing and management of our businesses: metal coil coating, metal components
and engineered building systems. Products of all three segments use similar basic raw materials. The metal coil
coating segment consists of cleaning, treating, painting and slitting continuous steel coils before the steel is
fabricated. The metal components segment products include metal roof and wall panels, doors, metal partitions,
metal trim and other related accessories. The engineered building systems segment includes the manufacturing of
main frames, Long Bay® Systems and value-added engineering and drafting, which are typically not part of
metal components or metal coil coating products or services. The reporting segments follow the same accounting
policies used for our Consolidated Financial Statements. We evaluate a segment’s performance based primarily
upon operating income before corporate expenses. Intersegment sales are recorded based on standard material
costs plus a standard markup to cover labor and overhead and consist of (i) hot rolled, light gauge painted and slit
material and other services provided by the metal coil coating segment to both the engineered building systems
and metal components segments, (ii) building components provided by the metal components segment to the
engineered building systems segment, and (iii) structural framing provided by the engineered building systems
segment to the metal components segment. We are not dependent on any one customer or group of customers.
Substantially all of our sales are made within the United States. For the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007, steel
represented approximately 73% of cost of goods sold. We are not dependent on any one source for our supply of
steel, but approximately 26% of our steel purchases came from our largest supplier.

Corporate assets consist primarily of cash but also include deferred financing costs and property, plant and

equipment associated with our headquarters in Houston, Texas. These items (and income and expenses related to
these items) are not allocated to the segments.
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Summary financial data by segment is as follows (in thousands):

Total sales:

Metal coil coating . ........ ... ... ..,
Metal components . ............c.oouviniininennenen...
Engineered building systems .. ........... .. .. .. .. .. ..
Intersegment sales ...............oiiiiiiiii..

Totalnetsales ............ .. ... . ..

External sales:

Metal coil coating . ...........coiuiiiiiin .,
Metal components . ...........cuouiuitinininnnnenen..
Engineered building systems .. .......... .. ... ...

Totalnetsales .......... ... ...

Operating income:

Metal coil coating . .......... ... ...
Metal components . .............c.ouiiiiiiiaiaan...
Engineered building systems . . ........... .. ... ... ...,
COTPOTaLe . . o vttt et e e e

Total operating income . .................cou....
Unallocated other expense . ..............c.cvuvuvn...

Income before income taxes ......................

Depreciation and amortization:

Metal coil coating . ...........coiiiiiiii.
Metal components . ...........cuouiuitinininnnnenen..
Engineered building systems . . ........... ... ... .. .. ..
COTPOTALE . o o v vttt et e e e e

Total depreciation and amortization expense . ........

Capital expenditures:

Metal coil coating . .......... ... ...
Metal components . .............c.ouiiiiiiiaiaan...
Engineered building systems . . ........... ... ... ......
COTPOTaLe . . o vttt et e e e

Total capital expenditures ........................

Property, plant and equipment, net:

Metal coil coating . ........ .. .. .. .. i
Metal cCOMPONENtS ... .ovvt vt
Engineered building systems .. ........... .. .. .. .. .. ..
COTPOTALE .« o o v vttt ettt et et

Total property, plant and equipment, net ............

Total assets as of fiscal year end 2007 and 2006:

Metal coil coating . .......... .o
Metal components ... .........ououiiirenininnnnenen..
Engineered building systems . . ........... ... ... .. ...,
COTPOTALE . o o v vttt et e e e
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2007 2006 2005
$ 272,543 $ 278814 $ 232,648
715,033 771200 653,717
969,047 822,963 474,368
(332,350)  (302,495)  (230,667)
$1,624,273  $1,570,482  $1,130,066
$ 83583 $ 117,873 $ 110,758
613324 670836 567,005
927366 781,773 452,303
$1,624,273  $1,570,482  $1,130,066
$ 25135 $ 24948 $ 20,157

60,265 91,998 76,410
101,798 71,962 47,678
(56,259)  (51,621)  (39,775)
$ 130,939 $ 137,287 $ 104,470

26,114 18,255 8,259
$ 104,825 $ 119,032 $ 96211
$ 6510 $ 5543 $ 5,199

10,401 9,694 9,967

15,249 11,342 6,097

3,375 4,510 3,225
$ 35535 $ 31,080 $ 24488
$ 4150 $ 7675 $ 3917

17,430 9,051 3,847

16,102 8,884 4,842

4,359 1,446 6,918
$ 42,041 $ 27056 $ 19,524
$ 43,283 $ 45835

86,945 79,487

115136 112,093

16,283 15,165
$ 261,647 $ 252,580
$ 180,930 $ 193,050

363,888 374,233

695,880 679,671

102,360 52,747
$1,343,058  $1,299,701




21. QUARTERLY RESULTS (Unaudited)

Shown below are selected unaudited quarterly data (in thousands, except per share data):

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
FISCAL YEAR 2007
Sales . ... $359,303 $367,727 $433,844 $463,399
Grossprofit .......... .. .. .. .. . .. .. $ 87,684 $ 85,390 $109,791 $119,945
Netincome . ............ ... $ 10453 $ 6,511 $ 21,327 $ 25,438
Earnings per share: W . ... ... .. .. ... .. .. .. .. ... .. ...,
Basic ......... ... $ 053 $ 033 $ 1.09 $ 1.31
Diluted ......... ... .. .. ... . . .. $ 049 $ 031 $ 1.02 $ 1.27
FISCAL YEAR 2006
SaleS . $293,252  $329,362 $449,393 $498,475
Gross profit . .....oi i $ 72,409 $ 75,550 $113,662 $121,710
NEetiNCOME ...ttt ettt e et e et e $ 12,893 $ 11,179 $ 21,675 $ 28,049
Earnings per share: ()
Basic ... $ 064 $ 055 § 1.08 $ 1.43
Diluted . ... ... $ 062 $ 051 §$ 1.00 $ 1.33

(M The sum of the quarterly income per share amounts may not equal the annual amount reported, as per share
amounts are computed independently for each quarter and for the full year based on the respective weighted
average common shares outstanding.

The quarter results are impacted by the following significant items:

During fiscal 2006, we recorded charges related to a contingent obligation to repair 57 building projects
which had below specification steel materials. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 we reached a settlement
agreement with the related steel supplier and recorded a gain offsetting the repair charges. See Note 19. The net
effect on operating income in each of the first, second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2006 was as $(0.2)
million, $(0.6) million, $(0.3) million and $1.1 million, respectively.

During fiscal 2006, we recorded charges related to certain environmental remediation obligations. In the
fourth quarter of 2006, we reached a settlement agreement with the prior property owners and other responsible
parties which partially offset the remediation costs. See Note 19. The net effect on operating income in each of
the second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2006 was as $(0.3) million, $(1.4) million, and $1.7 million,
respectively.

Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of October 28,
2007. Based on such evaluation, they have concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in our Exchange Act reports is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in applicable SEC rules and forms.
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Internal Control over Financial Reporting
(a) Management’s Conclusion on the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of October 28, 2007. The term
“disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act,
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to
be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers,
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding the required disclosure. Management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of
achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit
relationship of possible controls and procedures.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of October 28, 2007.
This evaluation was performed using the internal control evaluation framework developed by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on such evaluation, management has concluded
that, as of such date, our internal control over financial reporting was effective. Pursuant to Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we included a report of management’s assessment of the design and effectiveness
of our internal controls as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007.
Ernst and Young, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has also audited the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of October 28, 2007. Management’s and Ernst & Young’s reports are included
in our 2007 Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 38 and 39 of our Form 10-K under the captions entitled
“Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” and “Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” and are incorporated herein by reference.

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which we previously filed with the SEC in
connection with our Annual Report to Shareholders for fiscal year 2003. A copy of our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics is available on our website at www.ncilp.com under the heading “Corporate Governance.”
Any amendments to, or waivers from the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that apply to our executive
officers and directors will be posted on the “Corporate Governance” section of our Internet web site located at
www.ncilp.com.

The information under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Management,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting and Compliance,” “Board of Directors” and “Corporate Governance” in our definitive
proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders to be held on March 6, 2008 is incorporated by reference
herein.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information under the captions “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Report of the Compensation
Committee” and “Executive Compensation” in our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of
shareholders to be held on March 6, 2008 is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The information under the captions “Outstanding Capital Stock™ and “Securities Reserved for Issuance
Under Equity Compensation Plans” in our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders to
be held on March 6, 2008 is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information under the captions “Board of Directors” and “Transactions with Directors, Officers and
Affiliates” in our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders to be held on March 6, 2008
is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information under the caption “Audit Committee and Auditors—Our Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm and Audit Fees” in our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders to be
held on March 6, 2008 is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements (see Item 8).
2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules. Schedule I[I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they are inapplicable or the requested information is
shown in the financial statements or noted therein.

3.  Exhibits

Those exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Index to
Exhibits immediately preceding the exhibits filed herewith and such listing is incorporated herein
by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the 21st
day of December, 2007.

NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

By: /s/ NORMAN C. CHAMBERS
Norman C. Chambers, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated as of the 21st day of December, 2007.

Name Title
/s/  NORMAN C. CHAMBERS President, Chief Executive Officer
Norman C. Chambers and Director (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/  FRANCES POWELL HAWES Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Frances Powell Hawes and Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/  MARK E. JOHNSON Executive Vice President, Controller and Chief
Mark E. Johnson Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting
Officer)
/s/ A.R. GINN Chairman of the Board and Director
A.R. Ginn
* Director

William D. Breedlove

* Director
Gary L. Forbes

* Director
Philip J. Hawk

* Director
Max L. Lukens

* Director

George Martinez

* Director
W.B. Pieper
* Director

John K. Sterling

*By: /s/  NORMAN C. CHAMBERS

Norman C. Chambers, Attorney-in-Fact
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NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

SCHEDULE II

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(in thousands)

Description

Year ended October 29, 2005:

Reserves and allowances deducted from asset
accounts:

Allowance for uncollectible accounts and
backcharges .......... ... .. ... ...

Reserve for obsolete materials and supplies . .

Year ended October 29, 2006:

Reserves and allowances deducted from asset
accounts:

Allowance for uncollectible accounts and
backcharges .......... ... .. ... ...

Reserve for obsolete materials and supplies . .

Year ended October 28, 2007:

(1)
(2)

Reserves and allowances deducted from asset
accounts:

Allowance for uncollectible accounts and
backcharges .......... ... .. ... ...

Reserve for obsolete materials and supplies . .

Amounts resulting from acquisition.
Uncollectible accounts, net of recoveries.

Additions

Balance at Charged to Charged to

Beginning costs and other Balance at
of Period expenses accounts Deductions End of Period
$ 8,622 $ 273 — $2,171@  § 6,724

$ 2,859 $ 602 — $ 645 $ 2,816
$ 6,724 $2,004 $8,8750  $2.377@  $15,225
$ 2,816 — $1,6640 § 743 $ 3,737
$15,225 $ 330 — $6,580@ § 8,975

$ 3,737 $1,710 — $1,014 $ 4,433
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3.1

32

33

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

110.1

Index to Exhibits

Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended through September 30, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to
NCTI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 2, 2002 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation, effective as of March 12, 2007
(filed as Exhibit 3.2 to NCI's Quarter Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 29, 2007 and
incorporated by reference herein)

By-Laws, as amended through December 7, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to NCI’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated December 7, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein)

Form of certificate representing shares of NCI's common stock (filed as Exhibit 1 to NCI's
registration statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on July 20, 1998 and incorporated by reference
herein)

Credit Agreement, dated June 18, 2004, by and among NCI, certain of its subsidiaries, as guarantors,
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, Bank of America, N.A., as syndication
agent, and the several lenders named therein (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to NCI's Form 10-Q/A, filed with the
SEC on September 16, 2004, amending its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July
31, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein)

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2004, between NCI Building
Systems, Inc, as borrower, certain of its subsidiaries, as guarantors, Wachovia National Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent and lender, and the several lenders named therein (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to NCI’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 16, 2004 and incorporated by reference
herein)

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 14, 2005, between NCI Building
Systems, Inc, as borrower, certain of its subsidiaries, as guarantors, Wachovia National Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent and lender, and the several lenders named therein (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to NCI’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 14, 2005 and incorporated by reference
herein)

Third Amendment, dated April 7, 2006, to Credit Agreement, dated June 18, 2004, by and among NCI
Building Systems, Inc. as borrower, certain of its subsidiaries, as guarantors, Wachovia Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent and lender, and the several lenders parties thereto (filed as Exhibit
10.2 to NCI’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 7, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Rights Agreement, dated June 24, 1998, between NCI and Harris Trust and Savings Bank (filed as
Exhibit 2 to NCI's registration statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on July 20, 1998 and
incorporated by reference herein)

First Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated June 24, 1999, between NCI and Harris Trust and
Savings Bank (filed as Exhibit 3 to NCI’s registration statement on Form 8-A, Amendment No. 1 filed
with the SEC on June 25, 1999 and incorporated by reference herein)

Indenture, dated November 16, 2004, by and among NCI, and The Bank of New York (filed as Exhibit
4.1 to NCI’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 16, 2004 and incorporated by reference
herein)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 16, 2004, among NCI Building Systems, Inc., UBS
Securities LLC and Wachovia Capital Markets LLC. (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to NCI's Current Report on
Form 8-K dated November 16, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein)

Employment Agreement, dated April 12, 2004, among the Company, NCI Group, L.P. and Norman C.
Chambers (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 1,
2004 and incorporated by reference herein)
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*110.2
110.3

110.4

110.5

110.6

110.7

110.8

1710.9

110.10

110.11

110.12

110.13

$10.14

110.15

110.16

110.17

110.18

Amended and Restated Bonus Program, as amended and restated as of December 7, 2007

Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated on December 14, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to NCI’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2000 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to NCI’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2000 and incorporated by reference herein)

2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated December 7, 2006 (filed as Exhibit
10.1 to NCI's Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 7, 2006 and incorporated by reference
herein)

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to NCI’s registration statement
no. 333-111139 and incorporated by reference herein)

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to NCI’s registration statement no.
333-111139 and incorporated by reference herein)

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Senior Executive Officers (Electronic) (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to NCI's Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 7, 2006 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Key Employees (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to NCI’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 7, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI's Current Report on Form 8-
K dated December 7, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to
NCT’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 23, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Amended and Restated Supplemental Benefit Plan (as amended and restated on December 12, 2002
(filed as Exhibit 10.8 to NCI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 2,
2002 and incorporated by reference herein)

Supplemental Benefit Agreement, dated December 13, 2002, between NCI and A.R. Ginn, Jr. (filed
as Exhibit 10.9 to NCI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 2, 2002
and incorporated by reference herein)

Agreement dated October 24, 2006, between NCI and Albert R. Ginn, Jr. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
NCT’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 23, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Supplemental Benefit Agreement, dated August 26, 2004, between NCI and Ken Maddox (filed as
Exhibit 10.14 to NCI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 and
incorporated by reference herein)

Special Long-Term Restricted Stock Award Agreement, dated August 28, 2003 between NCI and
Kelly R. Ginn (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to NCI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended November 1, 2003 and incorporated by reference herein)

First Amendment, dated May 27, 2004, to Special Long-Term Restricted Stock Award Agreement,
dated August 28, 2003, between NCI and Kelly R. Ginn (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005 and incorporated by reference herein)

Second Amendment, dated October 24, 2005, to Special Long-Term Restricted Stock Award
Agreement, dated August 28, 2003, between NCI and Kelly R. Ginn (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to NCI's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 and incorporated by
reference herein)
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110.19

110.20

110.21

110.22

110.23

$10.24

110.25
110.26

110.27

110.28

14.1

*21.1
*23.1
*24.1
*31.1
*31.2
*32.1

*32.2

Special Long-Term Restricted Stock Award Agreement, dated May 28, 2004, between NCI and
A.R. Ginn (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to NCI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 30, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein)

First Amendment, dated October 24, 2005, to Special Long-Term Restricted Stock Award
Agreement, dated May 28, 2004, between NCI and A.R. Ginn (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to NCI’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Restricted Stock Agreement, dated April 26, 2004, between NCI and Norman C. Chambers (filed as
exhibit 10.2 to NCI's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 1, 2004 and
incorporated by reference herein)

First Amendment, dated October 24, 2005, to Restricted Stock Agreement, dated April 26, 2004,
between NCI and Norman C. Chambers (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to NCI’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 and incorporated by reference herein)

Amended and Restated NCI Building Systems, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (as amended and
restated effective January 1, 2007) (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to NCI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 29, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Separation and Consulting Agreement, dated November 6, 2006, between NCI and William M.
Young (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI's Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 6, 2006 and
incorporated by reference herein)

Form of Employment Agreement between NCI and executive officers

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated February 21, 2006, between NCI and Robertson-Ceco
Corporation (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 21, 2006
and incorporated by reference herein)

Amendment No. 1, dated April 7, 2006, to Stock Purchase Agreement, dated February 21, 2006,
between NCI and Robertson-Ceco Corporation (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI's Current Report on
Form 8-K dated April 7, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Officers and Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.27 to NCI'’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2006 and incorporated by
reference herein)

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to NCI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended November 1, 2003 and incorporated by reference herein)

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Powers of Attorney

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

Certifications pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

Certifications pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

*  Filed herewith

Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements
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Hernandez « Raymond Hernandez « Veronica C Hernandez « Shannon L Herndon « Matthew G Herndon Jr « Mary E Herren * Eduardo F Herrera » Jose A Herrera » Luis G Herrera * Oscar William Herrera » Sergio G Herrera « Thomas Herrera
« Tyler R Herring » Donald Herrington « Alta J Herron « Charles A Herschlag * Rosemary Hesskew * Monty J Heston * See Y Heu « David J Heusmann « Daniel W Hiatt « Dennis K Hiatt « Ed Hiatt + Roy L Hickenbottom « Terry B Hickman «
Bruce L Hicks « Caroline M Hicks « Chad Austin Hicks » Charles D Hicks * Lora S Hicks * Terrell Hicks » Michael J Hicks-Takes « Billy W Higdon « Kelli B Higgs * Jeffrey A Hildebrand « Charles L Hilderbrand + Alice L Hill « Kenneth Hill » Patrick
G Hill » Roy D Hill + Wade Hill « John T Hill Ill « Jeff S Hillhouse * Jon V Hills » David J Hillstrom « Jason D Hilton « Glenn K Hindman * Bobby C Hines * Scott C Hines * Steven P Hines * Charles E Hinkel « Jose M Hinojosa ¢ Carlos A Hinojoza
* Robert B Hinson « Larry D Hinton ¢ Terrance S Hinton « Donna M Hise * Emily B Hitchens « Jason E Hitt « Jason D Hoaglin * Cuong N Hoang * Vu Hoang Le ¢ Jeff W Hobbs * Sara R Hobbs « John E Hockenberry « Ronald P Hockett « Jimmie
Hodge * Norman D Hodge ¢ Terry D Hodge * Mark Hodges + Wendell L Hodges * Robert S Hoekstra « Hugh H Hoelzen + Joan M Hoesl « Carl W Hoffart « William B Hoffman « Michael R Hogan + Patrick R Hoglan + Adam K Hol * James D
Holden + Paul H Holden « Brandy W Holder « Duane E Holder » Bruce W Holladay * Cheryl A Holland + David R Holland » Robert S Holland * Roy G Holley + Eddie B Holliday * June A Hollis + Willie C Holloman « Orie L Holly * Brett O Holm «
Edward A Holm + Johnathan T Holman ¢ Ellard P Holmbeck + Samuel G Holmes Jr « Abraham H Holt + Tonya R Holte « Kim S Holtgrewe * Ricky L Holtsclaw + David M Honeycutt « J E Honeycutt « Jerry W Honeycutt « Billy D Hood * Gordon L
Hood « Lenard Hooker « Jeff S Hooper * John C Hooper * Harry R Hoover Jr « James D Hope Jr » Donald J Hopkins * James E Hopkins « Charles M Hopper * Loren G Horender « Jeff G Horn « Jeffery S Horne Jr « Eric D Horton * Lacey J
Horton « Lloyd A Horton « Rayburn L Horton « Phillip Hosch « Kevin L Hoskins » Danny House * Ryan C Houser * Daniel R Houston « John O Houston « Ladonna M Houston * Ashley N Howard + Donald Howard * Donald Howard * James W
Howard « Joshua K Howard « Josie V Howard » Linda G Howard * Willie J Howard * Bruce J Howe * Michael R Howell « Samuel A Howell » Teddy D Howell Jr « Porfirio Huanca * Wen C Huang « Jhony Juan Huaringa * David A Hubbard «
Jewell Hubbard « Larry W Hubbard « William P Hubbard « Steve Hubler » Steven T Hudgins + Adrian L Hudson  Eric L Hudson * Kyle R Hudson * Mary J Hudson * Donald P Hudson Jr « Steven E Huebner » Adan S Huerta « Dario V Huerta
« Juan M Huerta « David A Huff « Brian D Huffaker « Kenneth K Huffaker « Jeremy S Huffmeister » Charles L Huggins Sr » Colandon D Hughes « Jeffery G Hughes * Roc E Hughes « Sammy D Hughes « Scott W Hughes * Stephanie D Hughes
« Eric C Hugo * Bradford L Hugunin » Chad E Hulsey * Kenneth J Hulsey » John D Humbird * Timothy D Hummel *« Noah T Hummell » Desi L Hunt « Marie L Hunt « Floyd Hunter « Johnny R Hunter « Kareen Hunter » Lenwood Hunter « Leshawn
D Hunter « Kelly S Huntsman » Joe D Hurst » Shawn L Hurst « Brandon L Hurt « Timothy Hurt « Allen D Hurtz « John A Husbands Jr » Tim W Huston « Tony M Huston « Charlene K Hutchinson « Anthony J Hutchison « Dorlesa R Hutto « Larry
Hutton « Aaron J Huyck « Aron N Hyler » Lovely A Imarhia « Oscar E Inclan + Jose L Infante » Steven R Inge » Kao Inthavongsa * Soukkaseum Inthavongsa * Maurice A Irby « Troy J Irby « Chad E Irwin « Eric C Irwin » James D Isaacs * Edward
W Isenberg « Juan J Islas « Darin L Isom * Glen L Ivey » Robert L Ivey « Jim T lvins « Barry L Ivy * Angelica R Izaguirre  Abijah L Iznaga * Richard A Jablonski * Darnell L Jackson « Dexter D Jackson * Gary D Jackson * Henry L Jackson + John
R Jackson « Kelvin L Jackson * Michael A Jackson * Michael E Jackson « Patricia A Jackson « Scott A Jackson « Timothy Jackson « William M Jackson « Stanley C Jackson Il » John A Jacobsen * Raymond E Jacobson ¢ John T Jaeger » Wagas
K Jaffar » Candido Jaimes + Cayetano B Jaimes *» Oscar Jaimes * Raunel Jaimes ¢ Brian N Jaks * Michelle H Jamerson * Michelle H Jamerson « Anthony B James * Judy J James « Justin C James * Rodney L James * Sandra N James *
Stephen M James « Steve W James » Mehrdad J Janfada « Kelly Jason - Linton Jason * Mohamed Jatip * Nathan D Jay « Kenneth E Jaynes * Jimmy W Jeffers « Larry M Jeffers « Ladonna F Jefferson « Kenneth R Jeffery « George W Jeffries
« Joseph S Jeffries « Gary D Jenkins « James L Jenkins * Roy E Jenkins « Sean W Jenkins * Brian L Jennings * Gale H Jennings * Terreli Jennings * Richard Jensen * Michael E Jesenovec ¢ Procter Jesse ¢ Linda S Jett « Hongping Jiang *
Juan P Jimenez ¢ Nicolas Jimenez « Saul Jimenez * Pedro Jimenez Jr « Stan C Jimerson * Grace Y Jin * Alejandro Joaquin- « Samuel John « Clara P Johns * James R Johns * Alisha S Johnson * Angela M Johnson « Austin P Johnson *
Bernie P Johnson « Brad A Johnson + Brian L Johnson « Carolyn J Johnson * Casey B Johnson + Christine S Johnson « Dale W Johnson + Damon E Johnson « Diron J Johnson ¢ Elijah Johnson  Elvin L Johnson « Eric Johnson * Frederick
J Johnson « Fredrick J Johnson « Gary K Johnson « Heather C Johnson « Ingo K Johnson « James A Johnson « Jayson V Johnson * Jerry W Johnson « John G Johnson ¢ John G Johnson « John M Johnson * Johnny J Johnson ¢ Johnny
Johnson ¢ Joseph D Johnson « Joseph D Johnson » Kenneth A Johnson « Kent Johnson « Kimberly K Johnson « Lathell R Johnson « Luther Johnson « Marcus A Johnson « Mark E Johnson « Pamela Johnson ¢« Paulette Johnson « Phillip J
Johnson + Rickie E Johnson « Robert L Johnson * Robert S Johnson * Rufus L Johnson * Terry R Johnson * Travis G Johnson * Wayne Johnson ¢ Zane D Johnson * Robert Johnson Jr « Thomas M Johnson Jr * Jane Johnston ¢ Jeannine C
Joiner « Archie B Jolley » Doug Jolly » Barbara H Jones « C Owen Jones ¢ Carl E Jones * Dane D Jones * Danny E Jones + David B Jones * David S Jones * Donald K Jones « EImer A Jones * Fabia A Jones * Jeffrey E Jones * Jeffrey R Jones
+ Kelvin A Jones * Mark A Jones « Mark A Jones + Michael J Jones + Quinton C Jones * Robert A Jones « Ronald H Jones + Tarra L Jones « Terrell Jones « Trentin D Jones * Various A Jones « William D Jones « Jarvis_Jordan « Jefferey H
Jordan « Lonnie C Jordan * Martha F Jordan « Michael W Jordan « Thomas W Jordan « William A Jordan + Andrew R Jowers « Charles L Joyner « Jason P Joyner * Joshua B Joyner « Billy G Judd « Jerry W Judd * Dale C Juntunen * Dann E
Juntunen « Garrett W Jurgaijtis « Jamie S Jurgensmier * Scott A Kaiser « David W Kalina + Dennis R Kamine * Barney Kaminsky * Leslie J Kane « Janice Karolchyk » Masayuki Kasai * Trenton J Kasper * Keyton R Kastner « Sharon K Katuin
« Brandon J Kaufman + Michael P Kauthen « Arthur J Keating * John P Keating * Ann M Keefe * Steve G Kehrli » June Keith «+ Rome J Keith + Jerome B Kelleher » Theresa Kellen « Steve Keller « Jennifer L Kellett « Robert O Kelley * Tracy L
Kelley « Jay T Kellis « Susan K Kelly « William C Kelly « John W Kelso * Frank P Kempa « David H Kendrick « Ray C Kendrick * Aubree K Kennedy * Donovan S Kennedy « Dwayne N Kennedy * Janice A Kennedy * Vyphot V Keomanivong *
Khamkoth "Keopadubsy « Khamsone Keophimane « Tony Keophimane « Gregg D Kerby * Edward R Kern « Joseph W Kerr » David M Kerr Sr » Robert G Kesler « Larry K Kestler «+ Adam L Ketron « Heather R Key + Jennifer L Key * Jackson J
Kham « Phoui Kham « Nazir A Khan « Rashad Khan « Sajjad Khan + Shahid M Khan « Anuradha Khanna * Bouakeo Khounsavanh * Negassi Kidane « James V Kidwell » Bobby G Kilpatrick * Hellen J Kim » Cedric T Kimber * Corey L Kimble-
Williams « Joshua L Kimbrell « Eric Kinard « Allen King « Gerald M King * Harold R King * James W King * John C King * Michelle R King * Randy J King * Richard W King * Susan E King * Terry L King * Thomas W King * Tresa L King * Truman
M King + Bradley L Kinsey * Kenneth W Kipp * Joshua L Kirk * Andrea D Kirkpatrick « James E Kiser * Lev A Kitaynik « Jerry W Kitts « Robin N Klaser » Michael G Klatt » Derik J Klaus * David N Klein « Jurgen Klein « Kevin Kleinhans * Richard
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CERTIFICATIONS
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ended October 28, 2007. After the fiscal 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, the Company intends to file
with the New York Stock Exchange the CEQ certification
regarding its compliance with the NYSE's corporate
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